

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS AND INFRASTRUCTURE

NO. 3582

23 June 2023

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS & INFRASTRUCTURE

AGRÉMENT SOUTH AFRICA
(Approval of innovative construction products and systems)

Notice is hereby given that Agrément South Africa has **suspended** an Agrément certificate, details of which appear in the schedule hereto.

SCHEDULE

Subject: Goldflex 800 Seismic Building System

Certificate holder: Group Five Construction (Pty) Ltd

Agrément certificate 2005/316, has been suspended.

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS AND INFRASTRUCTURE**NO. 3583****23 June 2023****DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS & INFRASTRUCTURE**

AGRÉMENT SOUTH AFRICA
(Approval of innovative construction products and systems)

Notice is hereby given that Agrément South Africa has **suspended** an Agrément certificate, details of which appear in the schedule hereto.

SCHEDULE

Subject: Goldflex 800 Building System

Certificate holder: Group Five Construction (Pty) Ltd

Agrément certificate 1989/195 (Reassessment 2000), has been suspended.

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS AND INFRASTRUCTURE**NO. 3584****23 June 2023**

AGRÉMENT SOUTH AFRICA
(Approval of innovative construction products and systems)

Notice is hereby given that Agrément South Africa has **suspended** an Agrément certificate, details of which appear in the schedule hereto.

SCHEDULE

Subject: Roller Compacted Concrete (RCC) Ready Mix

Certificate holder: Cosal Consultants cc

Agrément certificate 2017/552, has been suspended.

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS AND INFRASTRUCTURE**NO. 3585****23 June 2023**

AGRÉMENT SOUTH AFRICA
(Approval of innovative construction products and systems)

Notice is hereby given that Agrément South Africa has **suspended** an Agrément certificate, details of which appear in the schedule hereto.

SCHEDULE

Subject: Essa Plastics Damp-Proof Membrane

Certificate holder: Essa Plastics

Agrément certificate 2021/622, has been suspended.

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS AND INFRASTRUCTURE**NO. 3586****23 June 2023**

AGRÉMENT SOUTH AFRICA
(Approval of innovative construction products and systems)

Notice is hereby given that Agrément South Africa has **suspended** an Agrément certificate, details of which appear in the schedule hereto.

SCHEDULE

Subject: Goldflex 100 Building System
Certificate holder: Group Five Construction (Pty) Ltd

Agrément certificate 1990/201 (Reassessment 2000), has been suspended.

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS AND INFRASTRUCTURE**NO. 3587****23 June 2023**

AGRÉMENT SOUTH AFRICA
(Approval of innovative construction products and systems)

Notice is hereby given that Agrément South Africa has **suspended** an Agrément certificate, details of which appear in the schedule hereto.

SCHEDULE

Subject: Essa Plastics Damp-Proof Course
Certificate holder: Essa Plastics

Agrément certificate 2021/627 has been suspended.

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS AND INFRASTRUCTURE**NO. 3588****23 June 2023**

AGRÉMENT SOUTH AFRICA
(Approval of innovative construction products and systems)

Notice is hereby given that Agrément South Africa has **suspended** an Agrément certificate, details of which appear in the schedule hereto.

SCHEDULE

Subject: Boen EcoSolutions Building System
Certificate holder: EcoSolutions (Pty) Ltd

Agrément certificate 2015/483, a notice of the granting of which was given under Gazette 39825 Notice 300 dated 18 March 2016, has been suspended.

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS AND INFRASTRUCTURE**NO. 3589****23 June 2023****AGRÉMENT SOUTH AFRICA**
(Approval of innovative construction products and systems)

Notice is hereby given that Agrément South Africa has **withdrawn** an Agrément certificate, details of which appear in the schedule hereto.

SCHEDULE

Certificate holder: Freyssinet Posten (Pty) Ltd
Subject: FPC-SA80 Single Element Bridge Deck Expansion Joint

Agrément certificate 2012/427, a notice of the granting of which was given under Gazette 37768 Notice 468 of 2014, dated 25 June 2014, has been withdrawn.

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS AND INFRASTRUCTURE**NO. 3590****23 June 2023****AGRÉMENT SOUTH AFRICA**
(Approval of innovative construction products and systems)

Notice is hereby given that Agrément South Africa has **withdrawn** an Agrément certificate, details of which appear in the schedule hereto.

SCHEDULE

Certificate holder: Integrated Environmental Solutions (IES) Ltd
Subject: IES Virtual Environmental Software

Agrément certificate 2013/444, a notice of the granting of which was given under Gazette 37768 Notice 487 of 2014, dated 25 June 2014, has been withdrawn.

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS AND INFRASTRUCTURE**NO. 3591****23 June 2023****AGRÉMENT SOUTH AFRICA**
(Approval of innovative construction products and systems)

Notice is hereby given that Agrément South Africa has **withdrawn** an Agrément certificate, details of which appear in the schedule hereto.

SCHEDULE

Certificate holder: Nano Water Technologies Africa (Pty) Ltd
Subject: SMARTSAN Recycle Digester Sanitation System

Agrément certificate 2014/466, a notice of the granting of which was given under Gazette 38504 Notice 156 of 2015, dated 26 February 2015, has been withdrawn.

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS AND INFRASTRUCTURE**NO. 3592****23 June 2023****AGRÉMENT SOUTH AFRICA**
(Approval of innovative construction products and systems)

Notice is hereby given that Agrément South Africa has **withdrawn** an Agrément certificate, details of which appear in the schedule hereto.

SCHEDULE

Certificate holder: Circle Capital Development (Pty) Ltd
Subject: Frame-Tech Building System

Agrément certificate 2009/356, a notice of the granting of which was given under Gazette 32212 Notice 440 of 2009, dated 15 May 2009, has been withdrawn.

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS AND INFRASTRUCTURE**NO. 3593****23 June 2023****AGRÉMENT SOUTH AFRICA**
(Approval of innovative construction products and systems)

Notice is hereby given that Agrément South Africa has **withdrawn** an Agrément certificate, details of which appear in the schedule hereto.

SCHEDULE

Certificate holder: ISOPAN (Pty) Ltd
Subject: Intastor Insulated Building System

Agrément certificate 2018/573, a notice of the granting of which was given under Gazette 42240 Notice 202 of 2019, dated 22 February 2019, has been withdrawn.

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS AND INFRASTRUCTURE

NO. 3594

23 June 2023

AGRÉMENT SOUTH AFRICA
(Approval of innovative construction products and systems)

Notice is hereby given that Agrément South Africa has, with effect from 28 January 2021, issued an Agrément certificate, details of which appear in the schedule hereto.

SCHEDULE

Agrément certificate 2015/475 (Amended December 2020): Ventilated Improved Pit and Urine Diversion Toilet System

Subject: Ventilated Improved Pit and Urine Diversion Toilet System

Certificate holder: Envirosan Sanitation Solutions (Pty) Ltd

Description: Ventilated Improved Pit and Urine Diversion Toilet System comprise sanitation components for installation on site for the typical superstructure constructed over a vented pit. The sanitation components should be installed in a top structure/closet with a floor, walls and roof of material adequate for its purpose and the closet should be provided with a door to ensure privacy of occupants in accordance with the National Building Regulations, **SANS 10400-Part Q**.

The sanitation components are described below as follows:

Component 1: VIP 200 and 480 pedestals

The pedestals are designed to fit securely into a flange cast into the floor slab or bolted onto the floor of the latrine giving it stability and robustness. The pedestals are moulded from the virgin polypropylene material. The VIP 200 can be converted to a water-borne pedestal when required and the VIP 480 detachable urine separator may be converted to a urine diversion configuration. The VIP 200 includes the rim-flow grid into the seat for upgrading to a water flush system when required. It also includes a removable pedestal with incorporated infant seat lid.

Component 2: 10 litre water reservoir

This component is designed to be attached to the outside of the toilet structure for hand-washing after use. It is moulded from a clear plastic for easy monitoring of water level from the outside. The reservoir has a sliding moulded plastic lid to facilitate the filling of water. It is fitted with a spring-loaded push valve (tip-tap) to release water for hand-washing. The plastic valve has a stainless steel spring and rubber grommet for immediate closure after use. The valve is screwed onto the outlet of the reservoir with a screw thread that fits a standard 2 litre cool-drink bottle. A rainwater harvesting option could be considered to ensure the availability of water for hand washing.

Component 3: hand-washing basin

The basin is designed to be attached to the outside of the toilet structure below the reservoir. It consists of soap holder, a drying cloth hook and stainless steel grid. The outlet has an option to fit a 40 mm waste pipe connection or a 15 mm flexible hose. The basin is attached to the latrine wall with two M6 bolts. In applications where there is little or no incentive for people to exercise care when using the hand-washing basins, for example, in public and institutional installations additional supports are required.

Component 4: high density polymer door

High Density Polymer Envirodoor is a pivot hinge plastic door designed for sanitation top structures installed on site to provide privacy, protection from the elements and security for users. The door fits into lugs that can be attached to the floor and roof or

cast into the floor and roof for improved resilience. The door does not require a door frame.

The door latch is manufactured from nylon and will automatically engage when the door is closed allowing slam shutting, the latch locks from both the inside and outside, however, with the inside mechanism overrides the outside mechanism.

The door is cross braced for added strength and is manufactured of material that is of sturdy construction. The doors can be retro-fitted easily into the existing top structures where the existing wooden or steel doors have failed and need to be replaced.

The Agrément certificate contains detailed information on the product and can be accessed at <http://www.agrement.co.za>.

Copies are obtainable from: Chief Executive Officer (CEO)
Agrément South Africa, P O Box 72381, LYNNWOOD RIDGE, 0040

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS AND INFRASTRUCTURE

NO. 3595

23 June 2023

AGRÉMENT SOUTH AFRICA
(Approval of innovative construction products and systems)

Notice is hereby given that Agrément South Africa has, with effect from 29 October 2021, issued an Agrément certificate, details of which appear in the schedule hereto.

SCHEDULE

Agrément certificate 2004/311 (Amended August 2021): Honel E80 Bridge Deck Expansion Joint

Subject: Honel E80 Bridge Deck Expansion Joint

Certificate holder: Honel Structural Products (Pty) Ltd

Description: The Honel E80 is a single gland and claw bridge deck expansion joint. The joint is manufactured in South Africa in accordance with the original designs by Glacier Bearings (Pty) Ltd. Where possible all materials are sourced locally.

The joint is assessed as being suitable for use in concrete bridge structures in all climatic regions of South Africa and in all types of corrosive environment.

The Honel E80 Bridge Deck Expansion Joint is suitable for use where:

- the movement range is not greater than 80 mm, and
- the skew angle of the joint is not greater than 45 degrees.

The Agrément certificate contains detailed information on the product and can be accessed at <http://www.agrement.co.za>.

Copies are obtainable from: Chief Executive Officer (CEO)
Agrément South Africa, P O Box 72381, LYNNWOOD RIDGE, 0040

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS AND INFRASTRUCTURE

NO. 3596

23 June 2023

AGRÉMENT SOUTH AFRICA
(Approval of innovative construction products and systems)

Notice is hereby given that Agrément South Africa has, with effect from 29 October 2021, issued an Agrément certificate, details of which appear in the schedule hereto.

SCHEDULE

Agrément certificate 2011/398 (Amended June 2021): Sandbag Building System

Subject: Sandbag Building System

Certificate holder: Avranex (Pty) Ltd Trading as Ubuhle Bakha Ubuhle (UBU)

Description: Sandbag Building System is a timber frame structure consisting of timber lattice beams (Eco-Beam) as vertical and horizontal studs and wall plates with sandbags as in fills. The walls are finished by securing steel wire mesh on both sides of the frame structure and plastering with conventional cement-sand plaster 25 mm thick.

The Eco-beams are fabricated from two 38 mm square treated timber sections (**SANS 10005**) connected by continuous galvanised steel strap which zigzag between the timber to form a lattice beam 220 mm deep.

The foundation and ground floor slabs are conventional concrete strip footing and surface bed with screed finish which are always the responsibility of a professional engineer.

The walls are nominally 270 mm thick and constructed by fixing vertical Eco-beams (columns/studs) spaced at 900 mm centres to top and bottom Eco-beams (wall and sole plates). Bags made from UV protected non-woven polypropylene fabric and measuring 300 mm x 300 mm are filled with sand and packed in between the studwork up to the wall plate. Each layer is compacted slightly.

At the corners or junctions, the walls are Eco-beams reinforced with 6 mm diameter steel wire mesh at least 300 mm in length on both sides of the corner or junction. At window and door openings timber frames are built between Eco-beams with wire ties to restrain adjacent studs from buckling. Lintels are formed with welded steel wire mesh fixed to studs on both sides of the opening.

Electrical and plumbing services are positioned in place within the bags before the application of plaster.

The roof is constructed of eco-beams, timber rafters or conventional timber trusses and light- or heavy weight cladding. Window and door frames are incorporated as in timber frame structures and are conventional.

The Agrément certificate contains detailed information on the product and can be accessed at <http://www.agrement.co.za>.

Copies are obtainable from: Chief Executive Officer (CEO)
Agrément South Africa, P O Box 72381, LYNNWOOD RIDGE, 0040

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS AND INFRASTRUCTURE

NO. 3597

23 June 2023

AGRÉMENT SOUTH AFRICA
(Approval of innovative construction products and systems)

Notice is hereby given that Agrément South Africa has, with effect from 28 January 2021, issued an Agrément certificate, details of which appear in the schedule hereto.

SCHEDULE

Agrément certificate 2015/476 (Amended December 2020): High Density Polymer Envirodoor

Subject: High Density Polymer Envirodoor

Certificate holder: EnviroSan Sanitation Solutions (Pty) Ltd

Description: High Density Polymer Envirodoor is a pivot hinge plastic door designed for sanitation top structures installed on site to provide privacy, protection from the elements and security for users. The door fits into lugs that can be attached to the floor and roof or cast into the floor and roof for improved resilience. The door does not require a door frame.

The door latch is manufactured from nylon and will automatically engage when the door is closed allowing slam shutting, the latch locks from both the inside and outside, however, with the inside mechanism overrides the outside mechanism.

The door is cross braced for added strength and is manufactured of material that is of sturdy construction. The doors can be retro-fitted easily into the existing top structures where the existing wooden or steel doors have failed and need to be replaced.

The Agrément certificate contains detailed information on the product and can be accessed at <http://www.agrement.co.za>.

Copies are obtainable from: Chief Executive Officer (CEO)
Agrément South Africa, P O Box 72381, LYNNWOOD RIDGE, 0040

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS AND INFRASTRUCTURE

NO. 3598

23 June 2023

AGRÉMENT SOUTH AFRICA
(Approval of innovative construction products and systems)

Notice is hereby given that Agrément South Africa has, with effect from 29 October 2021, issued an Agrément certificate, details of which appear in the schedule hereto.

SCHEDULE

Agrément certificate 2004/312 (Amended August 2021): Honel GAM 80 – 480 Series Bridge Deck

Subject: Honel GAM 80 – 480 Series Bridge Deck

Certificate holder: Honel Structural Products (Pty) Ltd

Description: Honel GAM Series 80 – 480 are a series of multi-element gland-and-claw bridge-deck expansion joints. Joints consist of between two and six glands to accommodate movements up to 480 mm in units of 80 mm per installed gland. The joint is manufactured in South Africa in accordance with the original designs by Glacier Bearings (Pty) Ltd. As far as possible, all materials are sourced locally.

The joint is assessed as being suitable for use in concrete bridge structures in all climatic regions of South Africa and in all types of corrosive environment.

The Honel GAM Series 80 – 480 Bridge Deck Expansion joint is suitable for use where:

- the movement range is up to a maximum of 480 mm (up to five intermediate beams and six glands would be required to accommodate movements of 480 mm, that is 80 mm per gland), and
- the skew angle of the joint is not greater than 45 degrees.

The Agrément certificate contains detailed information on the product and can be accessed at <http://www.agrement.co.za>.

Copies are obtainable from: Chief Executive Officer (CEO)
Agrément South Africa, P O Box 72381, LYNNWOOD RIDGE, 0040

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS AND INFRASTRUCTURE

NO. 3599

23 June 2023

AGRÉMENT SOUTH AFRICA
(Approval of innovative construction products and systems)

Notice is hereby given that Agrément South Africa has, with effect from 29 October 2021, issued an Agrément certificate, details of which appear in the schedule hereto.

SCHEDULE

Agrément certificate 2017/542 (Amended June 2021): Flomac Water and Liquid Storage Tanks

Subject: Flomac Water and Liquid Storage Tanks

Certificate holder: Flomac Industries (Pty) Ltd trading as Flomac Tanks

Description: Flomac Water and Liquid Storage Tanks are manufactured through a rotationally moulding process. The manufacturing thereof uses only locally produced raw material, viz HR 486 low linear density polyethylene from SASOL POLYMERS which is specified in the SASOL datasheet. The tanks can be manufactured in any colour requested by the client and they vary in size from 1000 litres to 5000 litres.

The tanks have a black inner lining as an algae prevention measure. The wall thickness varies from 3 mm to 6 mm depending on the size of the tank.

The tanks come with a high quality 50/40 mm overflow at the top and a 40 mm tank connector at the bottom. The fittings are also colour coded as per the colour of the tank. The lid is 480 mm in diameter and comes with 2 e-clips.

All liquid storage tanks are as per Sasol Polymers' chemical resistance data sheet requirements. Flomac Water and Liquid Storage Tanks were not assessed for underground installations.

The Agrément certificate contains detailed information on the product and can be accessed at <http://www.agrement.co.za>

Copies are obtainable from: Chief Executive Officer (CEO)
Agrément South Africa, P O Box 72381, LYNNWOOD RIDGE, 0040

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS AND INFRASTRUCTURE

NO. 3600

23 June 2023

AGRÉMENT SOUTH AFRICA
(Approval of innovative construction products and systems)

Notice is hereby given that Agrément South Africa has, with effect from 28 January 2021, issued an Agrément certificate, details of which appear in the schedule hereto.

SCHEDULE

Agrément certificate 2018/589 (Amended December 2020): Eaziflush Sanitation Systems

Subject: Eaziflush Sanitation Systems

Certificate holder: EnviroSan Sanitation Solutions (Pty) Ltd

Description: The Eaziflush Sanitation Systems comprises Polymer or Ceramic Pedestals and Polymer P-traps that can be used with conventional cisterns of 6- 9 litres or with low-flushing cisterns of 2 litres. Alternatively, they can be used as pour-flush toilet systems using clean or grey water. The Polymer Pedestals and P-traps are made from virgin polypropylene material and the Ceramic Pedestals are made out of clay.

Both pedestals are of the same design and algorithms and preference holds sway. They have been designed to retro-fit into the EnviroSan VIP (Agrément Certificate 2015/475) outer pedestal frame (Annexure B). Both pedestals work in conjunction with a modified Polymer P-trap of 75 mm diameter which enables low and pour-flushing. The trap is designed to fit the 75 mm diameter pedestal outlets. The trap tapers outwards to fit into conventional 110 mm PVC drainage and soil pipes. The design of the trap restricts the water in the P-trap to 750 ml versus the 2 200 ml in conventional traps. The former facilitates full displacement of effluents with pour-flush or low flush action.

The pedestals are connected to various on-site or off-site sanitation systems, including leach pits, septic tanks and soak-aways, biogas digesters, solid free sewers, conventional sewers or other back-end systems. As with the VIP toilet systems, these pedestals can be adjusted/adapted to incorporate integrated child friendly seats when necessary.

The Agrément certificate contains detailed information on the product and can be accessed at <http://www.agrement.co.za>

Copies are obtainable from: Chief Executive Officer (CEO)
Agrément South Africa, P O Box 72381, LYNNWOOD RIDGE, 0040

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS AND INFRASTRUCTURE

NO. 3601

23 June 2023

AGRÉMENT SOUTH AFRICA
(Approval of innovative construction products and systems)

Notice is hereby given that Agrément South Africa has, with effect from 31 January 2022, issued an Agrément certificate, details of which appear in the schedule hereto.

SCHEDULE

Agrément certificate 2012/413 (Amended December 2021): DesignBuilder (Version 4.0) Building Energy Analysis Software

Subject: DesignBuilder (Version 4.0) Building Energy Analysis Software

Certificate holder: Greenplan Consultants (Pty) Ltd

Description: *DesignBuilder* Energy Analysis Software is a user-friendly interface for the US Department of Energy software, *EnergyPlus*. *EnergyPlus* has been developed from both of the *BLAST* (Building Loads Analysis and System Thermodynamics) and the *DOE-2* programmes of the 1970's and 1980's.

DesignBuilder Energy Analysis Software may be used for the rational design air-conditioned buildings or naturally ventilated buildings of all occupancies in terms of the requirements of Regulation XA3 b) and c) of Part XA: *Energy usage in buildings* of the National Building Regulations.

The Agrément certificate contains detailed information on the product and can be accessed at <http://www.agrement.co.za>.

Copies are obtainable from: Chief Executive Officer (CEO)
Agrément South Africa, P O Box 72381, LYNNWOOD RIDGE, 0040

DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT

NO. 3602

23 June 2023

CHILD JUSTICE ACT 75, 2008

ACCREDITED DIVERSION SERVICE PROVIDERS AND DIVERSION PROGRAMMES

The Minister of Social Development in terms of Section 56 (3) (a) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008) publishes particulars of each accredited diversion service provider and diversion programme in the schedule.

This notice covers diversion programmes and diversion service providers that are granted an accredited status.

Diversion programmes and diversion service providers that have been granted candidacy status, have received certificates and are allowed to operate, based on condition(s) set by the accrediting committee. The Policy Framework on Accreditation of Diversion Services in South Africa defines candidacy status as a 'pre-accreditation status, awarded to an organization pursuing accreditation... Candidacy indicates that an organization or programme has achieved recognition and is progressing towards receiving full accreditation, and has the potential to achieve compliance with standards within two years'.

1

**NATIONAL DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT
SECTION 56(3) (a) of the Child Justice Act 75/2008
ACCREDITED DIVERSION PROGRAMMES:**

NAME OF ENTITY	REG. NUMBER/ ACCREDITATION CERTIFICATE NUMBER	OPERATIONAL SITE	PROGRAMME	STATUS AWARDED
PUBLIC ENTITY				
EASTERN CAPE ACCREDITED DIVERSION SERVICES				
ALIWAL NORTH Service Office 74 Somerset Street, Old Balmoral Building, Aliwal North, 9750	EC- 07-2021-P106 EC- 07-2021-P101 EC- 07-2021-P103 EC- 07-2021-P107 EC- 07-2021-P104 EC- 07-2021-P102 EC- 07-2021-P99 EC- 07-2021-P105 EC- 07-2021-P100	Aliwal North Service Office	<ul style="list-style-type: none"> • I am me • In the Mirror • Mind the gap • Planting hope • Playing through the forest • Reverse your Thinking • Rhythm of life • Stop to Start • Wake up call 	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.
BURGERSDORP Service Office 27 Church Street, Burgersdorp, 9744	EC- 07-2021-P97 EC- 07-2021-P92 EC- 07-2021-P94 EC- 07-2021-P98 EC- 07-2021-P95 EC- 07-2021-P93 EC- 07-2021-P90	Burgersdorp Service Office	<ul style="list-style-type: none"> • I am me • In the Mirror • Mind the gap • Planting hope • Playing through the forest 	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.

	EC- 07-2021-P96 EC- 07-2021-P91		<ul style="list-style-type: none"> • Reverse your Thinking • Rhythm of life • Stop to Start • Wake up call 		Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.
FLAGSTAFF Service Office Comprehensive School – Hall, Lusikisiki, 4820	EC- 07-2021-P52 EC- 07-2021-P57 EC- 07-2021-P55 EC- 07-2021-P51 EC- 07-2021-P54 EC- 07-2021-P56 EC- 07-2021-P59 EC- 07-2021-P53 EC- 07-2021-P58	Flagstaff Service Office & Comprehensive School Hall	<ul style="list-style-type: none"> • I am me • In the Mirror • Mind the gap • Planting hope • Playing through the forest • Reverse your Thinking • Rhythm of life • Stop to Start • Wake up call 		Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.
HANKEY Service Office 40 Phillip Street, Hankey 6350	EC- 07-2021-P08 EC- 07-2021-P01 EC- 07-2021-P05 EC- 07-2021-P09 EC- 07-2021-P06 EC- 07-2021-P04 EC- 07-2021-P02 EC- 07-2021-P07 EC- 07-2021-P03	Hankey Service Office	<ul style="list-style-type: none"> • I am me • In the Mirror • Mind the gap • Planting hope • Playing through the forest • Reverse your Thinking • Rhythm of life • Stop to Start • Wake up call 		Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.

<p>HUMANSDORP Service Office C/o Saffrey Street, Humansdorp 6306</p>	<p>EC- 07-2021-P17 EC- 07-2021-P12 EC- 07-2021-P14 EC- 07-2021-P18 EC- 07-2021-P15 EC- 07-2021-P13 EC- 07-2021-P10 EC- 07-2021-P16 EC- 07-2021-P11</p>	<p>Humansdorp Service Office</p>	<ul style="list-style-type: none"> • I am me • In the Mirror • Mind the gap • Planting hope • Playing through the forest • Reverse your Thinking • Rhythm of life • Stop to Start • Wake up call 	<p>Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.</p>
<p>JAMESTOWN Service Office 8 Voortrekker Street, Jamestown 9742</p>	<p>EC- 07-2021-P118 EC- 07-2021-P123 EC- 07-2021-P121 EC- 07-2021-P117 EC- 07-2021-P120 EC- 07-2021-P122 EC- 07-2021-P125 EC- 07-2021-P119 EC- 07-2021-P124</p>	<p>Jamestown Service Office</p>	<ul style="list-style-type: none"> • I am me • In the Mirror • Mind the gap • Planting hope • Playing through the forest • Reverse your Thinking • Rhythm of life • Stop to Start • Wake up call 	<p>Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.</p>

<p>JOUBERTINA Service Office 22 PJ Retief Street, Joubertina 6410</p>	<p>EC- 07-2021-P26 EC- 07-2021-P21 EC- 07-2021-P23 EC- 07-2021-P27 EC- 07-2021-P24 EC- 07-2021-P22 EC- 07-2021-P19 EC- 07-2021-P25 EC- 07-2021-P20</p>	<p>Joubertina Service Office</p>	<ul style="list-style-type: none"> • I am me • In the Mirror • Mind the gap • Planting hope • Playing through the forest • Reverse your Thinking • Rhythm of life • Stop to Start • Wake up call 	<p>Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.</p>
<p>KAREEDOUW VICTIM SUPPORT CENTRE Eendrag Street, Kareedouw 6400</p>	<p>EC- 07-2021-P147 EC- 07-2021-P152 EC- 07-2021-P150 EC- 07-2021-P146 EC- 07-2021-P149 EC- 07-2021-P151 EC- 07-2021-P154 EC- 07-2021-P148 EC- 07-2021-P153</p>	<p>Kareedouw Victim Support Centre</p>	<ul style="list-style-type: none"> • I am me • In the Mirror • Mind the gap • Planting hope • Playing through the forest • Reverse your Thinking • Rhythm of life • Stop to Start • Wake up call 	<p>Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.</p>

<p>LIBODE Service Office 177 Stanford Street, Libode 5160</p>	<p>EC- 07-2021-P69 EC- 07-2021-P74 EC- 07-2021-P72 EC- 07-2021-P68 EC- 07-2021-P71 EC- 07-2021-P73 EC- 07-2021-P76 EC- 07-2021-P70 EC- 07-2021-P75</p>	<p>Libode Service Office</p>	<ul style="list-style-type: none"> • I am me • In the Mirror • Mind the gap • Planting hope • Playing through the forest • Reverse your Thinking • Rhythm of life • Stop to Start • Wake up call 	<p>Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.</p>
<p>LUSIKISIKI Service Office 402 Jacaranda Street, Mlonzi Square, Lusikisiki 4820</p>	<p>EC- 07-2021-P49 EC- 07-2021-P44 EC- 07-2021-P46 EC- 07-2021-P50 EC- 07-2021-P47 EC- 07-2021-P45 EC- 07-2021-P42 EC- 07-2021-P48 EC- 07-2021-P43</p>	<p>Lusikisiki Service Office</p>	<ul style="list-style-type: none"> • I am me • In the Mirror • Mind the gap • Planting hope • Playing through the forest • Reverse your Thinking • Rhythm of life • Stop to Start • Wake up call 	<p>Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.</p>

LULAMA FUTSHANE CHILD & YOUTH CARE CENTRE 3516 Tembisa Location, Burgersdorp 9744	EC- 07-2021-P87 EC- 07-2021-P89 EC- 07-2021-P88 EC- 07-2021-P85 EC- 07-2021-P86	LULAMA FUTSHANE CHILD & YOUTH CARE CENTRE	<ul style="list-style-type: none"> • In the Mirror • Mind the gap • Reverse your Thinking • Rhythm of life • Wake up call 	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.
Mthatha Service Office Bosasa Building, Mthatha 5099	EC- 07-2021-P66 EC- 07-2021-P62 EC- 07-2021-P64 EC- 07-2021-P67 EC- 07-2021-P136 EC- 07-2021-P63 EC- 07-2021-P60 EC- 07-2021-P65 EC- 07-2021-P61	Mthatha Service Office	<ul style="list-style-type: none"> • I am me • In the Mirror • Mind the gap • Planting hope • Playing through the forest • Reverse your Thinking • Rhythm of life • Stop to Start • Wake up call 	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.
QUMBU CHILD & YOUTH CARE CENTRE Mvumelwano, Administrative Area, Qumbu 5180	EC- 07-2021-P39 EC- 07-2021-P41 EC- 07-2021-P40 EC- 07-2021-P37 EC- 07-2021-P38	QUMBU CHILD & YOUTH CARE CENTRE	<ul style="list-style-type: none"> • In the Mirror • Mind the gap • Reverse your Thinking • Rhythm of life • Wake up call 	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.

<p>QUMBU Service Office Mvumelwano, Administrative Area, Qumbu 5180</p>	<p>EC- 07-2021-P29 EC- 07-2021-P34 EC- 07-2021-P32 EC- 07-2021-P28 EC- 07-2021-P31 EC- 07-2021-P135 EC- 07-2021-P36 EC- 07-2021-P30 EC- 07-2021-P35</p>	<p>Qumbu Service Office</p>	<ul style="list-style-type: none"> • I am me • In the Mirror • Mind the gap • Planting hope • Playing through the forest • Reverse your Thinking • Rhythm of life • Stop to Start • Wake up call 	<p>Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.</p>
<p>STORMSRIVER Magistrate's Court Darnell Street, Stormsriver 6308</p>	<p>EC- 07-2021-P144 EC- 07-2021-P140 EC- 07-2021-P138 EC- 07-2021-P145 EC- 07-2021-P137 EC- 07-2021-P139 EC- 07-2021-P142 EC- 07-2021-P143 EC- 07-2021-P141</p>	<p>Stormsriver Magistrate's Court</p>	<ul style="list-style-type: none"> • I am me • In the Mirror • Mind the gap • Planting hope • Playing through the forest • Reverse your Thinking • Rhythm of life • Stop to Start • Wake up call 	<p>Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.</p>

<p>STEYNSBURG Service Office 4 Henning Street, Steynsburg 5920</p>	<p>EC- 07-2021-P133 EC- 07-2021-P128 EC- 07-2021-P130 EC- 07-2021-P134 EC- 07-2021-P131 EC- 07-2021-P129 EC- 07-2021-P126 EC- 07-2021-P132 EC- 07-2021-P127</p>	<p>Steynsburg Service Office</p>	<ul style="list-style-type: none"> • I am me • In the Mirror • Mind the gap • Planting hope • Playing through the forest • Reverse your Thinking • Rhythm of life • Stop to Start • Wake up call 	<p>Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.</p>
<p>TARKASTAD Service Office 7 Van Reenen Street, Tarkastad 5370</p>	<p>EC- 07-2021-P83 EC- 07-2021-P79 EC- 07-2021-P80 EC- 07-2021-P84 EC- 07-2021-P81 EC- 07-2021-P80 EC- 07-2021-P77 EC- 07-2021-P82 EC- 07-2021-P78</p>	<p>Tarkastad Service Office</p>	<ul style="list-style-type: none"> • I am me • In the Mirror • Mind the gap • Planting hope • Playing through the forest • Reverse your Thinking • Rhythm of life • Stop to Start • Wake up call 	<p>Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.</p>

<p>VENTERSTAD Service Office 38 Kruger Street, Venterstad 9798</p>	<p>EC- 07-2021-P115 EC- 07-2021-P110 EC- 07-2021-P112 EC- 07-2021-P116 EC- 07-2021-P113 EC- 07-2021-P111 EC- 07-2021-P108 EC- 07-2021-P114 EC- 07-2021-P109</p>	<p>Venterstad Service Office</p>	<p>Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.</p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> • I am me • In the Mirror • Mind the gap • Planting hope • Playing through the forest • Reverse your Thinking • Rhythm of life • Stop to Start • Wake up call
--	---	----------------------------------	--

**EASTERN CAPE PROVINCE
SECTION 56(3) (a) of the Child Justice Act 75/2008
ACCREDITED DIVERSION SERVICE PROVIDERS:**

NAME OF ENTITY	REG. NUMBER/ ACCREDITATION NUMBER	PHYSICAL ADDRESS	CONTACT DETAILS	CONTACT PERSON	STATUS AWARDED
PUBLIC ENTITY					
EASTERN CAPE DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT					
Aliwal North Service Office 74 Somerset Street, Old Balmoral	EC-07-2022-SP 01	9. Aliwal North Service Office - Boardroom, Social Development, 74	Mobile: 0729906088	Siliziwe Nquka	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four

Building, ALIWAL NORTH, 9750		Somerset Street, Old Balmoral Building, ALIWAL NORTH, 9750			years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.
Burgersdorp Service Office 27 Church Street, BURGERSDORP, 9744	EC-07-2022-SP 02	Burgersdorp Service Office - Boardroom, Social Development, 27 Church Street, BURGERSDORP, 9744	Mobile: 0729902385	Nopasika Thafeni	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.
Flagstaff Service Office Comprehensive School – Hall, LUSIKISIKI, 4820	EC-07-2022-SP 03	Flagstaff Comprehensive School – Hall, LUSIKISIKI, 4820	Mobile: 0732157981	Nondumiso Mnanjana	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.
Hankey Service Office 40 Phillip Street, HANKEY, 6350	EC-07-2022-SP 12	Hankey Service Office - Office, Social Development, 40 Phillip Street, HANKEY, 6350	Mobile: 0609132912	Elario Phillips	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.
Humansdorp Service Office Saffrey Street, HUMANSDORP	EC-07-2022-SP 13	Service office - Boardroom, C/o Saffrey Street, HUMANSDORP	Mobile: 0646061488	Lungiswa Kiet	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.

Jamestown Service Office 8 Voortrekker Street, JAMESTOWN, 9742	EC-07-2022-SP 04	10. Jamestown Service Office - Boardroom, Social Development, 8 Voortrekker Street, JAMESTOWN, 9742	Mobile: 0660685097	Khanyisa Makalo	years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026. Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.
Joubertina Service Office 22 PJ Retief Street, JOUBERTINA, 6410	EC-07-2022-SP 14	Joubertina Service Office, Social Development - Boardroom, 22 PJ Retief Street, JOUBERTINA 6410	Mobile: 0609088120	Gerda Ferreira	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.
Libode Service Office 177 Stanford Street, LIBODE, 5160	EC-07-2022-SP 05	Libode Service Office - Boardroom, 177 Stanford Street Libode 5160 LIBODE	Mobile: 0636853759	Thokozile Mthembu	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.
Lulama Futshane Child and Youth Care Centre, ERF 3516, Tembisa Location,	EC-07-2022-SP 06	Lulama Futshane Child and Youth Care Centre - Hall, ERF 3516,	Mobile: 0664146523	Catharina Gouws	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four

BURGERSDORP, 9744		Tembisa Location, Burgersdorp			years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.
Lusikisiki Service Office, 402 Jacaranda Street, Mlonzi Square, LUSIKISIKI, 4820	EC-07-2022-SP 17	Lusikisiki Service - Boardroom, Social Development, 402 Jacaranda Street, Mlonzi Square, LUSIKISIKI, 4820	Mobile: 0660685690	Nomahlubi Keswa	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.
Mthatha Service Office, Bosasa Building, MTHATHA 5099	EC-07-2022-SP 07	Mthatha Service Office, Bosasa Building (Boardroom), MTHATHA 5099	Mobile: 0664128768	Akhona Magwenstu	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.
Qumbu CHILD & YOUTH CARE CENTRE Mvumelwano, Administrative Area, QUMBU, 5180	EC-07-2022-SP 16	Qumbu Child & Youth Care Centre, Social Development, Mvumelwano, Administrative Area, QUMBU	Mobile: 0475537500/ 0729820169	Zethu Magazi	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.
Qumbu Service Office, Mvumelwano, Administrative Area, QUMBU, 5180	EC-07-2022-SP 15	Qumbu Child & Youth Care Centre, Social Development, Mvumelwano,	Mobile: 0636857305	Bhekisisa Shekembuya	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.

Steynsburg Service Office 4 Henning Street, STEYNSBURG, 5920	EC-07-2022-SP 08	Administrative Area, QUMBU Steynsburg Service Office - Boardroom, Social Development, 4 Henning Street, STEYNSBURG, 5920	Mobile: 0729912982	Ntombekhaya Ncana	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.
Stormsriver court Darnell Street, STORMSRIVER, 6308	EC-07-2022-SP 09	Stormsriver court, Darnell Street, Stormsriver, 6308	Mobile: 0609088120	Gerda Ferreira	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.
Takarstad Service Office 7 Van Reenen Street, TAKARSTAD, 5370	EC-07-2022-SP 10	Takarstad Service Office, Social Development, 7 Van Reenen Street, TAKARSTAD, 5370	Mobile: 0769203280	Tiny Msila	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.
KAREEDOUW VICTIM SUPPORT CENTRE Darnell Street, KAREEDOUW, 6400	EC-07-2022-SP 18	Kareedouw Victim Support Centre	Mobile: 0609088120	Gerda Ferreira	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.

		Darnell Street, KAREEDOUW, 6400			years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.
--	--	---------------------------------------	--	--	---

**GAUTENG PROVINCE
SECTION 56(3) (a) of the Child Justice Act 75/2008
ACCREDITED DIVERSION SERVICE PROVIDERS:**

NAME OF ENTITY	REG. NUMBER/ ACCREDITATION CERTIFICATE NUMBER	PHYSICAL ADDRESS	CONTACT DETAILS	CONTACT PERSON	STATUS AWARDED
PUBLIC ENTITY					
JOHANNESBURG Region (JHB Central) GAUTENG DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT	GP-07-2022-SP 01	41 Fox Street, Edura Building, Johannesburg 2000	079 529 4556 011 355 9338	Yekela Masiba	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.
Sedibeng Region- Sebokeng Service Office GAUTENG DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT	GP-07-2022-SP 02	3 Moshoeshoe Street, Sebokeng 1983	082 469 8798 016 430 2560	Nomfundo Kamolane	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.

Sedibeng Region: Vereeniging Service Office GAUTENG DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT	GP-07-2022-SP 03	18 Market Avenue, Vereeniging 1939	082 469 8798 011 430 2560	Nomfundo Kamolane	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.
West Rand Region: Carletonville Service Office GAUTENG DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT	GP-07-2022-SP 04	33 Beryl Street, Carletonville 2499	079 883 7152 011 950 7790	Kgomotso Phofa	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.
West Rand Region: St John the Divine Centre. GAUTENG DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT	GP-07-2022-SP 05	3418 Khama Street, Mohlakeng 1759	079 883 7152 011 950 7790	Kgomotso Phofa	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.

**GAUTENG PROVINCE
SECTION 56(3) (a) of the Child Justice Act 75/2008
ACCREDITED DIVERSION PROGRAMMES:**

NAME OF ENTITY	REG. NUMBER/ ACCREDITATION CERTIFICATE NUMBER	OPERATIONAL SITE	PROGRAMME	STATUS AWARDED
PUBLIC ENTITY				
Sedibeng RegiOn-Vereeniging Service Office GAUTENG DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT	GP- 07-2021-P04	18 Market Avenue, Vereeniging 1939	RHYTHM OF LIFE	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.
West Rand Region GAUTENG DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT	GP- 07-2021-P06	Westonaria Site Extension 5, Simunye Teacher's Training Centre	RHYTHM OF LIFE	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.
West Rand Region: St John the Divine Centre GAUTENG DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT	GP- 07-2021-P07	3418 Khama Street, Mohlakeng 1759	RHYTHM OF LIFE	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.

**KWAZULU-NATAL PROVINCE
SECTION 56(3) (a) of the Child Justice Act 75/2008
ACCREDITED DIVERSION SERVICE PROVIDERS:**

NAME OF ENTITY	REG. NUMBER/ ACCREDITATION CERTIFICATE NUMBER	PHYSICAL ADDRESS	CONTACT DETAILS	CONTACT PERSON	STATUS AWARDED
PUBLIC ENTITY					
Chatsworth Service Office KWA ZULU-NATAL DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT	KZN-07-2022-SP 01	06 Bhaktivedanta Swami Circle, Arena Park, CHATSWORTH 4092	Chatsworth Service Office 06 Bhaktivedanta Swami Circle, Arena Park, Chatsworth, 4092	Ms Z Suleman 072 033 3966	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.
Mahlabathini Service Office KWA ZULU-NATAL DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT	KZN-07-2022-SP 02	Mashona Village, MAHLAB ATHINI, 3865	0726406007 0358738200	Acting Service Office Manager Mr ZS Mthombo	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.
Mondlo Service Office KWA ZULU-NATAL DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT	KZN-07-2022-SP 03	Block B 855, MONDLO, 3105	0669989570 0349331126	Service Office Manager Mrs HPT Ndlozi	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.

Nongoma Service Office KWA ZULU-NATAL DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT	KZN-07-2022-SP 04	Lot 62/63 Nongoma Main Road, NONGOMA, 3950	0829554090 0358313300	Service Office Manager Mr N Mtshali	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.
Paulpietersburg Service Office KWA ZULU-NATAL DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT	KZN-07-2022-SP 05	17210 Frischgewaad, Bilanyoni area, PAULPIETERSB URG, 3180	0609989672 0349967000	Service Office Manager Ms PL Manyanga	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.
Pongola Service Office KWA ZULU-NATAL DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT	KZN-07-2022-SP 06	Lot 665/20 Kliepearsol Street, PONGOLA, 3170	0609989711 0344131553	Service Office Manager Ms HJ Mthembu	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.
uMlazi Service Office KWA ZULU-NATAL DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT	KZN-07-2022-SP 07	200 Zwe Madlala Dr, UMLAZI, 4066	031 918 8800 082 955 2605.	Ms S P Tansi Service Office Manager	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.

**KWAZULU-NATAL PROVINCE
SECTION 56(3) (a) of the Child Justice Act 75/2008
ACCREDITED DIVERSION PROGRAMMES:**

NAME OF ENTITY	REG. NUMBER/ ACCREDITATION CERTIFICATE NUMBER	OPERATIONAL SITE	PROGRAMME	STATUS AWARDED
PUBLIC ENTITY				
Chatsworth Service Office KWA ZULU-NATAL DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT	KZN- 07-2021-P01	06 Bhaktivedanta Swami Circle, Arena Park, CHATSWORTH, 4092	RHYTHM OF LIFE	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.
	KZN- 07-2021-P02		WAKE UP CALL	
Mahlabathini Service Office KWA ZULU-NATAL DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT	KZN- 07-2021-P03	Mashona Village, Mahlabathini 3865	IN THE MIRROR	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.
	KZN- 07-2021-P04		MIND THE GAP	
	KZN- 07-2021-P05		REVERSE YOUR THINKING	
	KZN- 07-2021-P06		RHYTHM OF LIFE	
	KZN- 07-2021-P07		WAKE UP CALL	
Mondlo Service Office KWA ZULU-NATAL DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT	KZN- 07-2021-P08	Block B 855, MONDLO, 3105	IN THE MIRROR	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.
	KZN- 07-2021-P09		RHYTHM OF LIFE	
	KZN- 07-2021-P10		WAKE UP CALL	

CONTINUES ON PAGE 258 OF BOOK 3

Printed by and obtainable from the Government Printer, Bosman Street, Private Bag X85, Pretoria, 0001
Contact Centre Tel: 012-748 6200. eMail: info.egazette@gpw.gov.za
Publications: Tel: (012) 748 6053, 748 6061, 748 6065



Government Gazette Staatskoerant

REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA
REPUBLIEK VAN SUID AFRIKA

Vol. 696

23

June
Junie

2023

No. 48841

PART 3 OF 4

N.B. The Government Printing Works will not be held responsible for the quality of "Hard Copies" or "Electronic Files" submitted for publication purposes

ISSN 1682-5845



9 771682 584003



AIDS HELPLINE: 0800-0123-22 Prevention is the cure

Nongoma Service Office KWA ZULU-NATAL DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT	KZN- 07-2021-P11 KZN- 07-2021-P12 KZN- 07-2021-P13	Lot 62/63 Nongoma Main Road, NONGOMA, 3950	MIND THE GAP RHYTHM OF LIFE WAKE UP CALL	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.
Paulpietersburg Service Office KWA ZULU-NATAL DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT	KZN- 07-2021-P14 KZN- 07-2021-P15	17210 Frischgewaad, Bilanyoni area, PAULPIETERSBURG, 3180	RHYTHM OF LIFE WAKE UP CALL	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.
Pongola Service Office KWA ZULU-NATAL DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT	KZN- 07-2021-P16	Lot 665/20 Kliepearsol Street, PONGOLA, 3170	RHYTHM OF LIFE	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.
uMlazi Service Office KWA ZULU-NATAL DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT	KZN- 07-2021-P17 KZN- 07-2021-P18	200 Zwe Madlala Dr, UMLAZI W, 4066	RHYTHM OF LIFE WAKE UP CALL	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.

**NORTHWEST PROVINCE
SECTION 56(3) (a) of the Child Justice Act 75/2008
ACCREDITED DIVERSION PROGRAMMES:**

NAME OF ENTITY	REG. NUMBER/ ACCREDITATION CERTIFICATE NUMBER	OPERATIONAL SITE	PROGRAMME	STATUS AWARDED
PUBLIC ENTITY				
DITSOBOTLA SERVICE OFFICE NORTH WEST DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT	NW- 07-2022-P01	38 Corner Republic & Scholtz Street, Lichtenburg 2740	IN THE MIRROR	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.
GANYESA TRIBAL HALL SERVICE OFFICE NORTH WEST DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT	NW- 07-2022-P02	Barolong Boo Tlou le Tau Tribal Authority, Ganyesa Village 8613	WAKEUP CALL	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.
KAGISANO -MOLOPO MOROKWENG SERVICE POINT NORTH WEST DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT	NW- 07-2022-P03	Barolong Boo Tlou le Tau Tribal Authority, Morokweng 3613	WAKEUP CALL	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.

MAQUASSI HILLS – LEBALENG COMMUNITY LIBRARY NORTH WEST DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT	NW- 07-2022-P04 NW- 07-2022-P05 NW- 07-2022-P06	458 Kalane Street, Maquassi 2650	RHYTHM OF LIFE IN THE MIRROR WAKE UP CALL	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.
LEKWA-TEEMANE SERVICE POINT NORTH WEST DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT	NW- 07-2022-P07 NW- 07-2022-P08 NW- 07-2022-P09	145 Kerksstraat, Bloenhof 2660	PLAYING THROUGH THE FOREST RHYTHM OF LIFE STOP TO START	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.
MAQUASSI HILLS – ONE STOP CHILD JUSTICE CENTRE NORTH WEST DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT	NW- 07-2022-P10 NW- 07-2022-P11 NW- 07-2022-P12	445 Borwa Street, Kgakala Township 2640	IN THE MIRROR RHYTHM OF LIFE WAKE UP CALL	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.
MATLOSANA ONE STOP CHILD JUSTICE CENTRE NORTH WEST DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT	NW- 07-2022-P13 NW- 07-2022-P14	3 Benjing Oliphant Road, Urania Village, Klerksdorp 2517	IN THE MIRROR WAKE UP CALL	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.

NALEDI SERVICE POINT NORTH WEST DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT	NW- 07-2022-P15 NW- 07-2022-P16	130 Vry Street, Vryburg 8600	MIND THE GAP RHYTHM OF LIFE	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.
TLAKGAMENG TRIBAL HALL (KAGISANO-MOLOPO SERVICE POINT) NORTH WEST DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT	NW- 07-2022-P17	arolong Boo Tlou le Tau Tribal Authority, Tlaskgameng 8613	WAKE UP CALL	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.

NORHWEST PROVINCE
SECTION 56(3) (a) of the Child Justice Act 75/2008
ACCREDITED DIVERSION SERVICE PROVIDERS:

NAME OF ENTITY	REG. NUMBER/ ACCREDITATION NUMBER	PHYSICAL ADDRESS	CONTACT DETAILS	CONTACT PERSON	STATUS AWARDED
PUBLIC ENTITY					
DITSOBOTLA SERVICE OFFICE NORTH WEST DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT	NW-07-2022-SP 01	38 Corner Republic & Scholtz Street, Lichtenburg 2740	Tel: 018 632 1010 Mobile: 082 580 0205 Mobile: 071 605 7378 Email: Omakokoe@nwppg.gov.za	Ms Ourma Makokoe Ms Ineeleng Sephiri	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.

GANYESA TRIBAL HALL SERVICE OFFICE NORTH WEST DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT	NW-07-2022-SP 02	Barolong Boo Tlou le Tau Tribal Authority, Ganyesa Village 8613	Tel: 053 993 4821 Mobile: 082 044 6921 Mobile: 079 889 3245 Email: zolilem@nwpg.gov.za glekotoko@nwpg.gov.za	Mr Zolile Mxobongo Ms Gloria Motshedi	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.
JB MARKS VENTERSDORP SERVICE POINT NORTH WEST DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT	NW-07-2022-SP 03	04 Van Riebeeck Road, Ventersdorp 2710	Tel: 018 297 0132 Mobile: 082 808 8863 Mobile: 082 047 6093 Email: isteenkamp@nwpg.gov.za rselebal@nwpg.gov.za	Ms Johline Steenkamp Ms Rebone Seane	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.
KAGISANO - MOLOPO MOROKWENG SERVICE POINT NORTH WEST DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT	NW-07-2022-SP 04	Barolong Boo Tlou le Tau Tribal Authority, Morokweng 3613	Tel: 053 998 4821 Mobile: 082 044 6921 Mobile: 079 889 3245 Email: zolilem@nwpg.gov.za	Mr Zolile Mxobongo Ms Gloria Motshedi	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.

MAQUASSI HILLS – LEBALENG COMMUNITY LIBRARY NORTH WEST DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT	NW-07-2022-SP 05	458 Kalane Street, Maquassi 2650	Mobile: 082 329 4117 Mobile: 082 042 7967 Email: gaddafi@nwpg.gov.za msebanda@nwpg.gov.za	Mr Gaddafi Tabile Ms Mankazana Mabe	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.
LEKWA-TEEMANE SERVICE POINT NORTH WEST DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT	NW-07-2022-SP 06	145 Kerkstraat, Bloemhof 2660	Tel: 053 433 9200 Mobile: 082 045 1295	Ms Maggy Tshabile Ms Mapontsho Mogale	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.
MADIBENG SERVICE POINT NORTH WEST DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT	NW-07-2022-SP 07	Alpha Building, Pendorring Street, Brits 0250	Tel: 012 252 2521 Mobile: 076 302 6866 Mobile: 082 042 2896	Ms Hendrietta Poo Ms Mamikie Moubane	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.
MAMUSA SERVICE POINT NORTH WEST DEPARTMENT OF	NW - 07-2022-SP 08	Indian Shopping Centre, Corner Eybers & Cordell Streets,	Mobile: 083 626 0932 Mobile: 082 046 6304	Ms Segametsi Seape Mr Andries Sechogo	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four

SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT		Schweizer Reneke 2780			years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.
MATLOSANA SERVICE POINT - ONESTOP CHILD JUSTICE CENTRE NORTH WEST DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT	NW-07-2022-SP 09	3 Benjing Oliphant Road, Urania Village, Klerksdorp 2517	Tel: 018 406 9401 Mobile: 071 683 7443 Mobile: 082 324 3070 Email: modisanyanem@nwpg.gov.za ebruwer@nwpg.gov.za	Ms Matshidiso Modisanyane Ms Elaine Bruwer	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.
TLAKGAMENG TRIBAL HALL (KAGISANO-MOLOPO SERVICE POINT) NORTH WEST DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT	NW - 07-2022-SP 10	Barolong Boo Tiou le Tau Tribal Authority, Tlaskgameng 8613	Tel: 053 998 4821 Mobile: 082 044 6921 Mobile: 079 889 3245 Email: zolilem@nwpg.gov.za glekotoko@nwpg.gov.za	Mr Zolile Mxobongo Ms Gloria Motshedi	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.

**WESTERN CAPE PROVINCE
SECTION 56(3) (a) of the Child Justice Act 75/2008
ACCREDITED DIVERSION SERVICE PROVIDERS:**

NAME OF ENTITY	REG. NUMBER/ ACCREDITATION NUMBER	PHYSICAL ADDRESS	CONTACT DETAILS	CONTACT PERSON	STATUS AWARDED
PUBLIC ENTITY					
HORIZON CHILD & YOUTH CARE CENTRE Western Cape Department of Social Development	WC-07-2020-SP 01	Corner Old Faure & Eeste Rivier Way, Eeste Rivier 6135	Tel: 021 8347170 Cell: 073-300 6510	Facility Manager: Mornay Johnson	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.
CLANWILLIAM CHILD & YOUTH CARE CENTRE Western Cape Department of Social Development	WC-07-2020-SP 02	01 Park Street, Clanwilliam 8135	Tel: 027 482 1900 Cell: 072 159 2858	Ubenicia Siebritz: Facility Manager	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.
VREDELUS CHILD & YOUTH CARE CENTRE Western Cape Department of Social Development	WC-07-2020-SP 03	Corner 16th & Festus Street, Leonsdale 7490	Tel: 021 913 0233 Cell: 0634269387	Facility Manager: Mr Marowaan Benting	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.

VREDENBURG SERVICE OFFICE Western Cape Department of Social Development	WC-07-2020-SP 04	Corner Mark & Rose Streets, Vredenburg 7390	Tel: 022-7132272 Cell: 083 357 4644	Regional Director: Dr Willem Du Toit	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.
---	---------------------	---	--	---	---

**WESTERN CAPE PROVINCE
SECTION 56(3) (a) of the Child Justice Act 75/2008
ACCREDITED DIVERSION PROGRAMMES:**

NAME OF ENTITY	REG. NUMBER/ ACCREDITATION CERTIFICATE NUMBER	OPERATIONAL SITE	PROGRAMME	STATUS AWARDED
PUBLIC ENTITY				
VREDELUS CHILD & YOUTH CARE CENTRE Western Cape Department of Social Development	WC- 07-2022-P01 WC- 07-2022-P02 WC- 07-2022-P03 WC- 07-2022-P04	Corner 16th & Festus Street, Leonsdale 7490	WAKE UP CALL RHYTHM OF LIFE STOP TO START I AM ME	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.
VREDENBURG SERVICE OFFICE Western Cape Department of Social Development	WC- 07-2022-P05 WC- 07-2022-P06 WC- 07-2022-P07 WC- 07-2022-P08	Corner Mark & Rose Streets, Vredenburg 7390	I AM ME STOP TO START WAKE UP CALL RHYTHM OF LIFE	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.
CLANWILLIAM CHILD & YOUTH CARE CENTRE	WC- 07-2022-P09 WC- 07-2022-P10	01 Park Street, Clanwilliam 8135	I AM ME STOP TO START	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008

Western Cape Department of Social Development				(Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.
HORIZON CHILD & YOUTH CARE CENTRE Western Cape Department of Social Development	WC- 07-2022-P11 WC- 07-2022-P12 WC- 07-2022-P13 WC- 07-2022-P14	Corner Old Faure & Eeste Rivier Way, Eeste Rivier 6135	STOP TO START WAKE UP CALL RHYTHM OF LIFE I AM ME	Accreditation status granted in line with Section 56 (2) (f) of the Child Justice Act, 2008 (Act No. 75 of 2008), for four years, from 30/07/2022 – 01/08/2026.

GENERAL NOTICES • ALGEMENE KENNISGEWINGS

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORT

GENERAL NOTICE 1872 OF 2023

STAKEHOLDERS' CONSULTATION: RATIFICATION OF THE CONVENTION ON THE INTERNATIONAL ORGANIZATION FOR MARINE AIDS TO NAVIGATION

ANNOUNCEMENT AND INVITATION FOR STAKEHOLDERS TO SUBMIT WRITTEN COMMENTS ON THE RATIFICATION OF THE CONVENTION ON THE INTERNATIONAL ORGANIZATION FOR MARINE AIDS TO NAVIGATION

The purpose of the introduction of the Convention on the International Organization for Marine Aids to Navigation (the Convention) is to facilitate the transition from being the International Association of Marine Aids to Navigation and Lighthouse Authorities (IALA), a non-governmental body to an inter-governmental body under international law. The new name would be the International Organization for Marine Aids to Navigation (which will also be known as IALA).

The IALA, office in France, has been considering becoming an inter-governmental organisation to be on par with other International Maritime Organization. In 2014 the IALA's General Assembly adopted a resolution to change the status of IALA to become an intergovernmental body. Convention on the International Organization for Marine Aids to Navigation has been negotiated and was agreed upon at a Diplomatic Conference in Kuala Lumpur in February 2020. It was opened for signature by the Government of the Republic of France, as the depositary state, in January 2021.

The Department of Transport intends to ratify the said Convention for South Africa to actively participate in the regulation, provision, maintenance or operation of Marine Aids to Navigation. The main objective of this Convention is to foster safe and efficient movement of vessels through the improvement and harmonization of Marine Aids to Navigation.

Therefore, interested stakeholders are requested to submit written comments on whether or not the intended initiative is supported, within 30 days from the date of publication of this notice to the Department of Transport, for the attention of the Chief Directorate Maritime Policy and Legislation, Private Bag X193, PRETORIA, 0001 OR be emailed to: mpahlwaC@dot.gov.za and Matlalatm@dot.gov.za.

Convention on the International Organization for Marine Aids to Navigation

Preamble

The States Parties to this Convention:

RECALLING that the International Association of Lighthouse Authorities was established on 1st July 1957 and was renamed the International Association of Marine Aids to Navigation and Lighthouse Authorities in 1998;

RECOGNIZING the role of the International Association of Marine Aids to Navigation and Lighthouse Authorities in the improvement and continued harmonization of Marine Aids to Navigation for the safe, economic and efficient movement of vessels for the benefit of the maritime community and the protection of the environment;

CONSIDERING the provisions of the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea, 1982 and the International Convention for the Safety of Life at Sea, 1974, as amended; and **CONSIDERING FURTHER** that developing, improving and harmonizing Marine Aids to Navigation for the benefit of the maritime community and the protection of the environment is best coordinated by international organizations;

HAVE AGREED as follows:

Article 1 Establishment

1. The International Organization for Marine Aids to Navigation (hereinafter the "Organization") is hereby established under international law as an intergovernmental organization.
2. The Organization shall have a consultative and technical nature.
3. The Organization shall have its seat in France, unless otherwise decided by the General Assembly.
4. The functioning of the Organization shall be set forth in detail in the General Regulations, which are subject to the provisions of this Convention but do not form an integral part thereof. In the event of any inconsistency between this Convention and the General Regulations or any other basic documents covering the governance of the Organization, this Convention shall prevail.

Article 2 Definitions

For the purposes of this Convention:

1. **Marine Aid to Navigation** means a device, system or service, external to a vessel, designed and operated to enhance safe and efficient navigation of individual vessels and vessel traffic. For the purpose of the Organization this definition includes Vessel Traffic Services.
2. **Member State** means a State that has consented to be bound by this Convention and for which this Convention is in force.

3. **Associate Member** means a territory or group of territories for which a Member State has responsibility for its international relations and for which it has requested membership which has been approved by the General Assembly, and national members of the International Association of Marine Aids to Navigation and Lighthouse Authorities from States that are not Member States, in accordance with paragraph 5 of the Annex.
4. **Affiliate Member** means a manufacturer or distributor of Marine Aids to Navigation equipment for sale, or an organization providing Marine Aids to Navigation services or technical advice under contract and any other organization or scientific agency concerned with Marine Aids to Navigation which has applied for membership, and which has been approved by the Council.

Article 3 Aim and Objectives

The aim of the Organization is to bring together governments and organizations concerned with the regulation, provision, maintenance or operation of Marine Aids to Navigation in order to further the objectives of:

- (a) Fostering the safe and efficient movement of vessels through the improvement and harmonization of Marine Aids to Navigation worldwide for the benefit of the maritime community and the protection of the marine environment;
- (b) Promoting access to technical cooperation and capacity building on all matters related to the development and transfer of expertise, science and technology in relation to Marine Aids to Navigation;
- (c) Encouraging and facilitating the general adoption of the highest practicable standards in matters concerning Marine Aids to Navigation; and
- (d) Providing for the exchange of information on matters under consideration by the Organization.

Article 4 Functions

In order to achieve the aim and objectives set out in Article 3, the functions of the Organization shall be:

- (a) To develop and communicate non-mandatory standards, recommendations, guidelines, manuals and other appropriate documents;
- (b) To consider and make recommendations on standards, recommendations, guidelines, manuals and other appropriate documents that may be remitted to it by Member States, Associate Members and Affiliate Members, by any organ or specialized agency of the United Nations or by any other intergovernmental organization;
- (c) To provide mechanisms for consultation and the exchange of information covering inter alia, recent developments and the activities of Member States, Associate Members and Affiliate Members;

- (d) To develop international cooperation by promoting close working relationships and assistance between Member States, Associate Members and Affiliate Members;
- (e) To facilitate assistance, whether technical, organizational or training, to governments, services and other organizations requesting help with Marine Aids to Navigation;
- (f) To organize conferences, symposia, seminars, workshops and other events; and
- (g) To liaise and cooperate with relevant international and other organizations, offering specialized advice, where appropriate.

Article 5 Membership

1. The Organization shall be comprised of Member States, Associate Members and Affiliate Members.
2. Any Member State having responsibility for the international relations of a territory or group of territories may request Associate membership for such territory or group of territories, by notification in writing to the Secretary-General.
3. The Council may require or a Member State may request that aspects of an application for Affiliate membership be reviewed by the Member State or Member States where the applicant carries out its activities or has its principal place of business or registered office. The Council shall take into consideration the views of the requesting and reviewing Member States when deciding on Affiliate membership.

Article 6 Organs

1. The Organization shall have as its organs:
 - (a) The General Assembly;
 - (b) The Council;
 - (c) Committees and subsidiary bodies necessary to support the Organization's activities; and
 - (d) The Secretariat.
2. There shall be a President and a Vice President of the Organization. The President, or in case of the President's absence, the Vice President shall chair the General Assembly and the Council.
3. The General Regulations and Financial Regulations shall detail the Rules of Procedure that shall apply for each organ and govern the day-to-day management of the Organization.

Article 7 The General Assembly

1. The General Assembly is the principal decision-making organ of the Organization and shall have all the powers of the Organization, unless otherwise provided by this Convention.

2. The General Assembly shall consist only of Member States. Attendance shall also be open to Associate Members and Affiliate Members.
3. Each Member State shall designate one of its delegates as its principal delegate at the General Assembly.
4. Regular sessions of the General Assembly shall take place once every three years.
5. Extraordinary sessions of the General Assembly shall be convened whenever one-third of Member States give notice to the Secretary-General that they desire a session to be convened, or at any time if deemed necessary by the Council, after a notice of ninety days.
6. A majority of Member States shall constitute a quorum for the sessions of the General Assembly.
7. The General Assembly shall:
 - (a) Elect the President and the Vice President from amongst the Member States in accordance with the General Regulations;
 - (b) Decide the overall policy and the strategic vision of the Organization;
 - (c) Review and approve the General Regulations and the Financial Regulations of the Organization;
 - (d) Elect, in accordance with Article 8, the Council from amongst the Member States other than the Member States holding the Presidency or Vice Presidency;
 - (e) Elect the Secretary-General from amongst nationals of the Member States in accordance with the General Regulations;
 - (f) Establish and terminate Committees and subsidiary bodies and review and approve their Terms of Reference;
 - (g) Review and approve the financial arrangements of the Organization, including the outline budget for the following three years and the rate of contributions for Member States and fees for Associate Members and Affiliate Members;
 - (h) Consider the reports and proposals put to it by any Member State, the Council or the Secretary-General;
 - (i) Approve standards;
 - (j) Decide on Associate membership;
 - (k) Rule on Affiliate membership upon the request of one or more Member States;
 - (l) Make recommendations to Member States, Associate Members and Affiliate Members on matters within the aim and objectives of the Organization;
 - (m) Approve agreements with States and international organizations; and
 - (n) Decide on any other matters within the aim and objectives of the Organization.

Article 8 The Council

1. The Council is the executive organ of the Organization and shall be responsible for directing the activities of the Organization.
2. The Council shall consist of the President and the Vice President and twenty-three other Member States.
3. Council members shall be elected by ballot at each regular session of the General Assembly in accordance with the General Regulations. Council members should, in principle, be drawn from different parts of the world, with a view to achieving a worldwide representation.

4. At the Council, Member States shall preferably be represented by a delegate from a national authority responsible for the regulation, provision, maintenance or operation of Marine Aids to Navigation of that Member State.
5. Seventeen members of the Council, at least one of which must be the President or Vice President, shall constitute a quorum for the sessions of the Council.
6. The Council shall meet at least once a year.
7. Any Member State not represented on the Council may participate in the Council meetings, but will not be entitled to vote.
8. The Council shall:
 - (a) Exercise such responsibilities as may be delegated to it by the General Assembly;
 - (b) Coordinate the activities of the Organization within the framework of the overall policy, the strategic vision and the outline budget, as decided by the General Assembly;
 - (c) Review and approve the financial statements, including the annual budget;
 - (d) Decide on Affiliate membership;
 - (e) Convene the General Assembly;
 - (f) Report to the General Assembly on the work of the Organization;
 - (g) Review papers submitted to it in accordance with the General Regulations;
 - (h) Refer to the General Assembly all matters requiring decision by the General Assembly;
 - (i) Approve recommendations, guidelines, manuals and other appropriate documents;
 - (j) Approve submissions to other organizations;
 - (k) Appoint Chairs and Vice Chairs of Committees and subsidiary bodies and review and approve their work programmes;
 - (l) Decide the venue and the year of the Organization's conferences and symposia as described in the General Regulations; and
 - (m) Approve the Staff Rules.
9. Council members may, after having informed the President and the Secretary-General, invite Affiliate Members to participate as technical advisors at Council meetings to provide advice and support on operational and technical matters.

Article 9 Committees and Subsidiary Bodies

1. Committees and subsidiary bodies shall support the aim and objectives of the Organization.
2. The Committees shall:
 - (a) Prepare and review standards, recommendations, guidelines, manuals and other appropriate documents identified in the work programmes;
 - (b) Monitor developments in the area of Marine Aids to Navigation;
 - (c) Facilitate the sharing of expertise and experience amongst Member States, Associate Members and Affiliate Members; and
 - (d) Conduct any other tasks as decided by the Council.

Article 10 **The Secretariat**

1. The permanent Secretariat of the Organization shall be comprised of the Secretary-General and such staff as may be required for the work of the Organization within the approved budgetary framework.
2. The term of the Secretary-General shall be three years. The Secretary-General may be re-elected for up to two additional consecutive terms of three years each.
3. The Secretary-General shall be responsible for the day-to-day management of the Organization, subject to any guidance issued by the General Assembly or the Council.
4. The Secretary-General shall be responsible for the conclusion of agreements with States and international organizations subject to the approval of the General Assembly in accordance with Article 7.7 (m).
5. The staff of the Secretariat shall be appointed in accordance with the Staff Rules by the Secretary General on such terms and to perform such duties as the Secretary-General may determine.
6. The Secretariat shall:
 - (a) Maintain all such records as may be necessary for the efficient discharge of the work of the Organization and shall prepare, collect, and circulate any documentation that may be required;
 - (b) Administer the Organization's finances under the direction of the Council, in accordance with the General Regulations;
 - (c) Prepare the financial arrangements and the financial statements;
 - (d) Keep Member States, Associate Members and Affiliate Members and other organizations informed with respect to the activities of the Organization;
 - (e) Organize and support meetings of the General Assembly, the Council, Committees and subsidiary bodies;
 - (f) Organize and support conferences and symposia as approved by the Council;
 - (g) Organize and support seminars, workshops and other events; and
 - (h) Perform such other functions as may be assigned by this Convention, the General Regulations, the General Assembly or the Council.
7. In the performance of their duties, the Secretary-General and the staff shall not seek or receive instructions from any government or from any other source external to the Organization. They shall refrain from any action which might reflect on their position as international officials responsible only to the Organization. Each Member State on its part undertakes to respect the exclusively international character of the responsibilities of the Secretary-General and the staff and not to seek to influence them in the discharge of their responsibilities.

Article 11 **Voting**

1. All efforts shall be made for the General Assembly and the Council to adopt decisions by consensus amongst Member States.

2. Where decisions of the General Assembly or Council cannot be adopted by consensus, they shall be adopted by a two-thirds majority of Member States present and voting through a secret ballot.
3. Only Member States shall have voting rights. Each Member State shall have one vote, except as specified in Article 13.4.
4. The election of the President, Vice President and Secretary-General shall be made by secret ballot with a simple majority of Member States present and voting in accordance with the General Regulations.
5. The election of the Council shall be made with the highest number of votes of the Member States present and voting through a secret ballot, in accordance with the General Regulations.

Article 12 Languages

The official languages of the Organization shall be Arabic, Chinese, English, French, Russian and Spanish.

Article 13 Finance

1. The expenditure for the functioning of the Organization shall be met by the financial resources provided by:
 - (a) Member State contributions;
 - (b) Associate Member and Affiliate Member fees; and
 - (c) Donations, bequests, grants, gifts and other sources approved by the Council upon recommendation by the Secretary-General.
2. Each Member State shall pay a contribution and each Associate Member and Affiliate Member shall pay a fee to the Organization on an annual basis in the amount determined in accordance with Article 7.7 (g). The contribution shall be set at the same rate for each Member State.
3. Member State contributions and Associate Member and Affiliate Member fees shall be due and payable in accordance with the Financial Regulations.
4. Any Member State which is two years in arrears in making contributions shall, after written notification by the Secretary-General, be denied voting rights and the right to be elected to the Council until such time as the outstanding contributions have been paid, in accordance with the Financial Regulations, unless the General Assembly waives this provision.
5. Following the Council's approval of the Organization's audited financial statements, these statements shall be distributed to all Member States, Associate Members and Affiliate Members in the Annual Report.

Article 14
Legal Personality, Privileges and Immunities

1. The Organization has international legal personality and has the capacity to:
 - (a) Contract and conclude agreements with governments, organizations and other bodies;
 - (b) Acquire and dispose of immovable and movable property; and
 - (c) Institute legal proceedings.
2. In the territory of each of its Member States, the Organization shall enjoy, to the extent provided for in an agreement with the Member State concerned, such privileges and immunities as may be necessary for the exercise of its functions and the fulfilment of its aim and objectives.
3. No Member State, Associate Member or Affiliate Member shall be liable, by reason of its status or participation in the Organization, for acts, omissions or obligations of the Organization.

Article 15
Amendments

1. Any Member State may propose an amendment to this Convention, in writing, to the Secretary General.
2. The Secretary-General shall circulate the proposed amendment in the official languages to all Member States at least six months in advance of its consideration by the General Assembly.
3. The proposed amendment shall be adopted by vote of the General Assembly.
4. Any amendment adopted in accordance with paragraph 3 shall be sent by the Secretary-General to the Depositary. The latter shall notify all Member States of the adoption of the amendment.
5. The amendment shall enter into force for all Member States six months after written notifications of acceptance by two-thirds of the Member States have been received by the Depositary, except for a Member State which has notified the Depositary, prior to the entry into force of such amendment, that the amendment shall enter into force for that Member State only after a subsequent notification of its acceptance.
6. Notwithstanding paragraph 5, the General Assembly may decide by consensus that the amendment shall come into force for all Member States six months after written notifications of acceptance by two-thirds of the Member States have been received by the Depositary. If within this period of six months a Member State gives notification of withdrawal from the Organization on account of an amendment, the withdrawal shall, notwithstanding Article 21, take effect on the date on which such amendment comes into force.
7. The Depositary shall inform the Member States and the Secretary-General of the entry into force of the amendment, specifying the date of its entry into force.

Article 16
Reservations

No reservations shall be made to this Convention.

Article 17
Interpretation and Disputes

Member States shall make every effort to prevent disputes on the interpretation or application of this Convention, and shall use their best efforts to resolve any disputes by peaceful means which may include consultation and negotiation with each other and any other means as agreed to by the parties to the dispute.

Article 18
Signature, Ratification, Acceptance, Approval and Accession

1. This Convention shall be open for signature by any State that is a member of the United Nations at Paris from 27 January 2021 and remain open until 26 January 2022.
2. This Convention is subject to ratification, acceptance or approval by the signatory States.
3. This Convention shall be open for accession by any State that is a member of the United Nations which has not signed this Convention from the day after the date on which this Convention closes for signature.
4. Instruments of ratification, acceptance, approval or accession shall be deposited with the Depository, who shall then notify all States having deposited such instruments with the Depository and the Secretary-General thereof.

Article 19
The Depository

The French Republic shall serve as the Depository for this Convention. This Convention shall be registered by the Depository pursuant to Article 102 of the Charter of the United Nations.

Article 20
Entry into force

1. This Convention shall enter into force on the ninetieth day after the date of deposit of the thirtieth instrument of ratification, acceptance, approval or accession.
2. For each State ratifying, accepting, approving or acceding to this Convention after its entry into force this Convention shall enter into force on the thirtieth day after the deposit of its instrument of ratification, acceptance, approval or accession.
3. The transitional arrangements that shall apply upon entry into force of this Convention are set out in the Annex.

Article 21
Withdrawal

1. Any Member State may withdraw from this Convention by giving at least twelve months' written notice to the Depositary, who shall immediately inform all Member States and the Secretary-general of such notification.
2. Notification of withdrawal may be deposited at any time after the expiration of six months from the date on which this Convention has entered into force.
3. The withdrawal shall take effect on 31st December of the year following that during which the notice of withdrawal was deposited.

Article 22
Termination

1. This Convention may be terminated by a vote of the General Assembly following at least six months' notice of such a vote.
2. The date of termination shall be twelve months after the date of the above decision, and in the intervening period the Council shall be responsible for the winding up of the Organization, in accordance with the General Regulations.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the undersigned, being duly authorized by their respective governments, have signed the present Convention.

DONE at Paris on 27 January 2021 in the Arabic, Chinese, English, French, Russian and Spanish languages, each text being equally authentic, an original of which shall be deposited in the archives of the Depositary. The Depositary shall transmit certified copies thereof to all the signatory and acceding governments and to the Secretary-General of the Organization.

Annex

Transitional Arrangements

At the XIth General Assembly held in A Coruña from 25th to 31st May 2014, the International Association of Marine Aids to Navigation and Lighthouse Authorities adopted a Resolution affirming that the status of an International Organization would best serve its objectives and determining that such status should be achieved as soon as possible by the means of the adoption of an international convention.

As a consequence, Article 13 of the Constitution of the International Association of Marine Aids to Navigation and Lighthouse Authorities was amended to facilitate the winding up of the association and the transition of its assets to the Organization.

The purpose of the transitional arrangements is to ensure the uninterrupted international efforts to develop, improve and harmonize Marine Aids to Navigation and to facilitate the transition from the International Association of Marine Aids to Navigation and Lighthouse Authorities to the Organization.

1. Upon the entry into force of this Convention, the President, Vice President and the Council of the International Association of Marine Aids to Navigation and Lighthouse Authorities shall be invited to become the President, Vice President and Council of the Organization and will operate as such until the first General Assembly convened under this Convention has elected a President, Vice President and Council, which must be within a period not exceeding six months.
2. The Committees of the International Association of Marine Aids to Navigation and Lighthouse Authorities shall operate until Committees are established under this Convention.
3. Until such time as the Secretariat of the Organization has been established, the Secretariat of the International Association of Marine Aids to Navigation and Lighthouse Authorities shall be invited to serve as, and perform the functions of, the Secretariat. The Secretary-General of the International Association of Marine Aids to Navigation and Lighthouse Authorities shall serve as the Secretary-General of the Organization until the General Assembly elects the Secretary-General in accordance with this Convention.
4. Until such time as the Organization has adopted General Regulations, it shall function in accordance with the General Regulations of the International Association of Marine Aids to Navigation and Lighthouse Authorities *mutatis mutandis*.
5. All national members of the International Association of Marine Aids to Navigation and Lighthouse Authorities from States that are not Member States shall, subject to their formal request, become Associate Members of the Organization for a duration of up to ten years from the date of entry into force of this Convention, unless the General Assembly decides to extend that period.
6. In the event that a State which has a former national member with Associate membership in accordance with paragraph 5 becomes a Member State, the Associate membership shall cease on the date on which this Convention enters into force for that State.

7. All Associate and Industrial Members of the International Association of Marine Aids to Navigation and Lighthouse Authorities up to date with their fees shall, subject to their formal request, become Affiliate Members of the Organization.
8. The transfer of rights, interests, assets and liabilities from the International Association of Marine Aids to Navigation and Lighthouse Authorities to the Organization will take place pursuant to French law.

MERCHANT SHIPPING ACT, 1951 (ACT NO. 57 OF 1951)**THE DRAFT CONSTRUCTION AMENDMENT REGULATIONS, 2023**

The Minister of Transport hereby in terms of section 356 of the Merchant Shipping Act, 1951 (Act No. 57 of 1951), publishes for comments the draft Construction Amendment Regulations, 2023 as indicated in the Schedule.

Interested persons are invited to submit written comments on this draft Regulations 2023, within 30 days from the date of publication of this notice in the Government Gazette.

All comments should be posted or emailed to the Director-General Department of Transport for the attention of Mr TM Matlala at:

Department of Transport
Private Bag x 193
Pretoria
0001

E-mail: matlalatm@dot.gov.za

Tel: 012 309 3799

SCHEDULE

Contents

GENERAL EXPLANATORY NOTE:

[] Words in bold type in square brackets indicate omissions from existing regulations.

_____ Words underlined with a solid line indicate insertions in existing regulations.

Amendment of Part I of the Regulations

1. Part I of the Regulations is hereby amended by the substitution in the Arrangement of Regulations (table of contents) of the following:

"[PART I

(Passenger Ships)

CHAPTER I-GENERAL]

GENERAL

2. **[Interpretation.]** Definitions

2A. General Exemption.

PART I

(Passenger Ships)

CHAPTER I – GENERAL

3. Application of Part I.
4. Classification of Ships.
- 4A. Compliance with the Safety Convention.**
5. Structural Strength.
6. Submission of plans.

CHAPTER II - WATERTIGHT SUBDIVISION

7. Application of Chapter II.
8. Water-tight subdivision.
9. Peak and machinery space bulkheads, shaft tunnels [, etc].
10. Double bottoms.
11. Stability in damaged condition.
12. Ballasting.
13. **[Construe on] Construction** of watertight bulkheads[, etc].
14. Openings in watertight bulkheads [, etc].
15. Means of closing openings in watertight bulkheads [, etc].
16. Means of operating a sliding watertight **[doors]door**.
17. Watertight **[doors-signals] door-signals** and communications.
18. Construction and initial test of watertight **[doors]closures**.
19. Openings in the shell plating below the margin line.
20. Side and Air openings above the margin line.
21. Weather deck.
22. Partial subdivision above the margin line.
23. Subdivision loadlines.
24. **[Exhibition of damage] Damage control **[plans] information**.**

[CHAPTER II (A) - REQUIREMENTS FOR SHIPS NOT REQUIRED TO COMPLY WITH CHAPTER II

25. **Application of Chapter II (A).**

26. Openings in the sides of the ship.]**CHAPTER III - BILGE PUMPING ARRANGEMENTS**

- 27. Application of Chapter III.
- 28. General.
- 29. Number and type of bilge pumps: **[ships of] Classes I and II ships.**
- 30. Number and type of bilge pumps: **[Ships of Class II (A)] Class IIA ships.**
- 31. Number and type of bilge pumps **[, etc.: Ships of];** Classes V and VI ships.
- 32. **[Requirements for bilge pumps and bilge suction] Bilge pump requirements and arrangements.**
- [33. Arrangement of bilge pipes.**
- 34. Diameter of bilge suction pipes.**
- 35. Precaution against flooding through bilge pipes.**
- 36. Bilge valves, cocks, etc.]**
- 37. Bilge mud boxes and strum boxes.
- 38. Sounding pipes.

CHAPTER IV - ELECTRICAL EQUIPMENT AND INSTALLATIONS

- 39. Application of Chapter IV.
- 40. General.
- 41. Main generating sets: **[Ships of Classes I, II and IIA] Class I, II and IIA ships.**
- 42. Emergency source of electric power: **[Ships of Classes] Class I, II and IIA ships.**
- 43. Emergency switchboards.
- 44. Distribution systems.
- 45. General electrical precautions.
- 46. Spare parts and tools.

**CHAPTER V - FIRE PROTECTION: [SHIPS OF CLASSES]CLASS I, II AND
IIA SHIPS**

47. Application of Chapter V.
48. Methods of fire protection.
49. Methods I, II and III.
50. Main vertical zones.
- 51. "A" and "B" Class divisions.**
- 52. Openings in "A" Class divisions.**
- 53. Openings in "B" Class divisions: Methods I and III.**
- 54. Bulkheads within main vertical zones: Methods I and III.**
- 55. Restriction of combustible material, etc.: Methods I and III.]**
56. Automatic fire alarm and fire detection systems: Methods I and III.
57. Automatic sprinkler, fire alarm and fire detection system: Method II.
58. Protection of stairways.
59. Separation of accommodation spaces from other enclosed spaces.
60. Protection of lifts and vertical trunks for light and air.
61. Protection of control stations.
62. Protection of store rooms [, etc.].
63. Ventilation systems.
64. Miscellaneous items of fire protection.

**CHAPTER V(A) - FIRE PROTECTION: [SHIPS OF CLASSES]CLASS I, II
AND [IIA]II(A) SHIPS**

65. Application of Chapter V (A).
66. General.

**CHAPTER V(B): FIRE PROTECTION: [SHIPS OF CLASSES]CLASS V AND
VI SHIPS**

67. Application of Chapter V (B).
68. Structure of the ship.
69. Divisions.

CHAPTER VI-BOILERS AND MACHINERY

70. Application of Chapter VI
71. General: Boilers, machinery, other pressure vessels, associated piping systems and fittings.
72. Boilers and other pressure vessels.
73. Machinery and machinery control.
- 73A Refrigeration systems.
74. **[Power for] Means of going astern.**
75. Shafts, gearing and coupling for transmission.
76. Boiler feed systems.
77. Steam pipe systems.
78. Air pressure systems.
79. Cooling water systems.
80. **[Oil] Lubricating oil systems [for lubricating, cooling and control].**
81. Oil fuel installations (boilers and machinery).
82. Oil fuel and gas installations (cooking ranges and other heating appliances).
83. Ventilation and ventilation systems in machinery spaces.
84. Communication between bridge and engine room.
85. Steering gear.
86. Spare gear.
- 86A. Location of emergency installations in passenger ships.
- 86B. Protection from noise.
- 86C. Engineer's alarm.
- 86D. Special consideration: Periodically unattended machinery space.

CHAPTER VII - MISCELLANEOUS

87. Application of Chapter VII.
88. Anchors and chain cables.
89. Hawsers and warps.
90. Means of escape.

91. Guard rails, ~~[stanchion's]~~stanchions and bulwarks.
91A Ventilation for spaces.

CHAPTER VIII - EQUIVALENTS AND EXEMPTIONS

92. Equivalents.
93. General exemption.
94. Exemption for certain ships on limited service.
95. Exemption in respect of double bottoms.
96. Exemption in respect of openings in the shell plating below the margin line.
97. Exemption in respect of methods of fire protection.
98. Exemption in respect of "A" and "B" Class divisions.
99. Exemption in respect of automatic fire alarm and fire detection systems: Methods I and II.
100. Exemption in respect of automatic sprinkler, fire alarm and fire detection systems.
101. Exemption in respect of protection of stairways.
102. Exemption in respect of miscellaneous items of fire protection.
103. Exemption in respect of structure of Class V or VI ship.
104. Exemption in respect of means of escape."

Amendment of Part I of the Regulations

1. Part I of the Regulations is hereby amended by the substitution for the heading of Part I of the Regulations of the following:

"[PART I

(Passenger Ships.)

CHAPTER I-GENERAL]

GENERAL.**Amendment of regulation 2 of the Regulations**

2. Regulation 2 of the Regulations is hereby amended by the—

(a) substitution for the introductory paragraph of the following paragraph:

"In [~~this part~~]these Regulations, the expression "the Act" means the Merchant Shipping Act, 1951 (Act No. 57 of 1951), and unless the context otherwise indicates, any expression used in [~~this part o~~]these Regulations, to which a meaning has been assigned in the Act, bears the meaning so assigned, and—";

(b) substitution for the definition of **"A" Class division** of the following definition:

"A" Class division means **[~~a bulkhead or part of a deck, in either case complying with such of the requirements of regulation 51 as are expressed to apply to "A" Class divisions~~]a division that has undergone the Authority-required test of a prototype bulkhead or deck in accordance with the Fire Test Procedures Code to ensure that it meets the above requirements for integrity and temperature rise and is formed by bulkheads and decks which—**

(a) are constructed of steel or other equivalent material;

(b) are suitably stiffened;

(c) are insulated with approved non-combustible materials such that the average temperature of the unexposed side will not rise more than 140° C. above the original temperature, nor will the temperature, at any one point, including any joint, rise more than 180° C. above the original temperature, within the time listed below:

(i) class "A-60" 60 min;

(ii) class "A-30" 30 min;

(iii) class "A-15" 15 min; and

- (iv) class "A-0" 0 min; and
- (d) are constructed as to be capable of preventing the passage of smoke and flame to the end of the one-hour standard fire test;";
- (c) substitution for the definition of "accommodation space" of the following definition:
- "["accommodation space" includes—**
- (a) passenger spaces,**
- (b) crew spaces,**
- (c) offices,**
- (d) pantries, and**
- (e) space similar to any of the foregoing, not being service spaces or open spaces on deck,]**
- "accommodation spaces" are those spaces used for public spaces, corridors, lavatories, cabins, offices, hospitals, cinemas, game and hobby rooms, barber shops, pantries containing no cooking appliances and similar spaces;"**
- (d) insertion after the definition of "accommodation space" of the following definition:
- "approved" means approved by the Authority;"**
- (e) substitution for the definition of "Authority" of the following definition:
- "Authority" means the [Minister in respect of a ship of Class I or II and the Secretary in respect of a ship of Class IIA, V or VI]South African Maritime Safety Authority established by section 2 of the South African Maritime Safety Authority Act, 1998 (Act No. 5 of 1998);"**
- (f) insertion after the definition of "auxiliary stairway" of the following definition:

“Auxiliary steering gear” means the equipment other than any part of the main steering gear necessary to steer the ship in the event of failure of the main steering gear but not including the tiller, quadrant or components serving the same purpose;”

- (g) substitution for the definition of “B” Class division” of the following definition:

“[“B” Class division” means a [bulkhead complying with such of the requirements of regulation 51 as are expressed to apply to “B” Class divisions]division that has undergone Authority-required test of a prototype division in accordance with the Fire Test Procedures Code to ensure that it meets the above requirements for integrity and temperature rise and is formed by bulkheads, decks, ceilings or linings which—

- (a) are constructed of approved non-combustible materials and all materials used in the construction and erection of “B” class divisions are non-combustible, with the exception that combustible veneers may be permitted provided they meet other appropriate requirements of these Regulations;
- (b) are constructed as to be capable of preventing the passage of flame to the end of the first half hour of the standard fire test; and
- (c) have an insulation value such that the average temperature of the unexposed side will not rise more than 140⁰ C. above the original temperature, nor will the temperature at any one point, including any joint, rise more than 225⁰ C. above the original temperature, within the time listed below:
- (i) class “B-15” 15 min; and
- (ii) class “B-0” 0 min;”

- (h) substitution for the definition of “cargo space” of the following definition:

“cargo space” means **[spaces appropriated] a space used for cargo, cargo oil tanks, tanks for other [than mail and bullion,] liquid cargo and [trunks] any trunk leading to such [spaces]a space;**”;

- (i) deletion of the definition of “constructed before or after any date”;
- (j) insertion after the definition of “constructed before or after any date” of the following definition:

“continuous rating” means **the brake horse power and speed stated by the manufacturer of the engine to be the highest at which the engine will give satisfactory service when operated continuously for not less than 24 hours;**”;

- (k) substitution for the definition of “control station” of the following definition:

“control station” [includes—

- (a) radiotelegraph room;
- (b) other enclosed space which houses—
 - (i) a compass, direction-finder, radar equipment, a steering wheel, or other similar equipment used in navigation;
 - (ii) a central indicator connected with a system for the detection of fire or smoke; or
 - (iii) an emergency generator] **means any space in which the ship’s radio or main navigating equipment or the emergency source of power is located or where the fire recording or fire control equipment is centralised;**”;

- (l) substitution for the definition of “criterion numeral” of the following definition:

“criterion numeral” in relation to any ship means the criterion numeral of the ship determined in accordance with **[such of the provisions of Annex 2] the**

applicable requirements of Chapter II-1 regulation 5, 6, 7 or 8 of the Safety Convention as [apply]it applies to that ship[.]”;

- (m) insertion after the definition of “criterion numeral” of the following definition:

“**dead ship condition**” means the condition under which the main propulsion plant, boilers and auxiliaries are not in operation due to the absence of power;”;

- (n) insertion after the definition of “draught” of the following definitions:

“**emergency condition**” means a condition under which any services needed for normal operational and habitable conditions are not in working order due to failure of the main source of electrical power;”;

“**emergency source of electrical power**” means a source of electrical power, intended to supply the emergency switchboard in the event of a failure of the supply from the main source of electrical power;”; and

“**emergency switchboard**” means a switchboard which in the event of failure of the main electrical power supply system is directly supplied by the emergency source of electrical power or the transitional source of emergency power and is intended to distribute electrical energy to the emergency services;”;

- (o) substitution for the definition of “factor of subdivision” of the following definition:

“**factor of subdivision**” in relation to any ship or portion thereof means the factor of subdivision **[determined in accordance with such of the provisions of Annex 2 as apply]applicable** to that ship or portion as the case may be;”;

- (p) insertion after the definition of “floodable length” of the following definitions:

“FSS Code” means the International Fire Safety Systems Code issued under the Safety Convention for fire safety systems that are designed to reduce the risk of fire, and aid in emergency response aboard ships;”

“FTP Code” means the International Fire Test Procedures Code, 2010 for application of fire test procedures, as adopted by the Maritime Safety Committee under the Safety Convention;”

“gross tonnage” in the case of a ship having dual tonnage, means the larger of the two gross tonnage figures;” and

“IGC Code” means the International Gas Carrier Code for the construction and equipment of ships carrying liquified gases in bulk;”

- (q) substitution for the definition of “incombustible material” of the following definition:

“incombustible material” means material which [when heated to a temperature of 1382° F. (750° C.)] neither burns nor gives off inflammable vapours in sufficient quantity [to ignite at a pilot-flame nor raises the temperature of the test furnace 90° F. (50°C.) or more above 382° F. (750° C.) when tested in accordance with British Standard Specification 476: Part 1: 1953]for self-ignition when heated to approximately 750° C, this being determined in accordance with the Fire Test Procedures Code and the expression “combustible material” shall be construed accordingly[.,.];”

- (r) insertion after the definition of “independent power pump” of the following definition:

“international voyage” means a voyage from a country to which the present Convention applies to a port outside such country, or conversely;”

- (s) substitution for the definition of "length" of the following definition:

“length” [in relation to a ship, means the length of a ship measured between perpendiculars taken at the extremities of the deepest subdivision load water line] means 96% of the total length on a waterline at 85% of the least moulded depth measured from the top of the keel, or the length from the fore-side of the stem to the axis of the rudder stock on that waterline, if that be greater: Provided in a ship designed with a rake of keel the waterline on which this is measured shall be parallel to the designed waterline;

- (t) insertion after the definition of "length" of the following definition:

“machinery control room” means a room from which the propelling machinery and boilers serving the needs of propulsion may be controlled;

- (u) substitution for the definitions of "machinery space" of the following definition:

“machinery space” [in every Chapter, other than Chapters V, V (A) and V (B), means any space extending from the moulded baseline of the ship to the margin line and between the extreme transverse watertight bulkheads bounding the spaces containing the main and auxiliary propelling machinery, boilers serving the need; of propulsion, when installed, and the permanent coal bunkers, if any;

“machinery space” in Chapters V, V (A) and V (B), means any space used for propelling, auxiliary or refrigerating machinery, boilers, pumps, engineers’ workshops, generators, ventilation or air conditioning machinery, oil filling stations and similar spaces and trunkways to such spaces] means any machinery space of category A and any other space containing propelling machinery, a boiler, oil fuel unit, steam and internal combustion engine, generator and major electrical machinery, oil filling station,

refrigerating, stabilising, ventilation and air conditioning machinery, and a similar space, and any trunk to such a space;”;

- (v) insertion after the definition of “machinery space” of the following definition:

“machinery space of category A” means a space and trunk to such a space which contains:

- (a) internal combustion machinery used for main propulsion;
- (b) internal combustion machinery used for purposes other than main propulsion where such machinery has in the aggregate a total power output of not less than 375 kW; or
- (c) any oil-fired boiler or oil fuel unit;”;

- (w) insertion after the definition of “main circulation pump” of the following definitions:

“main generating station” means the space in which the main source of electrical power is situated;”;

“main steering gear” means the machinery, rudder actuators, steering gear, power units, if any, and ancillary equipment and the means of applying torque to the rudder stock (e.g. tiller or quadrant) necessary for effecting movement of the rudder for the purpose of steering the ship under normal service conditions;”;

“main switchboard” means a switchboard which is directly supplied by the main source of electrical power and is intended to distribute electrical energy to the ship's services;”; and

“main source of electrical power” means a source intended to supply electrical power to the main switchboard for distribution to all services necessary for maintaining the ship in normal operational and habitable conditions;”;

- (x) substitution for the definition of "main vertical zones" of the following definition:

"main vertical zones" means ~~[the main vertical zones]~~ those sections into which the hull, superstructure and deckhouses ~~[of a ship]~~ are divided ~~[in accordance with regulation 50 (1)]~~ by "A" class divisions, the mean length and width of which on any deck does not in general exceed 40 m;;

- (y) substitution for the definition of "margin line" of the following definition:

"margin line" means a line drawn at least ~~[3 inches]~~ 76 millimetres below the upper surface of the bulkhead deck at the side of ship and assumed for the purpose of determining the floodable length of the ship;";

- (z) substitution for the definition of "mile" of the following definition:

"mile" means a nautical mile of ~~[6,080 feet,]~~ 1,852 meters;";

- (aa) substitution for the definition of "oil fuel unit" of the following definition:

"oil fuel unit" means the equipment used for the preparation of oil fuel for delivery to ~~[the oil burners of]~~ an oil-fired boiler, or equipment used for the preparation for delivery of heated oil to an internal combustion engine, and includes ~~[the]~~ any associated oil pressure ~~[pumps, filters]~~ pump, filter and ~~[heaters]~~ heater dealing with oil at a pressure of more than 0.18 N/mm²;";

- (bb) substitution for the definition of "passenger space" of the following definition:

"passenger space" means any space provided for the use of a passenger;";

- (cc) deletion of the definition of "public rooms";

- (dd) insertion after the definition of "permissible length" of the following definition:

“public space” means those portions of the accommodation which are used for halls, dining rooms, lounges and similar permanently enclosed spaces;”

(ee) deletion of the definition of “radiotelegraph rooms”;

(ff) substitution for the definition of “service space” of the following definition:

“service space” includes [galleys, main pantries, laundries, store rooms, paint rooms, baggage rooms, mail rooms, bullion rooms, carpenters’ and plumbers’ workshops, and trunkways] a galley, main pantry, laundry, store room, paint room, baggage room, mail room, carpenters’ and plumbers’ workshop, and trunkway leading to such [spaces]a space;”

(gg) substitution for the definition of “settling tank” of the following definition:

“settling tank” means [an oil storage tank having a heating surface of not less than 2 square feet per ton of oil capacity]a deep tank in the engine room used for pre-cleaning of fuel oils by heat or gravity;”

(hh) insertion after the definition of “settling tank” of the following definition:

“sister vessel” means a vessel exactly similar in design to one already dealt with under a particular Part of these Regulations;”

(ii) substitution for the definition of “standard fire test” of the following definition:

“standard fire test” means a test in which specimens of the relevant bulkheads or decks [having a surface area of not less than [50 square feet]15.24 centimetres and a height of [8 feet]2.43 meters, resembling as closely as possible the intended construction and including where appropriate at

**least one joint,] are exposed in a test furnace to [a series of time temperature relationships,] temperatures corresponding approximately [as follows:-
At the end of the first 5 minutes-1,000° F. (538° C.);
At the end of the first 10 minutes-1,300° F. (704°C.);
At the end of the first 30 minutes-1,550° F. (843° C.); and
At the end of the first 60 minutes-1,700° F. (927° C.)] to the standard time-temperature curve in accordance with the test method specified in the Fire Test Procedures Code;"**

- (jj) insertion after the definition of "standard fire test" of the following definition:

"steel or other equivalent material" means any non-combustible material which, by itself or due to insulation provided, has structural and integrity properties equivalent to steel at the end of the applicable exposure to the standard fire test;

- (kk) substitution for the definition of "steering gear power unit" of the following definition:

"steering gear power unit" means:-

- (a) in the case of electric steering gear, **[the]an** electric motor and its associated electrical equipment; **[or]**
- (b) in the case of electro-hydraulic steering gear, **[the]an** electric motor, its associated electrical equipment and connected pump~~[,]~~; or
- (c) in the case of **[steam-hydraulic or pneumatic]other** hydraulic steering gear, **[the]a** driving engine and connected pump;"

- (ll) substitution for the definition of "subdivision load water line" of the following definition:

“**subdivision load water line**” means the water line assumed in determining the subdivision of the ship in accordance with **[this] Part I of the regulations;**”;

(mm) substitution for the definition of “suitable” of the following definition:

“**suitable**” in relation to material means approved by the **[Secretary]Authority** as suitable for the purpose for which it is used;”;

(nn) substitution for the definition of “surface spread of flame” of the following definition:

“**surface spread of flame**” for the purpose of Chapter V, means the surface spread of flame classified as Class 1 **[o r]**or Class 2 within the meaning of Section 2 of British Standard Specification 476: Part I: 1953;”;

(oo) insertion after the definition of “surface spread of flame” of the following definitions:

“**tanker**” means a ship, other than a passenger ship, constructed or adapted for the carriage in bulk of liquid cargoes of an inflammable nature;”;

“**the Regulations**” means the Construction Regulations, 1968 published in Government Gazette No. 1955 by Government Notice No. R. 79 dated 19 January 1968, as amended”;

(pp) substitution for the definition of “watertight” of the following definition:

“**watertight**” **[in relation to a structure,]** means **[its capability]**having scantlings and arrangements capable of preventing the passage of water **[through the structure]** in any direction under a head of water **[up to the ship’s**

margin line]likely to occur in intact and damaged conditions: Provided in the damaged condition, the head of water is to be considered in the worst situation at equilibrium, including intermediate stages of flooding;”;

(qq) insertion after the definition of “watertight” of the following definition:

““weather deck” is a deck which is completely exposed to the weather from above and from at least two sides: and”; and

(rr) substitution for the definition of “weathertight” of the following definition:

““weathertight” [in relation to a structure means its capability of preventing the passage of sea water through the structure in ordinary sea conditions]means that in any sea conditions water will not penetrate into the ship:”.

Insertion of regulations 2A of the Regulations

1. The following regulation is hereby inserted after regulation 2:

“2A. General Exemption

(1) A ship to which these Regulations apply, which is not normally engaged on international voyages but which, in exceptional circumstances, is required to undertake a single international voyage may be exempted by the Authority from any of the requirements of the present Regulations provided that it complies with safety requirements which are adequate in the opinion of the Authority for the voyage which is to be undertaken by the ship.

(2) (a) The Authority may exempt any ship which embodies features of a novel kind, design and construction from any of the provisions of these Regulations the application of which might seriously impede research into

the development of such features and their incorporation in ships engaged on international voyages.

- (b) Any such ship shall, however, comply with safety requirements which, in the opinion of that Authority, are adequate for the service for which it is intended and are such as to ensure the overall safety of the ship and which are acceptable to the Governments of the States to be visited by the ship."

Insertion of heading of Part I, Chapter I of the Regulations

2. The following heading is inserted in Part I, Chapter I of the Regulations after regulation 2A:

"PART I

(Passenger Ships)

CHAPTER I – GENERAL"

Substitution of regulation 3 of the Regulations

3. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 3 of the Regulations:

"3. Application of this Part

This ~~[part]~~Part applies to ~~[every]~~a passenger ship of 25 gross tons or over, registered or licensed in the Republic or which is, in terms of the Act, required to be so registered or licensed, and to ~~[every]~~a passenger ship **[which is]** registered in a country other than the Republic."

Substitution of regulation 4 of the Regulations

4. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 4 of the Regulations:

"4. Classification of ships

(1) The ships to which this Part applies are divided into the following classes: -

Class I- A passenger ship engaged on voyages any of which are international voyages other than short international voyages[.];

Class II- A passenger ship, other than a ship of Class I engaged [oron] voyages any of which are short international voyages[.];

Class IIA- A ship of [70 feet]21 meters in length or over, other than a ship of Class V or VI, engaged on voyages of any kind other than international voyages[.];

Class III- Not yet allocated[.];

Class IV- Not yet allocated[.];

Class V- A passenger ship of [50 feet in length]25 gross tons or over engaged only on voyages to sea in fine weather with not more than 40 persons on board, in the course of which voyages the ship is at no time more than 40 miles from the point of departure nor more than 15 miles from land[.]; and

Class VI- A passenger ship which operates at a port or is engaged on voyages to sea in fine weather with not more than 250 persons on board, in the course of which voyages the ship is at no time more than 15 miles [fro m]from the point of departure nor more than 5 miles from land.

(2) For the purposes of [paragraph]subregulation (1), "voyage" includes an excursion."

Insertion of regulations 4A of the Regulations

5. The following regulation is inserted in Part I, Chapter I of the Regulations after regulation 4:

"4A. Compliance with the Safety Convention

A Class I, II and IIA of over 500 gross tons, shall be constructed in compliance with the applicable requirements of, Chapter II-1 of the Safety Convention and the applicable Codes.”.

Substitution of regulation 5 of the Regulations

6. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 5 of the Regulations:

“5. Structural Strength

The structural strength of **[every]a** ship shall be sufficient for the service for which the ship is intended.”.

Substitution of regulation 6 of the Regulations

7. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 6 of the Regulations:

“6. Submission of Plans

Before the construction or modification of **[any]a** ship is commenced, **[or at an any stage thereafter, the]a** builder or owner thereof shall submit in duplicate to the Authority the plans particular set forth in Annex 1 for approval.”.

Substitution of regulation 7 of the Regulations

8. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 7 of the Regulations:

“7. Application of Chapter II

Unless otherwise indicated in this Chapter, this Chapter applies to **[every ship of Class I, II, IIA, V or VI] a Class I and II or a Class IIA, V and VI ship of less than 500 gross tons** except an open or partially decked ship of Class V or a ship of Class VI **[carrying fewer than 151 passengers, and a “Chapter I ship” means a ship to which this Chapter applies].”.**

Substitution of regulation 8 of the Regulations

9. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 8 of the Regulations:

"8. Watertight subdivisions

[Every Chapter II ship shall be subdivided by bulkheads, which shall be watertight up to the bulkhead deck, into compartments the maximum length of which shall be calculated in accordance with such of the provisions of Annex 2 as apply to the ship. Every other portion of the internal structure which affects the efficiency of the subdivision of the ship shall be watertight and shall be of a design which will maintain the integrity of the subdivision]

A Class IIA, V and VI ship shall be subdivided by bulkheads, which shall be watertight up to the bulkhead deck, into compartments the maximum length of which shall be calculated in accordance with the requirements of Chapter II-1 regulation 6 and 13 of the Safety Convention."

Amendment of regulation 9 of the Regulations

10. Regulation 9 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

- (a) by the substitution for the heading of regulation 9 of the following heading:

"9. Peak and machinery space bulkheads, shaft tunnels[, etc.]";

- (b) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following:

"[(1) Every Chapter II ship shall be provided with a collision bulkhead which shall be watertight up to the bulkhead deck and shall be fitted at a distance from the ship's forward perpendicular of not less than 5 per cent of the length of the ship and not more than 10 feet plus 5 per

cent of such length. If the ship has a forward superstructure, the collision bulkhead shall be extended weathertight to the deck next above the bulkhead deck. The extension shall not be required to be fitted directly over the bulkhead below, provided that it is at least 5 per cent of the length of the ship from the forward perpendicular and the part of the bulkhead deck which forms the step is made effectively weathertight. The plating and stiffeners of such extension shall be constructed in accordance with the provisions of Annex 4 as if the extension formed part of a bulkhead immediately below the bulkhead deck.]

A Class IIA, V and VI ship shall be provided with peak and machinery space bulkheads, shaft tunnels which shall be in accordance with the requirements of Chapter II-1 regulation 12 of the Safety Convention.”; and

- (c) by the deletion of subregulations (2) and (3).

Amendment of regulation 10 of the Regulations

11. Regulation 10 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

- (a) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following regulation:

“[(1) Subject to the provisions of this regulation, every ship of Class I, II or IIA shall be fitted with a watertight double bottom which shall be at least of the following extent-] A Class IIA, V and VI ship shall be fitted with a watertight double bottom which shall be in accordance with the requirements of Chapter II-1 regulation 12 of the Safety Convention.”;

- (b) by the deletion in subregulation (1) of paragraphs (a), (b) and (c); and
- (c) by the deletion of subregulations (2), (3), (4) and (5).

Amendment of regulation 11 of the Regulations

12. Regulation 11 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

(a) by the substitution in subregulation (1) for paragraph (a) of the following regulation:

"11. Stability in damaged condition

[(1) (a) Every Chapter II ship shall be so constructed as to provide sufficient intact stability in all service conditions to enable the ship to withstand the final flooding of any one of the main compartments into which the ship is subdivided in accordance with the provisions of regulation 8. If two of the main compartments, being adjacent to each other, are separated by a bulkhead which is stepped under the conditions of paragraph 6 (3) (a) of Annex 2, the intact stability shall be adequate to withstand the final flooding of those two adjacent main compartments.]

A Class IIA, V and VI ship shall be so constructed as to provide sufficient intact stability in all service conditions to enable the ship to withstand the final flooding of any one of the main compartments into which the ship is subdivided in accordance with the applicable requirements of Chapter II-1 regulation 5, 6, 7 or 8 of the Safety Convention,"; and

(b) by the deletion of paragraphs (b) and (c) in sub-regulation (1); and

(c) by the deletion of subregulations (2), (3) and (4).

Substitution of regulation 12 of the Regulations

13. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 12 of the Regulations:

"12. Ballasting

In **[every Chapter II ship]**a Class IIA, V and VI ship shall, when ballasting with water is necessary, the water ballast shall not **[in general]** be carried in tanks intended for oil fuel. **[In a ship in which it is not practicable to avoid putting water in oil fuel tanks, oily-water separator equipment to the satisfaction of the Authority shall be fitted, or an alternative means acceptable to the Authority shall be provided for disposing of the oily-water ballast.]**".

Amendment of regulation 13 of the Regulations

14. Regulation 13 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

- (a) by the substitution for the heading of regulation 13 of the following heading:

"13. Construction of watertight bulkheads[, etc.]";

- (b) by the substitution for in regulation 13 for subregulation (1) of the following:

"[(1)] In **[every Chapter II ship]a Class IIA, V and VI ship shall, every portion of the ship required by this Part to be watertight, shall be constructed in accordance with such of the requirements of Chapter II-1 regulation 10 of the Safety Convention."; and**

- (c) by the deletion of subregulation (2).

Amendment of regulation 14 of the Regulations

15. Regulation 14 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

(a) by the substitution for the heading of regulation 14 of the following heading:

"14. Openings in watertight bulkheads[, etc.]";

(b) by the deletion of subregulation (1);

(c) by the substitution for subregulation (2) of the following subregulation:

"(2) In **[every ship of]**a Class **[I, II or] IIA ship, [bulkheads]**a bulkhead outside **[the spaces]**any space containing machinery which **[are]**is required by this Part to be watertight, shall not be pierced by openings which are capable of being closed only by portable bolted plates.";

(d) by the substitution for subregulation (3) of the following subregulation:

"(3) In **[every Chapter II ship of]**a Class **IIA, Class V or VI ship, [bulkheads]**a bulkhead required by this Part to be watertight, shall not be pierced by **[doorways, ventilation trunks,]**a doorway, ventilation trunk or other similar **[openings]**opening shall be in accordance with the requirements prescribed in Chapter II-1 regulation 13 of the Safety Convention."; and

(e) by the deletion of subregulation (4).

Amendment of regulation 15 of the Regulations

16. Regulation 15 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

- (a) by the substitution for the heading of regulation 15 of the following heading:

"15. Means of closing openings in watertight bulkheads[, etc.]";

- (b) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following subregulation:

"(1) In **[every slip of]**a Class **[I, II or]** IIA ship, efficient means shall be provided for closing and making watertight **[all openings]**any opening in **[bulkheads and]**any bulkhead or other **[structures]**structure required by this Part to be watertight in accordance with Chapter II-1 regulation 13 of the Safety Convention."; and

- (c) by the deletion of subregulations (2), (3), (4), (5), (6) and (7).

Amendment of regulation 16 of the Regulations

17. Regulation 16 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

- (a) by the substitution for the heading of regulation 16 of the following heading:

"16. Means of operating a sliding watertight [doors]door";

- (b) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following subregulation:

"(1) In **[any ship of]**a Class **[I, II or]** IIA ship which is not required to be subdivided **[in accordance with Part III of Annex 2,]**any sliding watertight door fitted in a bulkhead is in a position which may require it to be opened at sea and the sill thereof is below the deepest subdivision load water line, the requirements of Chapter II-1 regulation 13 of the Safety Convention **[following provisions]** shall apply[-.

- (a) **when the number of such doors (excluding doors at entrances to shaft tunnels) exceeds five, all such and those at the entrances to shaft tunnels, ventilation, forced draught or similar ducts, shall be power operated and shall be capable of being simultaneously closed from a single position situated on the navigating bridge;**
- (b) **when the number of such doors (excluding doors at entrances to shaft tunnels) is greater than one, but does not exceed five,**
 - (i) **where the ship has no passenger spaces below the bulkhead deck, all such doors may be hand operated;**
 - (ii) **where the ship has passenger spaces below the bulkhead deck, all such doors and those at the entrances to shaft tunnels, ventilation or forced draught or similar ducts, shall be power operated and shall be capable of being simultaneously closed from a single position situated on the navigating bridge;**
- (c) **in any ship where there are only two such doors and they lead into or are within the space containing machinery, the Authority may permit them to be hand operated only]."; and**

- (c) by the deletion of subregulations (2), (3), (4), (5), (6), (7), (8), (9), (10), (11), (12), and (13).

Amendment of regulation 17 of the Regulations

18. Regulation 17 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

- (a) by the substitution for the heading of regulation 17 of the following heading:

"17. Watertight [~~doors-signals~~door-signals and communications";

(b) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following subregulation:

"(1) **[Every]**~~A~~ sliding watertight door fitted in a **[ship of]** Class **[I, II or] IIA ship**, shall be connected with an indicator at each position from which the door may be closed, other than at the door itself, showing when the door is open and when it is closed in accordance with Chapter II-1 regulation 13 of the Safety Convention."; and

(c) by the deletion of subregulation (2) and subregulation (3).

Amendment of regulation 18 of the Regulations

19. Regulation 18 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

(a) by the substitution for the heading of regulation 18 of the following heading:

"18. Construction and initial test of watertight [~~doors~~ closures";

(b) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following subregulation:

"(1) **[Every]**~~A~~ closure required by this Part to be watertight shall **[be of such design, material and construction iron as will maintain the integrity of the watertight bulkhead in which it is fitted. Any such door giving direct access to any space which may contain bunker coal shall, together with its frame, be made of cast or mild steel. Any such door in any other position shall, together with its frame, be made of cast or mild steel or cast iron.]**be in accordance with the requirements prescribed in Chapter II-1 regulation 16 of the Safety Convention."; and

- (c) by the deletion of subregulations (2), (3), (4), (5), (6), (7) and (8).

Amendment of regulation 19 of the Regulations

20. Regulation 19 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

- (a) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following subregulation:

"[(1)]In [every Chapter II]a Class IIA, V or VI ship, the number of side scuttles, scupper, sanitary discharges and other openings in the shell plating below the margin line, shall be the minimum compatible with the design and proper working of the ship, shall be in accordance with the requirements prescribed in Chapter II-1 regulation 15 of the Safety Convention."; and

- (b) by the deletion of subregulation (2), (3), (4), (5), (6), (7) and (8).

Substitution of regulation 20 of the Regulations

21. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 20 of the Regulations:

"20. Side and other openings above the margin line

[(1)]In [every Chapter II]a Class IIA, V or VI ship, [side scuttles, windows, gangway doors, cargo ports, bunkering ports, and other openings]a side scuttle, window, gangway door, cargo port, bunkering port, or any other opening in the shell plating above the margin line and [their]its means of closing, shall be of efficient design and construction and of sufficient strength having regard to the [spaces it]space in which [they are]it is fitted and [their positions]its position relative to the deepest subdivision load

water line and to the intended service of the ship in accordance with the requirements of Chapter II-1 regulation 17 of the Safety Convention.

[(2) In every Chapter II ship, efficient inside deadlights, which can be easily closed and secured watertight, shall be provided for all side scuttles to spaces below the first deck above the bulkhead deck.]”.

Substitution of regulation 21 of the Regulations

22. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 21 of the Regulations:

"21. Weather deck

(1) In [every Chapter II]a Class IIA, V or VI ship[,] =

(a) the bulkhead deck or a deck above the bulkhead deck shall be weathertight[.];

(b) [All openings]an opening in an exposed weathertight deck shall have coamings of adequate height and strength and shall be provided with efficient and rapid means of closing so as to make [them]such opening weathertight[.]; and

(c) [Freeing ports, open rails and scuppers]a freeing port, open rail or scupper, shall be fitted as necessary for rapidly clearing the weather deck of water under all weather conditions,

in accordance with the requirements prescribed in Chapter II-1 regulation 17 of the Safety Convention."

Repeal of regulation 22 of the Regulations

23. Regulation 22 of the Regulations is hereby repealed.

Amendment of regulation 23 of the Regulations

24. Regulation 23 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

(a) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following subregulation:

"23. Subdivision load lines

(1) **[Every Chapter II]A Class IIA, V or VI** ship shall be marked on its sides amidships with the subdivision load lines assigned to it by the **[Minister in the case of an international load line ship or the Secretary in the case of a local load line ship. The marks shall consist of horizontal lines one inch in breadth, and nine inches in length in the case of a ship which is a load line ship for the purposes of the Act and 12 inches in length in the case of any other ship. The marks shall be painted white or yellow on a dark ground or in black on a light ground, and shall also be cut in or centre punched or indicated by welded bead on iron or steel ships, and cut into the planking on wood ships.]Authority shall be in accordance with the requirements prescribed in Chapter II-1 regulation 18 of the Safety Convention."; and**

(b) by the deletion of subregulation (2).

Amendment of regulation 24 of the Regulations

25. Regulation 24 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

(a) by the substitution for the heading of regulation 24 of the following heading:

"24. [Exhibition of damage]Damage control [plans]information"; and

(b) by the substitution for regulation 24 of the following:

(1) In **[every Chapter II]**a Class IIA, V or VI ship, there shall be permanently exhibited for the information of the officer in charge of the ship, **information and plans** showing clearly for each deck and hold the boundaries of the watertight compartments, the openings therein, that means of closing such openings, the position of the controls and the arrangements for the correction of any list due to flooding **in accordance with Chapter II-1 regulation 19 of the Safety Convention.**

(2) In addition **to the plans referred to in subregulation (1),** booklets containing such information shall be available for the use of the officers of the ship."

Repeal of Chapter II(A) in Part I of the Regulations

26. Chapter II(A) in Part I of the Regulations is hereby repealed.

Substitution of regulation 27 of the Regulations

27. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 27 of the Regulations:

"27. Application of Chapter III

Unless otherwise indicated in this Chapter, this Chapter applies to **[every ship of Class I, II, IIA, V or VI]** and a "Chapter III ship" means a ship to which **this Chapter applies]** **a Class I and II or a Class IIA, V and VI ship of less than 500 gross tons.**"

Substitution of regulation 28 of the Regulations

28. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 28 of the Regulations:

"28. General

(1) **[Except in the case of an open ship of Class VI not exceeding 40 feet in length, and not proceeding on voyages to a point more than 5 miles from the starting point, every Chapter III]A Class II, A, V or VI** ship shall be provided with—

(a) **an efficient** pumping plant capable of pumping from and draining any watertight compartment in the ship, other than a space permanently appropriated for the carriage of fresh water, water ballast or oil and for which other efficient means of pumping or drainage is provided under all conditions likely to arise in practice after a casualty, whether or not the ship remains upright[.];

(b) **[Wing]wing** suction **[shall be provided]** if necessary, for **[that purpose.]the purposes of paragraph (a);**

(c) **[Efficient]efficient** arrangements **[shall be provided]** whereby water in any watertight compartment may find its way to the suction pipes[.];

(d) **[Efficient]efficient** means **[shall be provided]** for draining water from all insulated hulls and insulated between decks in the ship[.]; Provided that the Authority may allow the provision for drainage to be omitted in a particular compartment if **[he]the Authority** is satisfied[:]=

[(a)] (i) that having regard to the calculations made **[in accordance with the conditions set out in Annex 3]for stability in damaged condition**, the safety of the ship will not thereby be impaired; and

[(b)] (ii) that the provision of drainage would otherwise be undesirable.”.

Amendment of regulation 29 of the Regulations

29. Regulation 29 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

(a) by the substitution for the heading of regulation 29 of the following heading:

"29. Number and type of bilge pumps: [ships of] Classes I and II ships";

(b) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following subregulation:

"(1) [Every Ship of]A Class I or II ship shall be provided with [pumps connected to the bilge main] the required number and type of bilge pumps in accordance with the [following table—] requirements of Chapter II-1 regulation 35-1 of the Safety Convention.";

(c) by the deletion of the table in subregulation (1); and

(d) by the deletion of subregulation (2).

Amendment of regulation 30 of the Regulations

30. Regulation 30 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

(a) by the substitution for the heading of regulation 30 of the following heading:

"30. Number and type of bilge pumps: [ships of Class II (A)]Class IIA ships";

(b) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following subregulation:

“(1) Every ship of ~~A~~ Class IIA ship shall be provided with bilge pumps in accordance with item ~~[(c), (d) or (e)](b)~~, whichever is appropriate, of the following table-”;

(c) by the substitution for the table in subregulation (1) of the following table:

[

Length of Ship in feet	Number of Pumps		
	Main Engine Pump*	Independent Power Pumps	Hand Pumps†
(a) Under 50	1	-	One of the lever type for each watertight compartment, or one of the crank type.
(b) 50 feet and under 70	1	1	One of the lever type for each watertight compartment, or one of the crank type
(c) 70 and under 100	1	1	One of the lever type for each watertight compartment, or one of the crank type.
(d) 100 and under 250	1	1	One of the crank type
(e) 250 and over	1	2	--

]

<u>Ship</u>	<u>Number of Pumps</u>
-------------	------------------------

	<u>Main engine pump*</u>	<u>Independent power pumps</u>	<u>Hand pumps†</u>
<u>(a) Under 14 meters</u>	<u>1</u>	<u>=</u>	<u>One of the lever type for each watertight compartment, or one of the crank type for each watertight compartment.</u>
<u>(b) 14 meters and under 500 gross tons</u>	<u>1</u>	<u>1</u>	<u>=</u>
<u>(c) above 500 gross tons</u>	<u>requirements of Chapter II-1 regulation 35-1 of the Safety Convention.</u>		

* The main engine pump may be replaced by one independent power pump.

† The handpumps specified in this column may be replaced by one independent power pump."; and

(d) by the deletion of subregulation (2).

Amendment of regulation 31 of the Regulations

31. Regulation 31 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

(a) by the substitution for the heading of regulation 31 of the following heading:

"31. Number and type of bilge pumps[, etc.: ships of] Classes V and VI ships";

(b) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following subregulation:

"(1) **[Every ship of]**~~A~~ Class V ship shall be provided with bilge pumps in accordance with item (b), or (c), ~~[(d) or (e),]~~ whichever is appropriate, of the table set forth in regulation ~~[30(1)]~~30."; and

(c) by the substitution for subregulation (2) of the following subregulation:

"(2) **[Every ship of]**~~A~~ Class VI ship shall be provided with bilge pumps ~~[m]~~in accordance with the appropriate item of the table set forth in regulation ~~[30(1)]~~30."

Amendment of regulation 32 of the Regulations

32. Regulation 32 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

(a) by the substitution for the heading of regulation 31 of the following heading:

"32. ~~[Requirements for bilge pumps and bilge suction]~~Bilge pump requirements and arrangements";

(b) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following subregulation:

"[(1) Power bilge pumps fitted in any Chapter III ship, shall, where practicable, be placed in separate watertight compartments so arranged or situated as not to be readily flooded by the same damage, and if the ship's engines and boilers are in two or more watertight compartments, the bilge pumps there available shall be distributed through such compartments as far as possible]

In a Class I, II, IIA, V and VI ship, the following bilge pump requirements and arrangements shall be in accordance with the requirements of Chapter II-1 regulation 35-1 of the Safety Convention:

- (a) Arrangement of bilge pipes;
- (b) Diameter of bilge suction pipes;
- (c) Precautions against flooding through bilge pipes; and
- (d) Bilge valves, cocks."; and

(c) by the deletion of subregulations (2), (3), (4), (5) and (6).

Repeal of regulations 33, 34, 35 and 36 of the Regulations

33. Regulations 33, 34, 35 and 36 of the Regulations are hereby repealed.

Substitution of regulation 37 of the Regulations

34. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 37 of the Regulations:

"37. Bilge mud boxes and strum boxes

- (1) **[Bilge suctions]**A bilge suction in the machinery space of **[every Chapter III]a Class I, II, IIA, V or VI** ship shall be led from readily accessible mud boxes placed wherever practicable above the level of the working floor of such a space.
- (2) The boxes in subregulation (1) shall have straight tailpipes of the bilges and covers secured in such a manner as will permit **[them]**the boxes to be readily opened and closed.
- (3) The suction ends in hold spaces and tunnel wells shall be enclosed in strum boxes having perforations approximately **[3/8 inch]**10 millimetres in diameter, and the combined area of such perforations shall be not less than twice that of the end of the suction pipe.

(4) [Strum boxes]A strum box shall be so constructed that **[they]it** can be cleared without breaking any joint of the suction pipe.”.

Substitution of regulation 38 of the Regulations

35. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 38 of the Regulations:

“38. Sounding pipes

(1) In [every ship to which Chapter II applies,]a Class I,II, IIA, V or VI ship—

(a) all tanks forming part of the structure of the ship and all watertight compartments, not being part of the machinery space, shall be provided with efficient sounding arrangements which shall be protected where necessary against damage[.];

(b) [Where such]where the arrangements **in paragraph (a)** consist of sounding pipes, a thick steel doubling plate shall be securely fixed below each sounding pipe for the sounding rod to strike upon[.];

(c) [All such]a sounding **[pipes]pipe** shall extend to **[positions]a position** above the ship's bulkhead deck which shall at all times be readily accessible[.];

(d) [Sounding pipes for bilges, cofferdams and double bottom tanks, being bilges, cofferdams and tanks]a sounding pipe for a bilge, cofferdam or double bottom tank, being a bilge, cofferdam or tank situated in the machinery space, shall so extend **as prescribed in paragraph (c),** unless the upper **[ends]end** of the **[pipes are]pipe is** accessible in ordinary circumstances and **[are]is** furnished with **[cocks]a cock** having parallel plugs with permanently secured handles so loaded that on being released, **[they]the plugs** automatically **[close]closes** the cocks[.]; and

(e) **[Sounding pipes]**a sounding pipe for the bilges of insulated holds shall be insulated and not less than **[2½ inches]**65 millimetres in diameter.”.

Substitution of regulation 39 of the Regulations

36. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 39 of the Regulations:

“39. Application of Chapter IV

Unless otherwise indicated in this Chapter, this Chapter applies to **[every ship of Class I, II, IIA, V or VI]**and a “Chapter IV ship” means a ship to which this Chapter applies]a Class I and II or a Class IIA, V and VI ship of less than 500 gross tons.”.

Substitution of regulation 40 of the Regulations

37. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 40 of the Regulations:

“40. General

- (1) In **[every Chapter IV]**a Class IIA, V or VI ship, the electrical equipment and installations, other than the electrical means of propulsion, if any, shall be such that the electrically operated services essential for the safety of the ship and of persons on board can be maintained under emergency conditions in accordance with Chapter II-1 regulation 40 of the Safety Convention.
- (2) In **[every Chapter IV]**a Class IIA, V or VI ship, the electrical equipment and installations, including electrical means of propulsion if any, shall be such that the ship and all persons on board are protected against electrical

hazards in accordance with Chapter II-1 regulation 40 of the Safety Convention.”.

Amendment of regulation 41 of the Regulations

38. Regulations 41 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

(a) by the substitution for the heading of regulation 41 of the following heading:

“41. Main generating sets: [Ships of Classes I, II and IIA]Class I, II and IIA ships”;

(b) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following subregulation:

“(1) (a) **[Every ship of]Δ Class I, II or IIA ship**, being a ship in which electrical power is the only power for maintaining the auxiliary services essential for the propulsion or safety of the ship, shall be provided with two or more main generating sets of such power that the aforesaid services can be operated when any one of the sets is out of service.

(b) Arrangements shall be made which will safeguard **[such]the generating sets referred to in paragraph (a)** from being rendered inoperative in the event of the partial flooding of the ship's machinery space through leakage from a damaged compartment or otherwise in accordance with Chapter II-1 regulation 41 of the Safety Convention.”;
and

(c) by the substitution for subregulation (2) of the following subregulation:

“(2) In **[every ship of]a Class I, II or IIA ship—**

- (a) where there is only one main generating station, such main generating station and the main switchboard shall be situated in the same main fire zone[.]; and
- (b) [~~Where~~where] there is more than one main generating station, and only one main switchboard, such switchboard shall be situated in the same main fire zone as one of the generating stations in accordance with Chapter II-1 regulation 41 of the Safety Convention.”.

Amendment of regulation 42 of the Regulations

39. Regulation 42 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

- (a) by the substitution for the heading of regulation 42 of the following heading:

“42. Emergency source of electric power: [~~Ships of Classes~~Class I, II and IIA ships”;

- (b) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following subregulation:

“(1) In [~~every ship of~~a] Class I, II or IIA ship—

- (a) there shall be provided in a position above the bulkhead deck not forward of the collision bulkhead and outside the machinery casings, a self-contained emergency source of electric power[.]; and
- (b) [~~The~~the] location of [~~this~~the] self-contained emergency source referred to in paragraph (a), in relation to the main source or sources of electric power, shall be such as to ensure that a fire or other casualty to the machinery space will not interfere with the supply or distribution of emergency power and in accordance with Chapter II-1 regulation 42 of the Safety Convention.”;

- (c) by the substitution in subregulation (2) for paragraph (e) of the following paragraph:

“(e) all communication equipment, fire detecting systems and signals which may be required in an emergency, if they are electrically operated from the ship’s main generating sets~~[.]~~”;

- (d) by the substitution for subregulation (3) of the following subregulation:

“(3) The emergency source of electric power shall be either an accumulator ~~[(storage)]~~or storage battery capable of complying with subregulation (2) without being recharged or suffering an excessive voltage drop, or a generator driven by internal combustion type machinery with an independent fuel supply and with efficient starting arrangements, and the fuel provided for such machinery shall have a flash point of not less than ~~[110° F. (43° C.)]~~43° C.”;

- (e) by the substitution in subregulation (5) for paragraph (a) of the following paragraph:

“(5) (a) If ~~[he]~~the emergency source of electric power is an accumulator ~~[(storage)]~~or storage battery, the arrangements shall be such that the ship’s emergency lighting system will come into operation automatically in the event of the failure of the main source of power for the ship’s main lighting system.”;

- (f) by the substitution in subregulation (5) for paragraph (b) of the following paragraph:

“(b) If the emergency source of electric power is a generator, an accumulator ~~[(storage)]~~or storage battery shall be provided as a

temporary source of electric power, so arranged as to come into operation automatically in the event of a failure of the main or emergency source of electric power, and of sufficient capacity to operate the ship's emergency lighting system continuously for half an hour and with such lighting system is in operation[:] —"; and

- (g) by the substitution in subregulation (5) for paragraph (d) of the following paragraph:

"(d) An indicator shall be provided in the machinery space, on the main switchboard or at some other suitable position, to show when an accumulator ~~[(storage)]~~or storage battery fitted in accordance with this regulation, is being discharged."

Substitution of regulation 43 of the Regulations

40. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 43 of the Regulations:

"43. Emergency switchboards

In ~~[every ship of]~~a Class I, II or IIA ship in which the provision of an emergency source of electric power is required by this Part—

- (a) the emergency switchboard shall be situated as near as practicable to the emergency source of power;
- (b) if the emergency source of power is a generator, the emergency switchboard shall be situated in the same space as the generator, unless the operation of the switchboard would thereby be impaired;
- (c) if the emergency source of power is a generator, an interconnecting feeder, adequately protected at each end, connecting the main and emergency switchboards shall be fitted;

- (d) no accumulator ~~[(storage)]~~ ~~or storage~~ battery fitted in accordance with regulation 42, shall be situated in the same space as the emergency switchboard[.].

in accordance with Chapter II-1 regulation 42 of the Safety Convention.”.

Amendment of regulation 44 of the Regulations

41. Regulation 44 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

(a) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following subregulation:

“(1) In ~~[every Chapter IV]~~ a Class I, II, IIA, V and VI ship[.]—

(a) every main and emergency switchboard shall be in accordance with Chapter II-1 regulation 45 of the Safety Convention and so arranged as to give easy access to the back and the front thereof without danger to any person, and shall be suitably guarded[.];

(b) [A] a non-conducting mat or grating shall be provided at the back and front where necessary[.]; and

(c) [No] an exposed [parts] part which may have a voltage between conductors or to earth exceeding [250]55 volts direct current or [55]250 volts alternating current, shall not be installed on the face of any switchboard or control panel.”;

(b) by the substitution for subregulation (2) of the following subregulation:

“(2) Hull return shall not be used in any ~~[Chapter IV]~~ a Class I, II, IIA, V and VI ship for the power, heat and light distribution systems thereof.”;

(c) by the substitution for subregulation (3) of the following subregulation:

“(3) If in any ~~[Chapter IV]~~ a Class I, II, IIA, V and VI ship, two or more generating sets maybe in operation at the same time for maintaining the auxiliary

services essential for the propulsion or safety of the ship, provision shall and shall be provided to trip automatically sufficient non-essential load when the total current exceeds the connected generator capacity.”;

(d) by the substitution for subregulation (4) of the following subregulation:

“(4) (a) In **[every Chapter IV]**a Class I, II, IIA, V and VI] ship[.]—

(i) electric and electro-hydraulic steering gear shall be served by two circuits fed from the main switchboard, one of which may pass through the emergency switchboard, if one is provided[.];

(ii) [Each]each circuit shall have adequate capacity for supplying all the motors which are normally connected to it and which operate simultaneously, and if transfer arrangements are provided in the steering gear room to permit either circuit to supply any motor or combination of motors, the capacity of each circuit shall be adequate for the most severe load condition[.] and

(iii) [The]the circuits in subparagraph (ii) shall be separated as widely as is practicable throughout their length.

(b) Short circuit protection **[only shall be provided for such circuits and motors]** and an overload alarm shall-

(i) be provided for such circuits and motors;

(ii) have protection against excess current, including starting current, if provided, which shall be for not less than twice the full load current of the motor or circuit so protected, and shall be arranged to permit the passage of the appropriate starting currents; and

(iii) where a three-phase supply is used, be provided with an alarm that will indicate failure of any one of the supply

phases and shall be both audible and visual and situated in a conspicuous position in the main machinery space or control room from which the main machinery is operated.

- (c) **[Every Chapter IV]A Class I, II, IIA, V and VI** ship which is fitted with electric or electro-hydraulic steering gear, shall be provided with indicators which—

(i) will show when the power units of such steering gear are running[.]; and

(ii) **[These indicators]**shall be situated in suitable positions on the navigating bridge and in the machinery space or the machinery control room[.].

in accordance with Chapter II-1 regulation 30 of the Safety Convention.”;

- (e) by the substitution for subregulation (5) of the following subregulation:

“(5) (a) There shall be not less than two sources of power supply for the sea water pump and automatic alarm and detection system which shall be in accordance with the requirements of Chapter VIII section 2.4 of the FSS Code: Provided where one of the sources of power for the pump is an internal combustion engine it shall, in addition to complying with the provisions of this regulation, be so situated that a fire in any protected space will not affect the air supply to the machinery.

(b) If, in [any Chapter IV]a Class I, II, IIA, V and VI ship the power supply for an automatic sprinkler system, requiring not less than two sources of power supply for sea-water pumps, air compressors and automatic alarms, is electrical[.]—

(i) such power supplies shall be taken from the main generating sets and from an emergency source of electric power[.];

- (ii) ~~[One]one~~ supply shall be taken from the main switchboard and another from the emergency switchboard, by separate feeders reserved solely for that purpose[.];
- (iii) ~~[Such]the~~ feeders referred to in subparagraph (ii) shall be ~~[run to a change-over switch situated near to the sprinkler unit, and the switch shall normally be kept closed to the feeder from the emergency switchboard.]~~so arranged as to avoid galleys, machinery spaces and other enclosed spaces of high fire risk except in so far as it is necessary to reach the appropriate switchboards, and shall be run to an automatic changeover switch situated near the sprinkler pump; and
- (iv) ~~[The changeover]the change-over~~ switch in subparagraph (iii) shall-
- (aa) be clearly labelled and normally kept closed, and no other switch shall be permitted in these feeders[.];
- (bb) permit the supply of power from the main switchboard so long as a supply is available therefrom; and
- (cc) be so designed that upon failure of that supply it will automatically change over to the supply from the emergency switchboard.”;

(f) by the substitution for subregulation (6) of the following subregulation:

“(6) Where fire protection in accordance with regulation ~~[49 (3)]49(1)(b)~~ is provided in any ~~[Chapter IV]Class I, II, IIA, V and VI~~ ship, the superstructure of which is constructed in aluminium alloy, and where in such a ship the feeders from the emergency generator to the sprinkler unit pass through any space constituting a fire risk, the cables shall be of a fireproof type.”;

(g) by the substitution for subregulation (7) of the following subregulation:

- “(7) In **[every Chapter IV]a Class I, II, IIA, V and VI ship[.]—**
 (a) distribution systems shall be so arranged that a fire in any main fire zone will not interfere with essential services in any other main fire zone[.]; and
 (b) **[Main]main** and emergency feeders passing through any main fire zone, shall be separated as widely as is practicable both horizontally and vertically.”; and

- (h) by the substitution for subregulation (8) of the following subregulation:

- “(8) **[Wiring systems]A wiring system** for interior communications essential for safety and for emergency alarm systems shall be arranged to avoid **[galleys, machinery spaces and other enclosed spaces]any galley, machinery space or other enclosed space** having a high risk of fire except in so far as it is necessary to provide communication or to give alarm within those spaces: Provided that in the case of a ship the construction and small size of which do not permit of compliance with this requirement, measures satisfactory to the Authority shall be taken to ensure efficient protection for a wiring [systems]system where **[they pass]such a wiring system passes** through **[galleys, machinery spaces and other enclosed spaces]a galley, machinery space or other enclosed space** having a high risk of fire.”.

Amendment of regulation 45 of the Regulations

42. Regulation 45 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

- (a) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following subregulation:

- “(1) (a) In **[every]a [Chapter IV]a Class I, II, IIA, V and VI ship[.]—**

(i) all electrical equipment shall be so constructed and installed that there will be no danger of injury to any person handling it in a proper manner[.]; and

(ii) [Subject]subject to the provisions of paragraph (b), where electrical equipment supplied as ship's equipment is to be operated at a voltage in excess of 55 volts, the exposed metal parts of such equipment which are not intended to have a voltage above that of earth, but, which may have such a voltage under fault conditions, shall be earthed[.]; and

(b) (i) [Exposed]any exposed metal [parts]part of portable electric [lamps, tools and]lamp, or similar apparatus, supplied as ship's equipment to be operated at a voltage in excess of 55 volts, shall be earthed through a conductor in the supply cable, unless by the use of double insulation or a suitable isolating transformer, protection at least as effective as earthing through a conductor is provided[.]; and

(ii) [When]when an electric [lamps, tools]lamp, tool or other apparatus [are]is used in a damp [spaces]space, provision shall be made, so far as practicable, to ensure that the danger of electric shock is reduced to a minimum.”;

(b) by the substitution for subregulation (2) of the following subregulation:

“(2) [Every electric cable in]in a [Chapter IV]a Class I, II, IIA, V and VI ship[.]—

(a) an electric cable shall be of a flame retarding type[.];

(b) [All]a metal [sheaths and]sheath or metal armour of any electrical cable in use in the ship, shall be electrically continuous and shall be earthed[.]; and

(c) ~~[Every]~~An electric cable which is neither metal sheathed nor armoured shall, if installed where its failure might cause a fire or explosion, be otherwise effectively protected.”;

(c) by the substitution for subregulation (3) of the following subregulation:

“(3) Wiring in ~~[every]~~a ~~[Chapter IV]~~a Class I, II, IIA, V and VI ship shall be supported in such a manner as to avoid chafing and other injury.”;

(d) by the substitution for subregulation (4) of the following subregulation:

“(4) In ~~[every]~~a ~~[Chapter IV]~~a Class I, II, IIA, V and VI ship~~[.]~~—
(a) the joints in all electrical conductors shall be made only in junction or outlet boxes except in the case of low voltage communication circuits~~[.]~~; and
(b) ~~[All such]~~the junctions or outlet boxes in paragraph (a) shall be so constructed as to prevent the spread of fire therefrom.”;

(e) by the substitution for subregulation (5) of the following subregulation:

“(5) In ~~[every]~~a ~~[Chapter IV]~~a Class I, II, IIA, V and VI ship, lighting fittings shall be arranged to prevent rises in temperature which would be injurious to the electrical wiring thereof or which would result in a risk of fire in surrounding material.”;

(f) by the substitution for subregulation (6) of the following subregulation:

“(6) ~~[Every]~~An electric space-heater forming part of the equipment of a ~~[Chapter IV]~~a Class I, II, IIA, V and VI ship, shall~~—~~
(a) be fixed in position and shall be so constructed as to reduce the risk of fire to a minimum~~[.]~~; and

(b) [No such heater shall]be constructed with an element so exposed that clothing, curtains, or other similar material, can be scorched or set on fire by heat from the element.”;

(g) by the substitution for subregulation (7) of the following subregulation:

“(7) In **[every]a [Chapter IV]a Class I, II, IIA, V and VI ship[,]—**

(a) every separate electrical circuit, other than a circuit which operates the ship's steering gear, shall be protected against overload and short circuit[.]; **and**

(b) [There]there shall be clearly and permanently indicated on or near each over-load protective device, the current carrying capacity of the circuit which it protects and the rating or setting of the device.”;

(h) by the substitution for subregulation (8) of the following subregulation:

“(8) In **[every Chapter IV]a Class I, II, IIA, V and VI** ship, **[all]an** accumulator **[(storage) batteries]or storage battery** shall be housed in **[boxes]a box** or **[compartments] compartment** which **[are]is** so constructed as to protect the **[batteries] battery** from damage and **[are]is** so ventilated as to **[minimize]minimise** the accumulation of explosive gas.”;

(i) by the substitution for subregulation (9) of the following subregulation:

“(9) **[In spaces where inflammable mixtures are liable to collect, no electrical]Electrical** equipment shall **not** be installed **in a space where inflammable mixtures are liable to collect,** unless **[it]the electrical equipment** is of a type which will not ignite the mixture concerned.”; and

(j) by the substitution for subregulation (10) of the following subregulation:

"(10) In **[every Chapter]**a Class I, II, IIA, V and VI ship, **[every]**a lighting circuit in a bunker or hold shall be provided with an isolating switch outside the space."

Substitution of regulation 46 of the Regulations

43. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 46 of the Regulations:

"46. Spare parts and tools

[Every ship of]A Class I, II or IIA ship shall be provided with an adequate quantity of replacements for those parts of the ship's electrical equipment and installations which, having regard to the intended service of the ship, it would be essential for the safety of the ship and of persons on board to replace in the event of failure while the ship is at sea, together with such tools as are necessary for the fitting of those replacements."

Amendment of Chapter V of Part I of the Regulations

44. Chapter V of Part I of the Regulations is hereby amended by the substitution for the heading of Chapter V of the following heading:

"CHAPTER V - FIRE PROTECTION: [SHIPS OF CLASSES]CLASS I, II AND IIA SHIPS".

Substitution of regulation 47 of the Regulations

45. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 47 of the Regulations:

"47. Application of Chapter V

This Chapter applies to **[every ship of]** a Class I, II or IIA **ship** carrying more than 36 passengers, and a "Chapter V ship" means a ship to which this Chapter applies."

Substitution of regulation 48 of the Regulations

46. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 48 of the Regulations:

"48. Methods of fire protection

(1) **[The]** **An** accommodation **[spaces and]** **space** or service **[spaces]** **space** in **[every]** a Chapter V ship, shall be constructed in accordance with any one of the following methods of fire protection, or a combination thereof, and shall comply with such of the following requirements of this Chapter as are applicable to the method or methods adopted~~[-:]~~

(a) **Method I:** The construction in **[the]** **an** accommodation **[spaces and]** **space** or service **[spaces]** **space** of a system of internal bulkheading consisting of "B" Class divisions, together with an automatic fire alarm and fire detection system in **[these spaces.]** **any such space;**

(b) **Method II:** The fitting of an automatic sprinkler, fire detection and fire alarm system in the accommodation **[spaces and]** **space** or service **[spaces.]** **space; or**

(c) **Method III:** The subdivision of **[the]** **an** accommodation **[spaces and]** **space** or service **[spaces]** **space** by "A" Class and "B" Class divisions, together with the fitting of an automatic fire alarm and fire detection system in **[all]** **any** accommodation **[spaces and]** **space** or service **[spaces]** **space** and a restriction of the provision of combustible material in **[these spaces]** **any such space."**

Substitution of regulation 49 of the Regulations

47. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 49 of the Regulations:

"49. Methods I, II and III

(1) **[Every]**A Chapter V ship shall be constructed in accordance with one of the following methods of fire protection or a combination of two or more of such methods~~[.]~~:

[(2)] (a) Method I:

[(a)] (i) ~~The hull, superstructure, structural **[bulkheads decks and deckhouses]**~~bulkhead deck or deckhouse shall be constructed of steel or other equivalent material~~[.]~~; and

[(b)] (ii) ~~**[Crowns and casings]**~~A crown or casing of a boiler ~~**[and]**~~or machinery ~~**[spaces]**~~space shall be of steel construction, adequately insulated, and ~~**[the openings]**~~any opening therein, ~~**[if any,]**~~ shall be suitably arranged and protected to prevent spread of fire.

[(3)] (b) Method II:

[(a)] (i) ~~The hull, superstructure, structural **[bulkheads, decks and deckhouses]**~~bulkhead deck or deckhouse shall be constructed of steel or other equivalent ~~**[material. The]**~~material and the use of combustible materials of all kinds shall be reduced as far as s reasonable and practicable~~[.]~~; and

[(b)] (ii) Where the superstructure is constructed of aluminium alloy—

[(i)] (aa) the temperature rise of the metallic cores of the "A" Class divisions, when exposed to a standard fire test of 60 minutes duration, shall have regard to the mechanical properties of the material~~[,]~~;

[(ii)] (bb) an automatic sprinkler system complying with the requirements of regulation 57 (2) shall be installed;

~~[(iii)] (cc)~~ adequate provision shall be made to ensure that in the event of fire, arrangements for the stowage and launching of and the embarkation into survival craft remain as effective as if the superstructure were constructed of steel; and

~~[(iv)] (dd)~~ **[crowns and casings]** a crown or casing of a boiler [and] or machinery [spaces] space shall be of steel construction adequately insulated and **[the openings]** any opening therein, **[if any,]** shall be suitably arranged and protected to prevent spread of fire.

[(4)] (d) Method III:

[(a)] (i) The hull, superstructure, structural **[bulkheads, decks and deckhouses,]** bulkhead, deck or deckhouse shall be constructed of steel or other equivalent material~~[,] and~~

[(b)] (ii) Where the superstructure is constructed of aluminium alloy—

[(i)] (aa) the temperature rise of the metallic cores oil the "A" Class divisions, when exposed to a standard fire test of 60 minutes duration, shall have regard to the mechanical properties of the material;

[(ii)] (bb) ceilings shall be of incombustible material~~[,] and~~

~~[(iii)] (cc)~~ adequate provision shall be made to ensure that in the event of fire, arrangements for the stowage and launching of and embarkation into survival craft remain as effective as if the superstructure were constructed of steel; and

~~[(iv)] (dd)~~ **[crowns and casings]** a crown or casing of a boiler [and] or machinery [spaces] space shall be of steel construction adequately insulated and **[the openings]** any opening therein, if any, shall be suitably arranged and protected to prevent spread of fire.

[(5)] (2) Where **[the]an** accommodation **[and]or** service **[spaces]space** in the ship **[are]is** constructed in accordance with a combination of any of the foregoing methods, the requirements as to the structure of any part of the ship shall be those appropriate to the method of fire protection adopted in that part of the ship.”.

Amendment of regulation 50 of the Regulations

48. Regulation 50 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

(a) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following:

“50. Main vertical zones

[(1)] In a Chapter V ship **[The]the** hull, superstructure **[and]and** **deckhouses]** deckhouse of every Chapter V ship shall be subdivided by bulkheads consisting of “A” Class divisions into main vertical zones. **The mean length of each zone, above the bulkhead deck, shall not exceed 131 feet. Steps and recesses shall be kept to a minimum, but any which are necessary shall consist of “A” Class divisions. Provided that in the case of a ship in which Method III of fire protection has been adopted, additional “A” Class divisions shall be provided within the accommodation spaces in order to reduce in these spaces the mean length of the main vertical zones to about 65.5 feet]** in accordance with Chapter II-2 regulation 9 of the Safety Convention.”; and

(b) by the deletion of subregulation (2).

Repeal of regulations 51, 52, 53, 54 and 55 of the Regulations

49. Regulations 51, 52, 53, 54 and 55 of the Regulations are hereby repealed.

Amendment of regulation 56 of the Regulations

50. Regulation 56 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

(a) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following:

"56. Automatic fire alarm and fire detection systems: Methods I and III

[(1)]In **[every]a** Chapter V ship in which Method I or Method III of fire protection has been adopted, a fire alarm and fire detection system shall be installed which will detect the presence or the signs of a fire and its location in any accommodation space or service space in accordance with Chapter II-2 regulation 7 of the Safety Convention."; and

(b) by the deletion of subregulations (2), (3) and (4).

Substitution of regulation 57 of the Regulations

51. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 57 of the Regulations:

"57. Automatic sprinkler, fire alarm and fire detection systems: Method II

(1) In **[every]a** Chapter V ship in which Method II of fire protection has been adopted, an automatic sprinkler and fire alarm and fire detection system complying with the requirements specified in **[Annex 5] Chapter II-2 regulation 7 of the Safety Convention** shall be installed and so arranged as to protect all accommodation spaces and service spaces in the ship.

(2) In **[every]a** ship referred to in **[sub-regulation]subregulation** (1), the superstructure of which is wholly or partly constructed of aluminium alloy, the whole unit including the sprinkler pump, tank and air compressor shall

be situated to the satisfaction of the Authority in a position reasonably remote from the boiler and machinery spaces."

Substitution of regulation 58 of the Regulations

52. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 58 of the Regulations:

"58. Protection of stairways

(1) ~~[Method's]~~Methods I and III:

- (a) In ~~[every]~~a Chapter V ship in which Method I or III has been adopted, ~~[every]~~a stairway within an accommodation space or service space shall be of steel frame construction in accordance with Chapter II-2 regulation 9 of the Safety Convention: Provided that the Authority may permit in lieu of steel, the use of other material considered equivalent to steel by virtue of insulation ~~[. Every]~~and such stairway shall lie within an enclosure constructed of "A" Class divisions except that—
- (i) a stairway serving only two decks shall not be required to be enclosed by "A" Class divisions at more than one deck; and
- (ii) a stairway in a public room shall not be required to be so enclosed if it lies wholly within the room.
- (b) ~~[Every]~~An opening in a stairway enclosure shall be provided with a means of closure which shall be permanently attached thereto~~[. The means of closure]~~ which shall be, as far as practicable equivalent in resisting fire to the division in which it is fitted and shall, unless it is a watertight door, be self-closing.
- (c) ~~[Every]~~A stairway enclosure in a ship referred to in paragraph (a), shall—
- (i) communicate directly with the corridors adjacent thereto and shall be of sufficient area to prevent congestion, having regard

to the number of persons likely to use the stairway in an emergency[. **Every such enclosure**]; and

(ii) shall contain as little accommodation space or service space as is practicable in the circumstances.

(2) *Method II:*

- (a) In **[every]a** Chapter V ship in which Method II has been adopted, **[every]a** stairway within an accommodation space or service space shall be of steel frame construction: Provided that the Authority may permit in lieu of steel the use of other suitable material or condition that additional fire extinguishing or fire protection arrangements to the satisfaction of the Authority are provided[. **Every**] and such stairway shall lie within an enclosure constructed of "A" Class divisions except that—
- (i) a stairway serving only two decks shall not be required to be enclosed by "A" Class divisions at more than one deck; and
- (ii) a stairway in a public room shall not be required to be so enclosed if it lies wholly within the room.
- (b) **[Every]An** opening in a stairway enclosure shall be provided with a means of closure which shall be permanently attached thereto[. **The means of closure shall be,**]and as far as practicable, equivalent in resisting fire to the division in which it is fitted and shall, unless it is a watertight door, be self-closing.
- (c) **[Every]A** stairway enclosure in a ship referred to in paragraph (a), shall—
- (i) communicate directly with the corridors adjacent thereto and shall be of sufficient area to prevent congestion, having regard to the number of persons likely to use the stairway in an emergency[. **Every such enclosure shall**]; and
- (ii) contain as little accommodation space or service space as is practicable in the circumstances."

Substitution of regulation 59 of the Regulations

53. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 59 of the Regulations:

"59. Separation of accommodation spaces from other enclosed spaces

In ~~[every]~~a Chapter V ship, ~~[the bulkheads and decks]~~a bulkhead or deck separating ~~an~~an accommodation ~~[spaces]~~space from ~~[other]~~another enclosed ~~[spaces]~~space shall consist of "A" Class divisions."

Amendment of regulation 60 of the Regulations

54. Regulation 60 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

(a) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following:

"60. Protection of lifts and vertical trunks for light and air

~~[(1)]~~ In ~~[every]~~a Chapter V ship, ~~[every]~~a lift trunk, ~~[and every]~~ light-and-air ~~[and]~~or similar trunk in an accommodation space or service space, shall be constructed of "A" Class divisions: Provided that a lift trunk within a stairway enclosure shall not be required to be insulated~~[. Every]~~and any door in such a trunk shall be constructed of steel or other equivalent material and shall be as effective as the trunk in resisting fire in accordance with Chapter II-2 regulation 9 of the Safety Convention."; and

(b) by the deletion of subregulations (2), (3) and subregulation (4).

Substitution of regulation 61 of the Regulations

55. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 61 of the Regulations:

"61. Protection of control stations

- (1) **[Every]A** control station in **[every]a** Chapter V ship shall be in accordance with Chapter II-2 regulation 7 of the Safety Convention and separated from the rest of the ship by bulkheads and decks consisting of "A" Class divisions.
- (2) **[The]A** radiotelegraph room in a Chapter V ship shall not be situated directly above any stairway."

Amendment of regulation 62 of the Regulations

56. Regulation 62 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

- (a) by the substitution for the heading of regulation 62 of the following heading:

"62. Protection of store rooms[, etc.]";

- (b) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following subregulation:

"(1) In **[every]a** Chapter V ship, the boundary bulkheads separating a galley, baggage room, mail room, store room, paint room, lamp room, or any similar space from any other space, shall consist of "A" Class divisions in accordance with Chapter II-2 regulation 7 of the Safety Convention."; and

- (c) by the substitution for subregulation (2) of the following subregulation:

"(2) **[Spaces]A space** appropriated for the storage of highly inflammable stores shall be so constructed and situated as to **[minimize]minimise** the danger to persons on board in the event of fire."

Amendment of regulation 63 of the Regulations

57. Regulation 63 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

(a) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following:

"63. Ventilation systems

[(1)]The main inlets of **[every]an** air supply system and the main outlets of **[every]an** air exhaust system in **[every]an** Chapter V ship shall be capable of being closed from external positions~~[. **Wherever] and wherever**~~ practicable, the system of ducts leading from each ventilating fan shall be within one main vertical zone in accordance with the applicable provisions of Chapter II-2 regulation 5 and 9 of the Safety Convention."; and

(b) by the deletion of subregulations (2), (3) and subregulation (4).

Substitution of regulation 64 of the Regulations

58. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 64 of the Regulations:

"64. Miscellaneous items of fire protection

(1) The following provisions shall apply to all parts of any Chapter V ship~~[-];~~

- (a) paints, varnishes or similar preparations shall not be used if they contain a nitro-cellulose or other highly inflammable base, and fabrics containing nitro-cellulose shall not be fitted~~[,];~~
- (b) **[any]a** pipe which penetrates an "A" Class or "B" Class division, shall be of suitable material and shall have regard to the temperature such divisions are required to withstand;
- (c) **[pipes]a pipe** intended for oil or other inflammable liquids, shall be of suitable material having regard to the risk of fire; and

- (d) ~~an overboard [scuppers]scupper, sanitary [discharges]discharge~~ or other ~~[outlets]outlet~~ close to the waterline, shall not be of a material likely to fail in the event of fire and thereby give rise to a danger of flooding.
- (2) The following provisions shall apply to ~~[the]an~~ accommodation and a service ~~[spaces]space~~ of any Chapter V ship[-]:
- (a) ~~[every]an~~ air space enclosed behind a ceiling, panel or lining in ~~[the]an~~ accommodation ~~[spaces]space~~ or service ~~[spaces]space~~, shall be divided by close fitting draught-stops spaced not more than ~~[45 feet]14 meters~~ apart and which shall be closed at each deck;
- (b) ~~[every]a~~ ceiling, panel and lining referred to in paragraph (a), shall be so constructed as to enable a fire patrol to detect any smoke originating in a concealed or inaccessible space, without impairing the efficiency of the fire protection of the ship;
- (c) the concealed surfaces of ~~[every]a~~ bulkhead, lining, panel, stairway, wood ground and other structure in ~~an~~ accommodation ~~[spaces and]space or service [spaces]space~~, shall be such that the surface spread of flame is not exceeded;
- (d) the use of wood for the construction and equipment of ~~[galleys, bakeries and main pantries]a galley, bakery or main pantry~~ shall be ~~[restricted so far as is practicable]prohibited~~;
- (e) (i) ~~[every]a~~ window ~~[and]or~~ side scuttle in the ship's side in ~~[bulkheads]a bulkhead~~ protecting ~~an~~ accommodation ~~[spaces]space~~ from the weather, shall—
- ~~(aa)~~ be constructed with ~~[frames]a frame~~ of steel or other suitable material and the glass therein shall be retained by a metal glazing bead~~[. If]; and~~
- ~~(bb)~~ if the window or side scuttle ~~in item (aa)~~ is in a position in which the fusion of the frame, ring or bead may give rise to danger of flooding, the frame, ring or bead, as the case may

- be, shall consist of metal which is not likely to fuse in the event of fire; and
- (ii) **[every]**a window and side scuttle in **[bulkheads]**a bulkhead within an accommodation **[spaces]**space, shall be constructed so as to preserve the integrity requirements of the type of bulkhead in which it is fitted;
- (f) **[any]**a permanent deck sheathing within an accommodation space, service space, control station, stairway or corridor, shall be of a type which will not readily ignite; and
- (g) cellulose-nitrate-based film shall not be used in a cinematograph **[installations]**installations.
- (3) The following provisions shall apply to **[the]**a machinery **[spaces]**space of **[any]**a Chapter V ship[-]:
- (a) **[the skylights]**a skylight to **[spaces]**a space containing main propulsion machinery or an oil-fired **[boilers]**boiler or auxiliary internal combustion type machinery of a total horse power of 1,000 or over, shall be capable of being closed and opened from outside the space in the event of fire and, where they contain glass panels, such panels shall be of fire resisting construction fitted with wire reinforced glass and shall have external permanently attached shutters of steel or other equivalent material; and
- (b) (i) **[windows]**a window shall not be fitted in an engine **[casings]**casing except where the Authority is satisfied that **[they are]**it is necessary and will not constitute a fire hazard.
- (ii) **[Where]**where such **[windows are]**a window is fitted, **[they]**it shall be of a non-opening type and shall be of fire resisting construction fitted with wire reinforced glass and shall have external permanently attached shutters of steel or other equivalent material."

Amendment of Chapter V(A) of Part I of the Regulations

59. Chapter V(A) of Part I is hereby amended by the substitution for the heading of Chapter V(A) of the following heading:

"CHAPTER V(A) - FIRE PROTECTION: [SHIPS OF CLASSES]CLASS I, II AND IIA SHIPS".

Substitution of regulation 65 of the Regulations

60. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 65 of the Regulations:

"65. Application of Chapter V(A)

This Chapter applies to **[every ship of]**a Class I, II or IIA ship carrying **[not more]less** than 36 passengers, and a "Chapter V (A) ship" means a ship to which this Chapter applies."

Substitution of regulation 66 of the Regulations

61. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 66 of the Regulations:

"66. General

- (1) **[Every]A** Chapter V(A) ship, shall comply with regulations 49 to **[52]50** inclusive, regulations 59, 60 (1), 61, 62, 64 (1) (a), (b), (c) and (d) and regulation 64 (2) (c), (d), (e), (f) and (g).

- (2) In **[any]**~~a~~ Chapter V(A) ship, the Authority may permit smaller amounts of insulation to be fitted than are required **[by]**~~in terms of~~ regulation **[51 (1)]**~~50~~, and the following additional provisions shall apply to such ship—
- (a) **[all stairways]**~~a~~ stairway and means of escape in an accommodation **[and]**~~or a~~ service **[spaces]**~~space~~ shall be of steel or other equivalent material~~[..]~~;
 - (b) power ventilation of a machinery space shall be capable of being stopped from an easily accessible position outside the space; and
 - (c) except where all bulkheads in accommodation spaces conform with the requirements of regulation~~[, 54 (1) and 55 (1)]~~ 50, the ship shall be provided with an automatic fire detection system conforming with regulation 56, and in accommodation spaces the corridor bulkheads shall be of steel or shall be incombustible "B" Class divisions."

Amendment of Chapter V(B) of the Regulations

62. Chapter V(B) of Part I is hereby amended by the substitution for the heading of Chapter V(B) of the following heading:

"CHAPTER V(B): FIRE PROTECTION: [SHIPS OF CLASSES]CLASS V AND VI SHIPS".

Substitution of regulation 67 of the Regulations

63. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 67 of the Regulations:

"67. Application of Chapter V(B)

This Chapter applies to **[every ship of]**~~a~~ Class V or VI ship."

Substitution of regulation 68 of the Regulations

64. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 68 of the Regulations:

"68. Structure of the ship

The hull, superstructure, structural ~~[bulkheads, decks and]~~bulkhead, deck or deck ~~[houses]~~house of ~~[every ship of]~~a Class V or VI ~~ship~~ shall be constructed of steel or any other equivalent material."

Substitution of regulation 69 of the Regulations

65. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 69 of the Regulations:

"69. Divisions

In ~~[every ship of]~~a Class V or VI ~~ship~~ being a ship fitted with internal combustion propelling machinery or oil-fired boilers, the accommodation spaces shall be separated from machinery spaces by "A" Class divisions."

Substitution of regulation 70 of the Regulations

66. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 70 of the Regulations:

"CHAPTER VI: BOILERS AND MACHINERY**70. Application of Chapter VI**

Unless otherwise indicated in this Chapter, this Chapter applies to **[every ship of] a Class I, II, IIA, V or VI ship**, and a “Chapter VI ship” means a ship to which this Chapter applies.”.

Amendment of regulation 71 of the Regulations

67. Regulation 71 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

(a) by the substitution for the heading of regulation 71 of the following heading:

“71. General: Boilers, machinery, other pressure vessels, associated piping systems and fittings”;

(b) by the substitution for regulation 71 of the following:

“(1) In [every Chapter VI] a Class I, II, IIA, V or VI ship, the machinery, boilers and other pressure vessels, associated piping systems and fittings shall be of a design and construction adequate for the service for which they are intended and shall be so installed and protected as to [minimize] reduce to a minimum any danger to persons on board[. Without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing, means shall be provided which shall prevent overpressure in any part of such machinery boilers and other pressure vessels, and in particular every boiler and every unfired steam generator shall be provided with not less than two safety valves: Provided that the Authority may, having regard to the output or any other features of any boiler or unfired output or steam generator, permit only one safety valve to be fitted if he is satisfied that adequate protection against overpressure is thereby provided], with due regard being paid to moving parts, hot surfaces and other hazards.”; and

(c) by the addition after subregulation (1) of the following subregulations:

- "(2) The design referred to in subsection (1) shall have regard to materials used in construction, the purpose for which the equipment is intended, the working conditions to which it will be subjected and the environmental conditions on board, in accordance with Chapter II-1 regulation 26 of the Safety Convention.
- (3) The Authority shall give special consideration to the reliability of single essential propulsion components and may require a separate source of propulsion power sufficient to give the ship a navigable speed, especially in the case of unconventional arrangements.
- (4) Means shall be provided whereby normal operation of propulsion machinery can be sustained or restored even though one of the essential auxiliaries becomes inoperative; Provided, the Authority, having regard to overall safety considerations, may accept a partial reduction in propulsion capability from normal operation.
- (5) Means shall be provided to ensure that the machinery can be brought into operation from the dead ship condition without external aid.
- (6) All boilers, all parts of machinery, all steam, hydraulic, pneumatic and other systems and their associated fittings which are under internal pressure shall be subjected to appropriate tests including a pressure test before being put into service for the first time.
- (7) Main propulsion machinery and all auxiliary machinery essential to the propulsion and the safety of the ship shall, as fitted in the ship, be designed to operate when the ship is upright and when inclined at any angle of list up to and including 15° either way under static conditions and 22.5° under

- dynamic conditions or rolling either way and simultaneously inclined dynamically or pitching 7.5° by bow or stern: Provided the Authority may permit deviation from these angles, taking into consideration the type, size and service conditions of the ship.
- (8) Provision shall be made to facilitate cleaning, inspection and maintenance of main propulsion and auxiliary machinery including boilers and pressure vessels.
- (9) Special consideration shall be given to the design, construction and installation of propulsion machinery systems so that any mode of their vibrations shall not cause undue stresses in this machinery in the normal operating ranges.
- (10) Non-metallic expansion joints in piping systems, if located in a system which penetrates the ship's side and both the penetration and the non-metallic expansion joint are located below the deepest load waterline, shall be inspected as part of the surveys prescribed in Chapter II-1 regulation 10 of the Safety Convention and replaced as necessary, or at an interval recommended by the manufacturer.
- (11) Operating and maintenance instructions and engineering drawings for ship machinery and equipment essential to the safe operation of the ship shall be written in a language understandable by those officers and crew members who are required to understand such information in the performance of their duties.
- (12) Location and arrangement of vent pipes for fuel oil service, settling and lubrication oil tanks shall—
- (a) be such that in the event of a broken vent pipe this shall not directly lead to the risk of ingress of seawater splashes or rainwater; and

(b) be provided with two fuel oil service tanks for each type of fuel used on board necessary for propulsion and vital systems or equivalent arrangements on each new ship, with a capacity of at least 8 h at maximum continuous rating of the propulsion plant and normal operating load at sea of the generator plant."

Amendment of regulation 72 of the Regulations

68. Regulation 72 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

(a) by the substitution for the heading of regulation 72 of the following heading:

"72. [~~Boilers and other pressure vessels~~ Steam Boilers and boiler feed systems];

(b) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following subregulation:

"(1) [In every Chapter VI ship, every boiler or other pressure vessel and its respective mountings shall, before being put into service for the first time, be subjected to a hydraulic test to a pressure suitably in excess of the working pressure which will ensure that the boiler or other pressure vessel and its mountings are adequate in strength and design for the intended service, having regard to-

- (a) the design and material of which it is constructed,**
- (b) the purpose for which it is intended to be used; and**
- (c) the working conditions under which it is intended to be used,**

and every such boiler or other pressure vessel shall at any time thereafter be capable of withstanding such a test.] A steam boiler and every unfired steam generator shall be in accordance with Chapter II-1 regulation 32 of the Safety Convention."; and

- (c) by the substitution for subregulation (2) of the following subregulation:

"[(2) Provision shall be made which will facilitate the cleaning and inspection of every pressure vessel.]

- (2) (a) A feed check valve, fitting or pipe through which feed later passes from a pump to a boiler in a Chapter VI ship, shall be designed and constructed to withstand the maximum working stresses to which it may be subjected, with a factor of safety which is adequate having regard to the material of which it is constructed and the working conditions under which it will be used; and**
- (b) A valve, fitting or pipe referred to in paragraph (a) shall before being put into service for the first time, be subjected to a hydraulic test suitably in excess of the maximum working pressure of the boiler to which it is connected or of the maximum working pressure to which the feed line may be subjected, whichever shall be the greater, and shall at any time thereafter be capable of withstanding such a test."**

Amendment of regulation 73 of the Regulations

69. Regulation 73 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

- (a) by the substitution for the heading of regulation 73 of the following heading:

"73. Machinery and machinery control";

- (b) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following subregulation:

"(1) In [every]~~a~~ Chapter VI ship, main and auxiliary machinery necessary for the propulsion and safety of the ship, shall be provided with effective means of control, [and the machinery shall be capable of being brought into

operation when initially no power is available in the ship] in accordance with Chapter II-1 regulation 27 and 31 of the Safety Convention.”; and

- (c) by the deletion of subregulations (2), (3) and (4).

Insertion of regulation 73A of the Regulations

70. The following regulation is inserted in Part I, Chapter VI of the Regulations after regulation 73:

“73A. Refrigeration systems

Full particulars of refrigeration installations, other than domestic refrigerators, shall be submitted to the Authority for approval.”.

Amendment of regulation 74 of the Regulations

71. Regulation 74 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

- (a) by the substitution for the heading of regulation 74 of the following heading:

“74. [Power for]Means of going astern

- (b) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following subregulation:

“(1) [Every]A Chapter VI ship shall have [sufficient power]means for going astern [to secure control of the ship in all normal circumstances] in accordance with Chapter II-1 regulation 28 of the Safety Convention.”; and

- (c) by the deletion of subregulation (2).

Substitution of regulation 75 of the Regulations

72. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 75 of the Regulations:

"75. Shafts, gearing and coupling used for transmission

In **[every]** Chapter VI ship, **[every]** shaft, gearing and coupling used for transmission, shall be so designed and constructed that it will withstand the maximum working stresses to which it may be subjected, with a factor of safety which is adequate having regard to—

- (a) the material of which it is constructed;
- (b) the service for which it is intended~~[,];~~ and
- (c) the type of the engines by which it is driven or of which it forms a part, in accordance with Chapter II-1 regulation 27 of the Safety Convention."

Repeal of regulation 76 of the Regulations

73. Regulation 76 of the Regulations is hereby repealed.

Amendment of regulation 77 of the Regulations

74. Regulation 77 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

(a) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following subregulation:

"77. Steam pipe systems

- (1) In **[every]** Chapter VI ship, **[every]** steam pipe **[and fitting connected thereto through which steam may pass,]** ~~systems~~ shall be **[so designed and constructed as to withstand the maximum working stresses to which it may be subjected, with a factor of safety which is adequate having regard to—]** in accordance with Chapter II-1 regulation 33 of the Safety Convention.";

- (b) by the deletion in subregulation (1) of paragraphs (a) and (b); and
- (c) by the deletion of subregulations (2), (3), (4), (5) and subregulation (6).

Substitution of regulation 78 of the Regulations

75. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 78 of the Regulations:

"78. Air pressure systems

- (1) Air pressure systems shall be constructed in compliance with Chapter II-1 regulation 34 of the Safety Convention.
- (2) A ship in which machinery essential for the propulsion and safety of the ship or of persons on board is required to be started, operated or controlled solely by compressed shall be provided at least two air compressors each of which shall be of efficient design and of sufficient strength and capacity for the service for which it is intended: Provided that in a ship of Class V or VI only one such compressor shall be required.
- (3) If an air pressure pipe may receive air from any source at a higher pressure than it can withstand with an adequate factor of safety, an efficient reducing valve, relief valve and pressure gauge shall be fitted to such pipe.
- (4) Air pressure systems shall be inspected and tested to the satisfaction of the Authority.
- (5) The Authority, in its discretion, may allow a deviation from the requirements of subregulation (2) and (3)."

Amendment of regulation 79 of the Regulations

76. Regulation 79 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

(a) by the substitution for the heading of regulation 79 of the following heading:

"79. Cooling water systems";

(b) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following subregulation:

"(1) (a) In [every]a Chapter VI ship, where machinery essential for the propulsion or safety of the ship or of persons on board is dependent for its operation on an efficient cooling water system, there shall be provided at least one circulating pump and, except in the case of any emergency generator and in a ship of Class V or VI, provision shall be made so that in the event of the failure of such pump, an alternative pump is available for the same duty.

(b) [Such pumps]The pump referred to in paragraph (a) shall be capable of supplying adequate cooling water to such machinery, oil coolers, fresh water coolers or condensers fitted thereto, as required by original equipment manufacturer specifications, as the case may be.";

(c) by the substitution for subregulation (3) of the following subregulation:

"(3) Means shall be provided for ascertaining whether [the]a cooling [systems are]system is working properly and for preventing overpressure in any part thereof."; and

(d) by the substitution for subregulation (4) of the following subregulation:

"(4) ~~[The]~~An exhaust ~~[pipes and silencers]~~pipe or silencer of ~~[every]~~an internal combustion engine provided in ~~[every]~~a Chapter VI ship, shall be efficiently cooled or lagged."

Substitution of regulation 80 of the Regulations

77. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 80 of the Regulations:

"80. ~~[Oil]~~Lubricating oil systems ~~[for lubricating, cooling and control]~~

- (1) In ~~[every]~~a Chapter VI ship, being a ship in which oil is circulated under pressure for the lubrication or cooling or as the sole means of control of machinery essential for the propulsion or safety of the ship or persons on board, at least two pumps shall be provided each of which shall be adequate for circulating such oil: Provided that in a ship of Class V or VI and in the case of any emergency generator in any ship, only one such pump shall be required.
- (2)
 - (a) In [every ship of] a Class I, II or IIA ship propelled by turbine machinery, or having turbo-electric propelling machinery, the lubricating oil arrangements shall be such that an emergency supply of oil is available sufficient to maintain after a power failure an adequate supply of lubricating oil for at least three minutes or for such time as may be required for unloaded turbo-electric propelling machinery to come to rest from the maximum running speed.
 - (b) [Such] The emergency supply referred to in paragraph (a) shall automatically come into use on failure of the pressure supply of lubricating oil from the pump or pumps.

- (3) Strainers shall be provided for straining the lubricating oil, and, except in a **[ship of] Class V or VI ship, where lubricating oil shall be capable of being cleaned without interrupting the supply of such oil.**
- (4) Means shall be provided for ascertaining whether the lubricating system is working properly and for preventing overpressure in any part of the system~~].~~ **If and if** the means of preventing overpressure is a relief valve, it shall be in close circuit."

Amendment of regulation 81 of the Regulations

78. Regulation 81 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

- (a) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following subregulation:

"81. Oil fuel installations (boilers and machinery)

- (1) **(a) For the purposes of this regulation, the expression "oil fuel tank" includes an oil fuel storage tank, an oil fuel settling tank, an oil fuel service tank and an oil fuel overflow tank.**

(b) In [every]a Chapter VI ship, [any] oil fuel [used in boilers or machinery] installations shall, except as allowed by regulation 42(3), have a flash point of not less than [150° F. or 65° C. (Closed test.)]60° C. and be in accordance with the applicable provisions of Chapter II-1 regulations 11, 56 and 57 and Chapter II-2 regulation 4 of the Safety Convention."

- (b) by the substitution for subregulation (2) of the following subregulation:

"(2) [In every Chapter VI ship, being a ship propelled by means of oil-fired boilers or internal combustion machinery, every double bottom

compartment appropriated for the storage of oil fuel, not being a compartment situated at the extreme forward or after end of the ship, shall be fitted with a watertight centre division,]In a ship being a ship in which oil or gaseous fuel is used, the arrangements for the storage, distribution and utilisation of the fuel shall be such that, having regard to the hazards of fire and explosion which the use of such fuel may entail, the safety of the ship and of persons on board is preserved.”;

(c) by the substitution for subregulation (3) of the following subregulation:

“(3) [Every oil fuel tank in a Chapter VI ship shall be properly constructed and shall, where necessary, be provided with save-alls or gutters which will catch any oil which may leak from the tank. No such tank shall be situated directly above boilers or other heated surfaces. Without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing, every such tank shall before being put into service for the first time, be subjected to a test by hydraulic pressure in the case of ea storage tank, settling tank or service tank, equal to that of a head of water one foot greater than the greatest head to which the tank may be subject when in service, but in the case of a settling tank, to not less than 15 lb. per square inch, and such tank shall at any time thereafter be capable of withstanding such a test] In a ship being a ship in which oil or gaseous fuel is used in engines or boilers for the propulsion or safety of the ship, the arrangements for the storage, distribution and utilisation of the fuel, shall be such that the effective use of the engines can be maintained under all conditions likely to be met by the ship in service.”;

(d) by the substitution for subregulation (4) of the following subregulation:

“(4) [The oil fuel carried in a Chapter VI ship, shall be effectively isolated from water ballast which may be carried therein. The pumping

arrangements shall be such as will permit the oil fuel to be transferred from any storage tank or settling tank appropriated for oil fuel into another storage tank or settling tank so appropriated. Provision shall be made to prevent the accidental discharge or overflow of oil overboard. If fresh water is stored in a tank adjacent to a tank appropriated for the storage of oil fuel, a cofferdam shall be provided which will prevent contamination of the fresh water by the oil.] In a ship, an oil fuel installation which serves a boiler supplying steam for the propulsion of the ship, shall include not less than two oil fuel units.”; and

- (e) by the deletion of subregulations (5), (6), (7), (8), (9), (10), (11), (12), (13), (14), (15), (16), (17), (18), (19) and (20).

Amendment of regulation 82 of the Regulations

79. Regulation 82 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

- (a) by the substitution for the heading of regulation 82 of the following heading:

“82. Oil fuel and gas installations (cooking ranges and other heating appliances)”;

- (b) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following subregulation:

“(1) [If, in any]In a Chapter VI ship, if a cooking range or other heating appliance is supplied with oil fuel [from an oil tank, the tank shall not be situated in a galley, and the supply of oil to the burners shall be capable of being controlled from a position outside the galley. No range or burner shall be fitted which is designed to be operated by means of oil fuel having a flash point of less than 150° F. (65.6° C.)]] or

gas, the installations shall be in accordance with Chapter II-2 regulation 4 of the Safety Convention.”; and

- (c) by the deletion of subregulations (2) and (3).

Amendment of regulation 83 of the Regulations

80. Regulation 83 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

- (a) by the substitution for the heading of regulation 83 of the following heading:

“83. Ventilation and ventilation systems in machinery spaces”;

- (b) by the substitution for regulation 83 of the following:

“(1) In [every Chapter VI]a ship, [every]a space in which an oil fuel tank or any part of an oil fuel installation is situated, shall be adequately ventilated in compliance with Chapter II-2 regulation 4 of the Safety Convention.”; and

- (c) by the addition after subregulation (1) of the following subregulations:

“(2) Machinery spaces shall be adequately ventilated for the purpose of that machinery space to ensure that when machinery or boilers therein are operating at full power in all weather conditions including heavy weather, an adequate supply of air is maintained to the spaces for the safety and comfort of personnel and the operation of the machinery in accordance with Chapter II-1 regulation 35 of the Safety Convention.

“(3) The ventilation of machinery spaces shall be sufficient under normal conditions to prevent accumulation of oil vapour.”.

Substitution of regulation 84 of the Regulations

81. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 84 of the Regulations:

"84. Communication between bridge and engine room

[Every ship of] Class I, II or IIA ship shall be provided with [two] means of communicating orders from the navigating bridge to the [engine room]machinery control [platform.]station [One of the means shall be an engine room telegraph] in accordance with Chapter II-1 regulation 37 of the Safety Convention: Provided the Authority may, subject to such conditions as the Authority may impose, permit deviation from compliance with this regulation."

Amendment of regulation 85 of the Regulations

82. Regulation 85 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

- (a) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following subregulation:

"85. Steering gear

- (1) **[Every]Δ Chapter VI ship shall be provided with efficient main means of steering and [auxiliary] alternative means of steering suitable to its size and the type of steering [gear: Provided that if main steering gear power units and their connections are fitted in duplicate to the satisfaction of the Authority and each power unit enables the steering gear to meet the requirements of sub-regulation (2) (b), no auxiliary steering gear shall be required gear] used, in accordance with Chapter II-1 regulations 29 and 30 of the Safety Convention.";** and

- (b) by the deletion of subregulations (2), (3) and subregulation (4).

Substitution of regulation 86 of the Regulations

83. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 86 of the Regulations:

"86. Spare gear

[Every ship of Class I, II or IIA]A ship shall be provided with sufficient spare gear together with tools necessary for the fitting of the spare gear, having regard to the intended service of the ship."

Insertion of regulations 86A to 86D of the Regulations

84. The following regulations are inserted in Part I, Chapter VI of the Regulations after regulation 86:

"86A. Location of emergency installations in passenger ships

If, in a passenger ship, emergency installations are required, the location thereof must be in accordance with Chapter II-1 regulation 39 of the Safety Convention.

86B. Protection from noise

A ship shall be constructed to reduce onboard noise and to protect personnel from the noise in accordance with the Code on Noise Levels on Board Ships, adopted by the Maritime Safety Committee by resolution MSC.337(91).

86C. Engineers' Alarm

An engineers' alarm shall be in accordance with Chapter II-1 regulation 38 of the Safety Convention.

86D. Special consideration: Periodically unattended machinery space

Machinery spaces shall be attended: Provided that a passenger ship may be specially approved by the Authority as to whether or not their machinery spaces may be periodically unattended and if so, whether additional requirements to those stipulated in Chapter II-1 Part E are necessary to achieve equivalent safety to that of normally attended machinery spaces."

Substitution of regulation 87 of the Regulations

85. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 87 of the Regulations:

"CHAPTER VII: MISCELLANEOUS

87. Application of Chapter VII

Unless otherwise indicated in this Chapter, this Chapter applies to **[every ship of]a** Class I, II, IIA, V or VI **ship**, and a "Chapter VII ship" means a ship to which this Chapter applies."

Substitution of regulation 88 of the Regulations

86. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 88 of the Regulations:

"88. Anchors and chain cables

[Every]A Chapter VII ship shall be provided with such anchors and chain cables as are sufficient in number, weight and strength, having regard to the size and intended service of the ship."

Substitution of regulation 89 of the Regulations

87. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 89 of the Regulations:

"89. Hawsers and warps

[Every]A Chapter VII ship shall be provided with such hawsers and warps as are sufficient in number and strength, having regard to the size and intended service of the ship."

Substitution of regulation 90 of the Regulations

88. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 90 of the Regulations:

"90. Means of escape

- (1) (a) **[Every]A** Chapter VII ship, not being an open or partially-decked **[ship of] Class V or VI ship**, shall be provided with such doorways, stairways, ladderways and other means of escape as will provide readily accessible means of escape for all persons in the ship in accordance with the applicable requirements of Chapter II-2 regulation 13 of the Safety Convention.
- (b) The means of escape shall be so designed and constructed as to be capable of being easily used by the persons for whom they are intended.
- (c) The number and width of such means of escape shall be sufficient, having regard to the number of persons by whom they may be used.
- (2) In **[every ship of]a Class I, II or IIA ship**, there shall be provided below the bulkhead deck at least two means of escape from each compartment bounded by watertight bulkheads or from each similarly restricted space or group of spaces, and at least one of the means of escape provided from

each such compartment or from each such space or group of spaces shall be independent of watertight doors.

- (3) In **[every ship of]a** Class I, II or IIA ship, there shall be provide above the bulkhead deck at least two means of escape from each space bounded by main vertical zone bulkheads or from each similarly restricted space or group of spaces, and one of the means of escape provided from each space or group of spaces shall give access to the lifeboat or liferaft embarkation deck or decks or to a stairway leading to such decks.
- (4) In **[every ship of]a** Class I, II or IIA ship, at least one of the means of escape so provided shall be enclosed, so as to afford, as far as practicable, continuous fire shelter from the level of its origin to the lifeboat and liferaft embarkation deck or decks.
- (5) In **[every ship of]a** Class V or VI ship, not being an open or partially-decked ship, the means of escape shall lead to an open deck of sufficient area, having regard to the number of person; which the ship may carry.
- (6) **[Every ship of]A** Class V or VI, being an open or partially-decked ship, shall be provided with readily accessible means of escape from all enclosed spaces in the ship. Such means of escape shall be sufficient in number and width, having regard to the number of persons who may be in the said spaces.
- (7) **(a)** In the machinery spaces in **[every]a** Chapter VII ship, not being a ship, undecked in way of the machinery space, there shall be provided from each engine room, shaft tunnel **[and]or** boiler room two means of escape as widely separated as practicable, one of which may be a watertight door if such a door is available as a means of escape.

- (b) Where [no such]the watertight door referred to in paragraph (a) is not available, the two means of escape shall consist of two sets of steel ladders leading to separate doors in the casing or elsewhere from which there is access to the lifeboat or liferaft embarkation deck or decks.
- (8) (a) In [every ship of]a Class I ship, suitable signs shall be displayed in corridors and stairways indicating the direction of escape routes to passenger muster stations.
- (b) [Such]The signs referred to in paragraph (a) shall—
- (i) be continuously illuminated [and shall];
 - (ii) be adequate in number and distribution[. They shall]; and
 - (iii) be capable of being illuminated by the ship's emergency lighting system.
- (9) (a) In [every]a Chapter VII ship, the means of escape from any public room which may be used for the purpose of concerts, cinema shows or similar forms of entertainment, shall be adequate having regard to the number of persons who may be in the audience, and the seating shall be arranged in rows to ensure free access to the exists.
- (b) Where in any [such public rooms]public room referred to in paragraph (a) subdued lighting is used, the exits shall be clearly marked with illuminated signs, and any doors shall be constructed to open outwards."

Amendment of regulation 91 of the Regulations

89. Regulation 91 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

- (a) by the substitution for the heading of regulation 91 of the following heading:

"91. Guard rails, [~~stanchion's~~stanchions and bulwarks";

(b) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following subregulation:

"(1) (a) In ~~[every]~~a Chapter VII ship, bulwarks or guard rails shall be provided on every exposed deck to which any persons or vehicles may have access.

(b) ~~[Such]~~The bulwarks or guard rails referred to in paragraph (a), together with stanchions supporting the guard rails, shall be so placed, designed and constructed, and in particular shall be of such a height above the deck as to prevent any person who may have access to that deck or any vehicle from accidentally falling therefrom.

(c) Any freeing ports fitted in such a bulwark shall be covered by a grid or bars which will prevent any person from falling through the port."; and

(c) by the substitution for subregulation (2) of the following subregulation:

"(2) In ~~[every]~~ an open or a partially-decked ~~[ship of Class V or VI,~~ every]Class V or VI ship, a washstrake, covering board ~~[and]~~or coaming, shall be so placed, designed and constructed and in particular shall be of such a height above the floorboards as to prevent any person from accidentally falling overboard."

Insertion of regulation 91A of the Regulations

90. The following regulation is inserted in Part I, Chapter VII of the Regulations after regulation 91:

91A. Ventilation for spaces

In a ship, ventilators shall be sufficient in number and size to provide adequate ventilation for all spaces which, in the opinion of the surveyor, require ventilation as prescribed in Chapter II regulation 19 of the Loadline Convention.”.

Substitution of regulation 92 of the Regulations

91. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 92 of the Regulations:

“CHAPTER VIII: EQUIVALENTS AND EXEMPTIONS

92. Equivalents

Where this Part requires that the hull or machinery of a ship shall be constructed in a particular manner, or that particular equipment shall be provided, or that particular provision shall be made, the Authority may allow the hull or machinery of the ship to be constructed in any other manner or any other equipment to be provided or other provision made, if [he]the Authority is satisfied that such other construction equipment or provision is at least as effective as that required by this Part.”.

Substitution of regulation 93 of the Regulations

92. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 93 of the Regulations:

“93. General exemption

The Authority may exempt [any]a ship which was constructed before the date of coming into operation of this Part, not being a ship converted on or after that date for service as a passenger ship, from the requirements of this Part to the extent

to which ~~[he]the Authority~~ is satisfied that compliance therewith is unreasonable or impracticable in the circumstances.”.

Substitution of regulation 94 of the Regulations

93. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 94 of the Regulations:

“94. Exemption for certain ships on limited service

The Authority may exempt any ship of Class II or IIA which does not proceed more than 20 miles from the nearest land from the requirements of this Part to the extent that ~~[he]the Authority~~ is satisfied that compliance therewith is unreasonable or impracticable by reason of the sheltered nature and conditions of the intended service of the ship.”.

Substitution of regulation 95 of the Regulations

94. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 95 of the Regulations:

“95. Exemption in respect of double bottoms

- (1) The Authority may exempt ~~[any ship of]a~~ Class I, II or IIA ship from the requirements of regulation ~~[10 (4)]10~~ in respect of any well which ~~[he]the Authority~~ is satisfied will not diminish the protection given by the double bottom.
- (2) The Authority may exempt ~~[any ship of]a~~ Class II or IIA ship from the requirements or regulation 10 in respect of a double bottom in any portion of the ship which is subdivided by application of a factor of subdivision not exceeding 0.5, if ~~[he]the Authority~~ is satisfied that the fitting of a double

bottom in that portion of the ship would not be compatible with the design and proper working of the ship.”.

Substitution of regulation 96 of the Regulations

95. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 96 of the Regulations:

“96. Exemption in respect of openings in the shell plating below the margin line

The Authority may exempt [any Chapter II ship of]a Class V or VI ship referred to in Chapter II from the requirements of regulation [19 (8)]19 to the extent to which [he]the Authority is satisfied that compliance therewith is unreasonable or impracticable in the circumstances.”.

Substitution of regulation 97 of the Regulations

96. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 97 of the Regulations:

“97. Exemption in respect of methods of fire protection

The Authority may exempt [any Chapter V ship of]a Class I, II or IIA ship referred to in Chapter V from the requirements of regulation 50 to the extent that [he]the Authority is satisfied that compliance therewith is incompatible with the purpose for which the ship is designed and that other equally effective methods of fire protection have been adopted in the ship.”.

Substitution of regulation 98 of the Regulations

97. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 98 of the Regulations:

"98. Exemption in respect of "A" and "B" Class divisions

The Authority may exempt [any Chapter V ship of]a Class I, II or IIA ship referred to in Chapter V from the requirements of regulation [51]50 relating to insulation, to the extent that [he]the Authority is satisfied that compliance therewith is unnecessary, having regard to the degree of fire hazard present."

Substitution of regulation 99 of the Regulations

98. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 99 of the Regulations:

"99. Exemption in respect of automatic fire alarm and fire detection systems: Methods I and III

The Authority may exempt [any Chapter V ship of]a Class I, II or IIA ship referred to in Chapter V from the requirements of regulation 56 to the extent that [he]the Authority is satisfied that the accommodation spaces and service spaces therein afford no substantial fire risk."

Substitution of regulation 100 of the Regulations

99. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 100 of the Regulations:

"100.Exemption in respect of automatic sprinkler, fire alarm and fire detection systems

The Authority may exempt [any Chapter V ship of]a Class I, II or IIA ship referred to in Chapter V from the requirements of regulation 57(1): -

- (a) to the extent that [he]the Authority is satisfied that the accommodation spaces and service spaces therein afford no substantial fire risk; and
- (b) in respect of any baggage room or store room which [he]the Authority is satisfied is provided with adequate arrangements for the detection of fire or for the smothering of fire by gas or other suitable means."

Substitution of regulation 101 of the Regulations

100. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 101 of the Regulations:

"101. Exemption in respect of protection of stairways

The Authority may exempt [any Chapter V ship of]a Class I, II or IIA ship referred to in Chapter V from the requirements of regulation 58(2) in relation to any stairway which [he]the Authority is satisfied is an auxiliary stairway adequately protected by sprinklers."

Substitution of regulation 102 of the Regulations

101. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 102 of the Regulations:

"102. Exemption in respect of miscellaneous items of fire protection

The Authority may exempt [any Chapter V ship of]a Class I, II or IIA ship referred to in Chapter V from the requirements of regulation 64 (2) (b) if [he]the Authority is satisfied that there is no risk of fire originating in the spaces mentioned in that regulation."

Substitution of regulation 103 of the Regulations

102. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 103 of the Regulations:

"103. Exemption in respect of structure of Class V or VI ship

The Authority may exempt [any ship of]a Class V or VI ship wholly or in part from the requirements of regulation 68."

Substitution of regulation 104 of the Regulations

103. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 104 of the Regulations:

"104. Exemption in respect of means of escape

The Authority may exempt [any ship of]a Class I, II, IIA, V or VI ship, being a ship of less than 2,000 gross tons, from the requirements of regulation 90 (7)."

Amendment of Part II of the Regulations

104. Part II of the Regulations is hereby amended by the substitution in the Arrangement of Regulations (table of contents) of the following table:

"PART II

(Cargo ships.)

CHAPTER I - GENERAL

[105. Interpretation.]

106. Application of Part II.

106A. Compliance with the Safety Convention.

CHAPTER II - CONSTRUCTION

- 107. Structural strength.
- 108. Submission and approval of plans.
- 109. Watertight [~~doors~~]closures.
- 110. Bilge pumping arrangements.
- 111. Electrical equipment and installation-general.
- 111A. Main source of electrical power and lighting systems.
- [112. Emergency source of electric power: Ships of 5,000 gross tons or over.**
- 113. Emergency source of electric power: Ships of 1,600 gross tons or over but under 5,000 gross tons.]**
- 114. Emergency source of electric power[: **Ships of under 1,600 tons.**]
- 114A. Starting arrangements for emergency generating sets.
- 115. Electric and electro-hydraulic steering gear.
- 116. Precautions against shock, fire and other hazards of electrical origin.
- 117. Fire protection: Ships of 4,000 gross tons or over.
- 118. Fire protection: [**General**]Openings in machinery space boundaries.
- 119. [**Boilers and machinery: general**]General: Boilers, machinery, other pressure vessels, associated piping systems and fittings.
- 120. [**Boilers and other pressure vessels**]Steam boilers and boiler feed systems.
- 121. Machinery and machinery control.
- 121A. Ventilation and ventilation system in machinery space.
- 121B. Refrigeration systems.
- 122. Means for going astern.
- 123. Shafts, gearing and coupling used for transmission.
- [124. Boiler feed systems.]**
- 125. Steam pipe systems.
- 126. Air pressure systems.
- 127. Cooling water system.
- 128. Lubricating [**and other**] oil systems.

129. Oil and gaseous fuel installations.
- 129A. Oil fuel and gas installations (cooking ranges and other heating appliances).
130. Communication between navigation bridge and **[engine room] machinery control station**
131. Steering gear.
132. Spare gear.
133. Anchors and chain cables.
134. Means of escape.
135. Means for stopping machinery, shutting off fuel suction pipes and closing of openings.
135. **[Means for stopping machinery, shutting off fuel suction pipes and closing of openings]**Fire growth potential.
- 135A. Ventilation for spaces.

CHAPTER III - SURVEY PRIOR TO THE ISSUE OF A CARGO SHIP SAFETY CONSTRUCTION CERTIFICATE, A DRY DOCK CERTIFICATE AND APPLICATION FOR THE ISSUE OF THE CERTIFICATE

136. Application for survey prior to the issue of a cargo ship safety construction certificate.
137. Survey of a ship prior to the issue of a cargo **[ship]**ship safety construction certificate.
138. Application for the issue of a cargo ship safety construction certificate.
- 138A. Application for survey prior to the issue of a dry dock certificate.
- 138B. Survey of a ship prior to the issue of a dry dock certificate.
- 138C. Application for the issue of a dry dock certificate.

CHAPTER IV - INTERMEDIATE SURVEYS

139. General.
140. Additional surveys.

CHAPTER V - EQUIVALENTS AND EXEMPTIONS

141. Equivalents.
142. Exemption in respect of precautions against shock, fire and other hazards of electrical origin.
143. Exemption in respect of means of escape.
144. General exemption.”.

Repeal of regulation 105 of the Regulations

105. Regulation 105 of the Regulations is hereby repealed.

Amendment of regulation 106 of the Regulations

106. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 106 of the Regulations:

“**[(1) Subject to the provisions of sub-regulation (2), this] This** Part applies to—

- (a) **[every ship]a ship** of 500 **gross** tons or over which is registered in the **[republic]Republic** or which is, in terms of the Act, required to be so registered**[, and]**;
- (b) **[every ship]a ship** of 500 **gross** tons or over which is registered in a country other than the Republic, and which plies or is intended to ply on international voyages, not being a passenger **[ship]vessel**, fishing boat, **[sealing boat, whaling boat,] pleasure [yacht]vessel** or a ship which is not propelled by mechanical means**[.]**;
- (c) a ship of 25 gross tons or over but less than 500 gross tons which is registered in the Republic or which is, in terms of the Act, required to be so registered; and

(d) a ship of 25 gross tons or over but less than 500 gross tons which is registered in a country other than the Republic, and which plies or is intended to ply on international voyages, not being a passenger vessel, fishing boat, pleasure vessel or a vessel which is not propelled by mechanical means.

[(2) Regulation 109 (2), (3), (4) and (5), regulations 111 to 118 inclusive, regulations 119 (2), 124 (2), 126 (2) (c) and (d), 130, 131 (2) and (3) and regulation 134 (2) do not apply to a ship the keel of which was laid before 26th May, 1965].”.

Insertion of regulations 106A of the Regulations

107. The following regulation is inserted in Part II, Chapter I of the Regulations after regulation 106:

“106A. Compliance with the Safety Convention

A cargo ship of 500 gross tons or over, shall be constructed in compliance with the requirements of Chapter II-1 of the Safety Convention as applicable to cargo ships and the applicable Codes.”.

Substitution of regulation 107 of the Regulations

108. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 107 of the Regulations:

“107. Structural strength

The structural strength of **[every]**a ship and the number and disposition of transverse watertight bulkheads, shall be adequate for the service for which the ship is intended.”.

CONTINUES ON PAGE 258 OF BOOK 3

Printed by and obtainable from the Government Printer, Bosman Street, Private Bag X85, Pretoria, 0001
Contact Centre Tel: 012-748 6200. eMail: info.egazette@gpw.gov.za
Publications: Tel: (012) 748 6053, 748 6061, 748 6065



Government Gazette Staatskoerant

REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA
REPUBLIEK VAN SUID AFRIKA

Vol. 696

23

June
Junie

2023

No. 48841

PART 4 OF 4

N.B. The Government Printing Works will not be held responsible for the quality of "Hard Copies" or "Electronic Files" submitted for publication purposes

ISSN 1682-5845



9 771682 584003



AIDS HELPLINE: 0800-0123-22 Prevention is the cure

Substitution of regulation 108 of the Regulations

109. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 107 of the Regulations:

"108. Submission and approval of plans

Before the construction or modification of any ship is commenced, the builder or owner thereof shall submit in duplicate to the **[Minister or]** Authority for approval such plans and particulars as may be required by the **[Minister or]** Authority, as the case may be as set forth in Annex 1."

Substitution of regulation 109 of the Regulations

110. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 109 of the Regulations:

"109. Watertight ~~[doors]~~ closures

- (1) In **[every]a** ship in which a watertight **[door]closure** is provided to maintain the watertight integrity of a bulkhead, every such watertight **[door]closure** shall be made of suitable material and shall be efficiently constructed for its intended duty in accordance with the applicable requirements of Chapter II-1 regulations 13 and 16 of the Safety Convention.
- (2) In **[every]a** ship to which this **[sub-regulation]subregulation** applies—
 - (a) **[every]a** watertight door of the sliding type, shall be capable of being operated by efficient hand operated gear both at the door itself and from an accessible position above the bulkhead deck; and
 - (b) the operating gear for operating from above the bulkhead deck any sliding watertight door fitted in the bulkhead of a machinery space, shall be situated outside the machinery space, unless such a position

is inconsistent with the efficient arrangement of the necessary gearing.

- (3) In **[every]a** ship to which this **[sub-regulation]subregulation** applies, where there is access from the lower part of the machinery space to a watertight shaft tunnel, the access opening shall be provided with a sliding watertight door which shall be capable of being operated locally on both sides of the door.
- (4) In **[every]a** ship to which this **[sub-regulation]subregulation** applies, means shall be provided at remote operating positions to indicate when a sliding door is closed.
- (5) In **[every]a** ship to which this **[sub-regulation]subregulation** applies, **a** watertight **[doors]door** shall be capable of being operated when the ship is listed up to 15 degrees either way."

Substitution of regulation 110 of the Regulations

111. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 110 of the Regulations:

"110. Bilge pumping arrangements

- (1) **[Every]a** ship shall be provided with efficient bilge pumping plant and means for drainage so arranged that water entering any part of the hull, other than a space permanently appropriated for the carriage of fresh water, water ballast, oil fuel or liquid cargo and for which other efficient means of pumping or drainage are provided, can be pumped out through at least one suction pipe when the ship is on even keel or is listed not more than 5 degrees either way[. **Wing]and wing** suction shall be provided where

necessary for this purpose in accordance with the requirements of Chapter II-1 regulation 35-1 of the Safety Convention.

- (2) Efficient means shall be provided whereby water may easily flow to the suction pipes[.]; Provided that the **[Minister]Authority** may allow the means of pumping or drainage to be dispensed with in particular compartments of any **[ship]vessel** or class of **[ships]vessel**, if **[he]the Authority** is satisfied that the safety of the **[ship]vessel** is not thereby impaired.”.

Substitution of regulation 111 of the Regulations

112. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 111 of the Regulations:

“111. Electrical equipment and installations - general

- (1) In **[every]a** ship to which this regulation applies, the electrical equipment and installations including any electrical means of propulsion, shall be such that the ship and all persons on board are protected against electrical hazards in compliance with the requirements of Chapter II-1 regulation 40 of the Safety Convention.
- (2) **[Every]A** ship to which this regulation applies, being a ship in which electric power is the only power for maintaining auxiliary services essential for the propulsion or safety of the ship, shall be provided with two or more generating sets of such power that the aforesaid services can be operated when any one of the sets is out of service.
- (3) In **[every]a** ship to which this regulation applies, where there electrical load includes services essential for the propulsion or safety of the **ship** and the normal sea load is such that two or more generators are required to operate in parallel, arrangements shall be made to trip automatically sufficient non-

essential load when the total current exceeds the connected generator capacity.”.

Insertion of regulation 111A of the Regulations

113. The following regulation is inserted in Part II, Chapter II of the Regulations after regulation 110:

“111A. Main source of electrical power and lighting systems

- (1) The main source of electrical power and lighting systems in a cargo vessel shall—**
- (a) consist of at least two generating sets; and**
 - (b) be in accordance with the requirements of, Chapter II-1 regulation 41 of the Safety Convention.”.**

Repeal of regulation 112, 113 of the Regulations

114. Regulations 112 and 113 of the Regulations are hereby repealed.

Substitution of regulation 114 of the Regulations

115. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 114 of the Regulations:

“114. Emergency source of electric power[: ships of under 1,600 tons]

- (1) In [every]a ship to which this regulation applies [being a ship of under 1,600 tons] not having its main source of electric power situated above the uppermost continuous deck or raised quarter-deck and outside the machinery casings, there shall be provided in a position above the uppermost continuous deck or raised quarter deck and outside the**

machinery casings, a self-contained emergency source of electric power so arranged as to ensure its functioning in the event of fire or other casualty causing failure, of the main electrical installation.

- (2) In ~~[every]~~a ship referred to in ~~[sub-regulation]~~subregulation (1), the emergency source of electric power required by that subregulation shall be capable of operating simultaneously for a period of at least 3 hours the following services~~[-]~~:
- (a) the emergency lighting ~~[required by regulation 45 (3) (a) and (b) of the Life-Saving Equipment Regulations, 1968]~~—
- ~~(i) at every muster and embarkation station and over the sides;~~(i) at every muster and embarkation station and over the sides;
 - ~~(ii) in all service and accommodation alleyways, stairways and exists, personnel lift cars and personnel lift trunks;~~(ii) in all service and accommodation alleyways, stairways and exists, personnel lift cars and personnel lift trunks;
 - ~~(iii) in machinery spaces and main generating stations including their control positions;~~(iii) in machinery spaces and main generating stations including their control positions;
 - ~~(iv) in all control stations, machinery control rooms and at each main and emergency switchboard;~~(iv) in all control stations, machinery control rooms and at each main and emergency switchboard;
 - ~~(v) at all stowage positions for firemen's outfits;~~(v) at all stowage positions for firemen's outfits;
 - ~~(vi) at the steering gear;~~(vi) at the steering gear;
 - ~~(vii) at the fire pump;~~(vii) at the fire pump;
 - ~~(viii) at the sprinkler pump, and at the emergency bilge pump, if any, and at the starting positions of their motors; and~~(viii) at the sprinkler pump, and at the emergency bilge pump, if any, and at the starting positions of their motors; and
 - ~~(ix) in all cargo pump rooms of tankers constructed on or after 1 July 2002;~~(ix) in all cargo pump rooms of tankers constructed on or after 1 July 2002;
- (b) the general alarm, if electrically operated; ~~[and]~~
- (c) the ship's navigation lights, if solely electric~~[-]~~;
- ~~(d) the ship's radio installations;~~(d) the ship's radio installations;
- ~~(e) the ship's internal communication equipment;~~(e) the ship's internal communication equipment;
- ~~(f) fire detection and fire alarm systems;~~(f) fire detection and fire alarm systems;

(g) intermittent operation of the daylight signalling lamp, the ship's whistle, the manually operated call points and all internal signals that are required for an emergency.

Provided any of the items listed in paragraph (a) to (g) may be powered by its own emergency source of power.

- (3) In **[every]**a ship referred to in **[sub-regulation]**subregulation (1)–
- (a) the emergency source of electric power shall be either accumulator **[(storage)]**or storage batteries capable of complying with the requirements of **[sub-regulation]**subregulation (2) without being recharged or suffering an excessive voltage drop, or a generator driven by internal combustion type machinery with an independent fuel supply and with efficient starting arrangement and the fuel provided for such machinery shall have a flash point of not less than **[110° F. (43° C.)]**43° C.;
- (b) the emergency source of electric power shall be so arranged that it will operate efficiently when the ship is listed 22½ degrees and when the trim of the ship is 10 degrees from an even keel~~[.];~~ and
- (c) provision shall be made for the periodical testing of the emergency source of electric power and its associated circuits.”.

Insertion of regulations 114A of the Regulations

116. The following regulation is inserted in Part II, Chapter II of the Regulations after regulation 114:

“114A. Starting arrangements for emergency generating sets

Emergency generating sets shall be in compliance with Chapter II-1 regulation 44 of the Safety Convention and be capable of being readily started in their cold condition at a temperature of 0°C: Provided if this is impracticable, or if lower

temperatures are likely to be encountered, provision acceptable to the Authority shall be made for the maintenance of heating arrangements, to ensure ready starting of the generating sets."

Amendment of regulation 115 of the Regulations

117. Regulation 115 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

(a) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following subregulation

"115. Electric and electro-hydraulic steering gear

(1) **[Every]**~~Δ~~ ship to which this regulation applies which is fitted with electric or electro-hydraulic steering gear, shall be provided with indicators which will show when the power units of such steering gear are running~~[. These]~~
which indicators shall be situated in the machinery space, preferably in the control room if any, and on the navigating bridge in accordance with Chapter II-1 regulation 29 and 30 of the Safety Convention."; and

(b) by the deletion of subregulations (2) and (3).

Amendment of regulation 116 of the Regulations

118. Regulation 116 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

(a) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following subregulation:

"116. Precautions against shock, fire and other hazards of electrical origin

(1) In **[every]**~~a~~ ship to which this regulation applies, all electrical equipment shall be so constructed and installed **[that there will be no danger of injury to any person handling it in a proper manner. Subject to the**

provisions of sub-regulation (2), where electrical equipment supplied as ships' equipment is to be operated at a voltage in excess of 55 volts, the exposed metal parts of such equipment which are not intended to have a voltage above that of earth but which may have such a voltage under fault conditions, shall be earthed]in accordance with Chapter II-1 regulation 45 of the Safety Convention."; and

- (b) by the deletion of subregulations (2), (3), (4), (5), (6), (7), (8), (9), (10) and (11).

Repeal of regulation 117 of the Regulations

119. Regulation 117 of the Regulations is hereby repealed.

Amendment of regulation 118 of the Regulations

120. Regulation 118 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

- (a) by the substitution for the heading of regulation 118 of the following heading:

"118. Fire protection: [general]Openings in machinery space boundaries";

- (b) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following:

"[(1) In every ship to which this regulation applies, the skylights to spaces containing main propulsion machinery or oil-fired boilers or auxiliary internal combustion type machinery of a total horsepower of 1,000 or over, shall be capable of being closed and, where practicable, opened from outside the space in the event of fire and, where they contain glass panels, such panels shall be of fire resisting construction fitted with wire

reinforced glass and shall have external, permanently attached shutters of steel or other equivalent material]

The following provision of this regulation shall apply to machinery space boundaries and, where the Authority considers it desirable, to any other spaces:

- (a) The number of skylights, doors, ventilators, openings in funnels to permit exhaust ventilation and other openings to machinery spaces shall be reduced to a minimum consistent with the needs of ventilation and the proper and safe working of the ship.
- (b) Skylights shall be of steel and shall not contain glass panels.
- (c) Means of control shall be provided for closing power-operated doors or actuating release mechanisms on doors other than power-operated watertight doors.
- (d) The control in paragraph (c) shall be located outside the space concerned, where they will not be cut off in the event of fire in the space it serves.
- (e) Windows shall not be fitted in machinery space boundaries: Provided, this does not preclude the use of glass in control rooms within the machinery spaces.”; and

- (c) by the deletion of subregulation (2).

Amendment of regulation 119 of the Regulations

121. Regulation 119 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

- (a) by the substitution for the heading of regulation 119 of the following heading:

“119. [Boilers and machinery: general]General: Boilers, machinery, other pressure vessels, associated piping systems and fittings”;

(b) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following:

"(1) In **[every]a** ship, **[the]** machinery, **[boilers and]a boiler or** other pressure **[vessels]vessel** shall be **[of a design and construction adequate for the service for which they are intended and shall be so installed and protected as to reduce to a minimum any danger to persons on board] in accordance with Chapter II-1 regulation 26 of the Safety Convention.**";
and

(c) by the deletion of subregulation (2).

Amendment of regulation 120 of the Regulations

122. Regulation 120 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

(a) by the substitution for the heading of regulation 120 of the following heading:

"120. [Boilers and other pressure vessels]Steam boilers and boiler feed systems";

(b) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following:

[(1)]In **[every]a ship, **[every]a steam** boiler **[or other pressure vessel and in respective mountings]and boiler feed systems** shall**[, before being put into service for the first time, be subjected to a hydraulic test to a pressure suitably in excess of the working pressure which shall ensure that the boiler or other pressure vessel and its mountings are adequate in strength and design for the service for which it is intended having regard to—****

- (a) the design and the material of which it is constructed;
- (b) the purpose for which it is intended to be used; and
- (c) the working conditions under which it is intended to be used, and every such boiler or other pressure vessel and its respective mountings shall be maintained in an efficient condition]be in accordance with Chapter II-1 regulation 32 of the Safety Convention.”; and

- (c) by the deletion of subregulation (2).

Amendment of regulation 121 of the Regulations

123. Regulation 121 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

- (a) by the substitution for the heading of regulation 121 of the following heading:

“121. Machinery and machinery control”;

- (b) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following:

“(1) In **[every]a** ship, main and auxiliary machinery essential for the propulsion and safety of the ship, shall be **[provided with effective means of control, and the machinery shall be capable of being brought into operation when initial no power is available in the ship]**in accordance with Chapter II-1 regulations 27 and 31 of the Safety Convention.”; and

- (c) by the deletion of subregulations (2) and (3).

Insertion of regulations 121A and 121B of the Regulations

124. The following regulations are inserted in Part II, Chapter II of the Regulations after regulation 121:

"121A. Ventilation and ventilation system in machinery space

(1) In a ship, a space in which an oil fuel tank or any part of an oil fuel installation is situated, shall be adequately ventilated in compliance with Chapter II-2 regulation 4 of the Safety Convention.

(2) Machinery spaces shall be adequately ventilated for the purpose of that machinery space to ensure that when machinery or boilers therein are operating at full power in all weather conditions including heavy weather, an adequate supply of air is maintained to the spaces for the safety and comfort of personnel and the operation of the machinery in compliance with Chapter II-1 regulation 35 of the Safety Convention.

(3) The ventilation of machinery spaces shall be sufficient under normal conditions to prevent accumulation of oil vapour.

121B. Refrigeration systems

Full particulars of refrigeration installations, other than domestic refrigerators, shall be submitted to the Authority for approval."

Substitution of regulation 122 of the Regulations

125. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 122 of the Regulations:

"122. Means for going astern

[Every] A ship shall have sufficient power for going astern to secure proper control of the ship in all normal circumstances in accordance with Chapter II-1 regulation 28 of the Safety Convention.”.

Substitution of regulation 123 of the Regulations

126. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 123 of the Regulations:

“123. Shafts, gearing and coupling used for transmission

In **[every]** a ship, **[every]** a shaft, gearing and coupling used for transmission shall be so designed and constructed **[that it will withstand the maximum working stresses i o which it may be subjected, with a factor of safety which is adequate having regard to—**

- (a) the material of which it is constructed;**
- (b) the service for which it is intended; and**
- (c) the type of engines by which it is driven or of which it forms a part]**in accordance with Chapter II-1 regulation 27 of the Safety Convention.”.

Repeal of regulation 124 of the Regulations

127. Regulation 124 of the Regulations is hereby repealed.

Amendment of regulation 125 of the Regulations

128. Regulation 125 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

- (a) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following:**

“125. Steam pipe systems

- (1) In ~~[every]~~a ship, every steam pipe ~~[and every fitting connected thereto through which steam may pass,]~~system shall be so designed and constructed ~~[as to withstand the maximum working stresses to which it may be subjected, with a factor of safety which is adequate having regard to-]~~in accordance with Chapter II-I regulation 33 of the Safety Convention.”;
- (b) by the deletion in subregulation (1) of paragraphs (a) and (b); and
- (c) by the deletion of subregulations (1), (2), (3), (4), (5) and (6).

Substitution of regulation 126 of the Regulations

129. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 126 of the Regulations:

“126. Air pressure systems

- (1) Air pressure systems shall be constructed in compliance with Chapter II-1 regulation 34 of the Safety Convention.
- (2) A ship in which machinery essential for the propulsion and safety of the ship or of persons on board is required to be started, operated or controlled solely by compressed shall be provided at least two air compressors each of which shall be of efficient design and of sufficient strength and capacity for the service for which it is intended: Provided that in a ship of Class V or VI only one such compressor shall be required.
- (3) If an air pressure pipe may receive air from any source at a higher pressure than it can withstand with an adequate factor of safety, an efficient reducing valve, relief valve and pressure gauge shall be fitted to such pipe.

(4) Air pressure systems shall be inspected and tested to the satisfaction of the Authority.

(5) The Authority, in its discretion, may allow a deviation from the requirements of subregulation (2) and (3)."

Substitution of regulation 127 of the Regulations

130. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 127 of the Regulations:

"127. Cooling water system

[In every ship in which cooling water services are essential for the running of the propelling machinery, there shall be at least two means of operating such water services.]

(1) In a ship, where machinery essential for the propulsion or safety of the ship or of persons on board is dependent for its operation on an efficient cooling water system, there shall be provided at least one circulating pump and, provision shall be made so that in the event of the failure of such pump, an alternative pump is available for the same duty.

(2) The pump referred to in subregulation (1) shall be capable of supplying adequate cooling water to such machinery, oil coolers, fresh water coolers or condensers fitted thereto, as required by original equipment manufacturer specifications, as the case may be.

(3) If direct sea water cooling is used for essential internal combustion machinery, the sea water suction shall be provided with strainers which can be cleaned without interruption of the supply of water.

(4) Means shall be provided for ascertaining whether a cooling system is working properly and for preventing overpressure in any part thereof.

(5) An exhaust pipe or silencer of an internal combustion engine provided in a ship, shall be efficiently cooled or lagged."

Amendment of regulation 128 of the Regulations

131. Regulation 128 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

(a) by the substitution for the heading of regulation 128 of the following heading:

"128. Lubricating [and other] oil systems";

(b) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following subregulation:

"(1) In [every]a ship in which oil for lubrication, cooling or operation of the main propelling machinery and its ancillary services is circulated under pressure, [provision shall be made so that in the event of the failure of a pump, an alternative means of circulating such oil is available]at least two pumps shall be provided each of which shall be adequate for circulating such oil: Provided that in a ship of Class V or VI and in the case of any emergency generator in any ship, only one such pump shall be required.";
and

(c) by the addition after subregulation (1) of the following subregulations:

"(2) (a) In a Class I, II or IIA ship propelled by turbine machinery, or having turbo-electric propelling machinery, the lubricating oil arrangements shall be such that an emergency supply of oil is available sufficient to

maintain after a power failure an adequate supply of lubricating oil for at least three minutes or for such time as may be required for unloaded turbo-electric propelling machinery to come to rest from the maximum running speed.

(b) The emergency supply referred to in paragraph (a) shall automatically come into use on failure of the pressure supply of lubricating oil from the pump or pumps.

(3) Strainers shall be provided for straining the lubricating oil, and, except in a Class V or VI ship, where lubricating oil shall be capable of being cleaned without interrupting the supply of such oil.

(4) Means shall be provided for ascertaining whether the lubricating system is working properly and for preventing overpressure in any part of the system and if the means of preventing overpressure is a relief valve, it shall be in close circuit."

Substitution of regulation 129 of the Regulations

132. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 129 of the Regulations:

"129. Oil and gaseous fuel installations

(1) In **[every]a** ship, oil fuel provided for use in boilers or machinery, shall have a flash point of not less than **[150°F.]60° C.** (closed test): Provided that the **[Minister]Authority** may, subject to such conditions as **[he]the Authority** may impose-

(a) permit any ship to use **[oil]** fuel having a flash point **[of not]** less than **[130° F.]60°C.** in boilers[, or oil fuel having a flash point of not less than **110° F. in internal combustion type]or machinery as**

prescribed in Chapter II-1 regulations 56 and 57 and Chapter II-2 regulation 4 of the Safety Convention; or

- (b) permit the use of gaseous fuel in a ship designed for the carriage of liquefied gas if such fuel results solely from evaporation of cargo carried in accordance with the IGC Code[.].

[Nothing] Provided that nothing in this **[sub-regulation]** subregulation shall apply to fuel provided for machinery permitted by regulation **[112 (3) (a), 113 (3) (a) or] 114 (3) (a)**.

- (2) In **[every]a** ship being a ship in which oil or gaseous fuel is used, the arrangements for the storage, distribution and **[utilization]utilisation** of the fuel shall be such that, having regard to the hazards of fire and explosion which the use of such fuel may entail, the safety of the ship and of persons on board is preserved.
- (3) In **[every]a** ship being a ship in which oil or gaseous fuel is used in engines or boilers for the propulsion or safety of the ship, the arrangements for the storage, distribution and **[utilization]utilisation** of the fuel, shall be such that the effective use of the engines can be maintained under all conditions likely to be met by the ship in service.
- (4) In **[every]a** ship, **[every]an** oil fuel installation which serves a boiler supplying steam for the propulsion of the ship, shall include not less than two oil fuel units.”.

Insertion of regulations 129A of the Regulations

133. The following regulation is inserted in Part II, Chapter II of the Regulations after regulation 129:

"129A. Oil fuel and gas installations (cooking ranges and other heating appliances)

In a ship, if a cooking range or other heating appliance is supplied with oil fuel or gas, the installations shall be in compliance with Chapter II-2 regulation 4 of the Safety Convention."

Substitution of regulation 130 of the Regulations

134. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 130 of the Regulations:

"130. Communication between navigation bridge and [engine room] machinery control station

[Every]A ship to which this regulation applies, shall be provided with [two] means of communicating orders from the navigating bridge to the [engine room]machinery control [platform]station [. One of the means shall be an engine room telegraph]in compliance with Chapter II-1 regulation 37 of the Safety Convention: Provided the Authority may, subject to such conditions as the Authority may impose, permit deviation from compliance with this regulation."

Amendment of regulation 131 of the Regulations

135. Regulation 131 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

(a) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following:

"131. Steering gear

[(1) Every]A ship shall be provided with efficient main means of steering and [auxiliary] alternative means of steering suitable to its size and the type of

steering [gear: **Provided that, if duplicate steering gear power units and their connections are fitted and each power unit complies with the requirements of sub-regulation (2) (c) and the duplicate units and connections operating together comply with the requirements of subregulation (2) (b), no auxiliary steering gear shall be required**] suitable to its size and the type of steering used in accordance with Chapter II-1 regulation 29 and 30 of the Safety Convention."; and

- (b) by the deletion of subregulations (2) and (3).

Substitution of regulation 132 of the Regulations

136. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 132 of the Regulations:

"132. Spare gear

[Every] A ship shall be provided with sufficient spare gear together with the necessary tools for the fitting of the spare gear, having regard to the intended service of the ship."

Substitution of regulation 133 of the Regulations

137. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 133 of the Regulations:

"133. Anchors and chain cables

[Every] A ship shall be provided with such anchors and chain cables as are sufficient in number, weight and strength, having regard to the size and intended service of the ship."

Substitution of regulation 134 of the Regulations

138. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 134 of the Regulations:

"134. Means of escape

- (1) In **[every]**a ship, stairways and ladderways shall be arranged so as to provide ready means of escape to the lifeboat embarkation deck from all crew spaces, passenger spaces and other spaces in which the crew are normally employed.
- (2) (a) In **[every]**a ship to which this **[sub-regulation]**subregulation applies, there shall be provided from each engine room, workshop, shaft tunnel and boiler room two means of escape as widely separated as practicable, one of which may be a watertight door if such a door is available as a means of escape; Provided, at least one escape route shall provide a continuous fire shelter to a safe position outside the machinery space.
 - (b) Where **[no such]**the watertight door referred to in paragraph (a) is available, the two means of escape shall consist of two sets of steel ladders leading to separate doors in the casing or elsewhere from which there is access to the lifeboat or liferaft embarkation deck or decks."

Amendment of regulation 135 of the Regulations

139. Regulation 135 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

- (a) by the substitution for the heading of regulation 135 of the following heading:

"135. [Means for stopping machinery, shutting off fuel suction pipes and closing of openings]Fire growth potential";

(b) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following:

"[(1)]In [every]a ship, there shall be provided means for [stopping ventilating fans serving machinery, accommodation and cargo spaces. For machinery and cargo spaces, there shall be provided means for closing all skylights, doorways, ventilators, annular spaces around funnels and other openings to such spaces. Such means shall be capable of being operated from positions outside the said spaces which would not be made inaccessible by a fire within such spaces]limiting fire-growth potential in every space of the ship, in accordance with Chapter II-2 regulation 5 of the Safety Convention."; and

(c) by the deletion of subregulations (2) and (3).

Insertion of regulation 135A of the Regulations

140. The following regulation is inserted in Part II, Chapter II of the Regulations after regulation 135:

"135A. Ventilation for spaces

In a ship, ventilators shall be sufficient in number and size to provide adequate ventilation for all spaces which, in the opinion of the surveyor, require ventilation as prescribed in Chapter II regulation 19 of the Loadline Convention.";

Amendment of Chapter III of Part II of the Regulations

141. Chapter III of Part II of the Regulations is hereby amended by the substitution for the heading of Chapter III of the following heading:

"CHAPTER III - SURVEY PRIOR TO THE ISSUE OF A CARGO SHIP SAFETY CONSTRUCTION CERTIFICATE, A DRY DOCK CERTIFICATE AND APPLICATION FOR THE ISSUE OF THE CERTIFICATE".

Substitution of regulation 136 of the Regulations

142. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 136 of the Regulations:

"136. Application for survey prior to the issue of a cargo ship safety construction certificate

[Every]An application for the survey of a ship prior to the issue of a cargo ship safety construction certificate shall be made to the Authority or proper officer and shall be accompanied by such information relating to the ship as the Authority or proper officer may require."

Amendment of regulation 137 of the Regulations

143. Regulation 137 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

(a) by the substitution for the heading of regulation 137 of the following heading:

"137. Survey of a ship prior to the issue of a cargo ~~[shiip]~~ship safety construction certificate";

(b) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following subregulation:

"(1) The Authority or proper officer, as the case may be, shall upon receipt of **[the]an** application for survey, cause the ship to be surveyed by a qualified surveyor."; and

(c) by the substitution for subregulation (2) of the following subregulation:

"(2) The surveyor referred to in subregulation (1) shall survey the ship **[and shall satisfy himself]to be satisfied** that the **[arrangements, materials and scantlings of the structure, boilers and other pressure vessels and their appurtenances (other than domestic boilers having a heating surface of 50 square feet or less and a working pressure of 50 lb. per square inch or less and other domestic pressure vessels having such a working pressure), main and auxiliary machinery, electrical installations and other equipment comply]ship complies** with the requirements of Chapter II of these Regulations and **[are]is** in all respects satisfactory for the service for which the ship is intended, having regard to the period for which the cargo ship safety construction certificate in respect **[oil]of** the ship is to be issued."

Substitution of regulation 138 of the Regulations

144. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 138 of the Regulations:

"138. Application for the issue of a cargo ship safety construction certificate

Application for the issue of a cargo ship safety construction certificate shall be made to the proper officer at the port of registry of the ship concerned or to the Authority.

Insertion of regulations 138A to 138C of the Regulations

145. The following regulations are inserted in Part II, Chapter III of the Regulations after regulation 138:

"138A. Application for survey prior to the issue of a dry dock certificate

An application for the survey of a ship prior to the issue of a cargo ship safety construction certificate shall be made to the Authority or proper officer and shall be accompanied by such information relating to the ship as the Authority or proper officer may require.

138B. Survey of a ship prior to the issue of a dry dock certificate

(1) The Authority or proper officer, as the case may be, shall upon receipt of an application for survey, cause the ship to be surveyed by a qualified surveyor.

(2) The surveyor referred to in subregulation (1) shall survey the ship to be satisfied that the ship complies with the requirements of Chapter II of these Regulations and is in all respects satisfactory for the service for which the ship is intended, having regard to the period for which the cargo ship safety construction certificate in respect of the ship is to be issued.

138C. Application for the issue of a dry dock certificate

Application for the issue of a cargo ship safety construction certificate shall be made to the proper officer at the port of registry of the ship concerned or to the Authority."

Substitution of regulation 139 of the Regulations

146. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 139 of the Regulations:

"CHAPTER IV - INTERMEDIATE SURVEYS

139. General

- (1) The owner of **[every]a** ship in respect of which a cargo ship safety construction certificate has been issued shall, so long as the certificate remains in force, cause the ship to be surveyed in the manner and at the intervals specified in **[sub-regulation (3) for the purpose of seeing whether the certificate should remain in force]** Chapter II-1 regulation 10 and 11 of the Safety Convention.
- (2) (a) [Every]An application for the survey of a ship in accordance with this regulation shall be made to the Authority who issued the cargo ship safety construction certificate in respect of the ship concerned or to the proper officer.
- (b) Upon receipt of the application referred to in paragraph (a), the Authority or proper officer as the case may be, shall cause the ship to be surveyed by a qualified surveyor.
- [(3) The surveys to be carried out under sub-regulation (1) shall be as follows unless the Minister decides otherwise—**
- (a) **the hull and the ship's side fastenings shall be examined in dry dock every two years and the ship side fittings shall be thoroughly examined every four years;**
- (b) **all boilers, including exhaust gas or steam heated steam generators, economizers, and domestic boilers (other than domestic boilers having a heating surface of 50 square feet or**

- less and a working pressure of 50 lb. per square inch or less) shall be examined internally and externally every two years until they are eight years old and thereafter annually;
- (c) screw shafts and tube shafts fitted with continuous liner; or running in oil shall be withdrawn and surveyed every three years, and other screw and tube shafts shall be withdrawn and surveyed every two year and
- (d) pressure vessels (other than domestic pressure vessels having a working pressure of 50 lb. per square inch or less) shall be examined internally every five years: Provided that small vessels which are inaccessible may be tested to a pressure equal to twice the working pressure in lieu of internal examination.]
- (4) The surveyor referred to in subregulation (2) shall survey the ship with a view to ~~[satisfying himself]being satisfied—~~
- (a) that such of the parts of the ship and its equipment **[specified in sub-regulation (3)]** as are the subject of the application for survey remain efficient; and
- (b) so far as practicable, that no material alterations have been made in the hull, machinery or equipment of the ship to which the cargo ship safety construction certificate relates without the approval of the **[Minister or] Authority.**"

Substitution of regulation 140 of the Regulations

147. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 140 of the Regulations:

"140. Additional surveys

Notwithstanding the provisions of regulation 139, the **[Minister or]** Authority may require **[any]** a ship to undergo such additional surveys as **[he]** the Authority may deem necessary.”.

Substitution of regulation 141 of the Regulations

148. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 141 of the Regulations:

“CHAPTER V-EQUIVALENTS AND EXEMPTIONS

141. Equivalents

Where **[his]** this Part requires that the hull or machinery of a ship shall be constructed in a particular manner, or that particular equipment shall be provided, or that particular provision shall be made, the **[Minister]** Authority may allow the hull or machinery of the ship to be constructed in any other manner, or any other equipment to be provided or other provision made, if **[he]** the Authority is satisfied that such other construction, equipment or provision is at least as effective as that required by this Part.”.

Substitution of regulation 142 of the Regulations

149. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 142 of the Regulations:

“142. Exemption in respect of precautions against shock, fire and other hazards of electrical origin

The **[Minister]** Authority may exempt any ship[, **other than a tanker,**] from the requirements of regulation **[116 (4)]** 116.”.

Substitution of regulation 143 of the Regulations

150. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 143 of the Regulations:

"143. Exemption in respect of means of escape

The **[Minister]Authority** may exempt any ship **[of less than 2,000 tons]** from the requirements of regulation 134 (2).".

Substitution of regulation 144 of the Regulations

151. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 144 of the Regulations:

"144. General exemption

The **[Minister]Authority** may exempt any ship which is not normally engaged on international voyages but which in exceptional circumstances, is required to undertake a single international voyage, from any of the requirements of this Part on condition that it complies with safety requirements which are adequate in the opinion of the **[Minister]Authority** for the voyage which is to be undertaken by the ship.".

Amendment of Part III of the Regulations

152. Part III of the Regulations is hereby amended by the substitution in the Arrangement of Regulations (table of contents) of the following table:

"PART III

[(Boats.)]Other Vessels**CHAPTER I - GENERAL****[145. Interpretation.]**

- 146. Application of Part III.
- 146A. Compliance with the Safety Convention.
- 147. Structural strength.

CHAPTER II – CONSTRUCTION OF [BOATS]VESSELS, OTHER THAN [SKI AND SURF BOATS AND DINGHIES] VESSELS TO WHICH THE MERCHANT SHIPPING (NATIONAL SMALL VESSEL SAFETY) REGULATIONS APPLY, AND GENERAL SURVEY

- 148. Application of Chapter II.
- 149. Submission and approval of plans.
- 150. Inspection and tests during construction.
- 151. Survey of new construction.
- 151A. General: Boilers, machinery, other pressure vessels, associated piping systems and fittings.
- 151B. Steam boilers and boiler feed systems.
- 152. Hydraulic testing of boilers[, etc.].
- 153. Safety valves.
- 154. Feed pumps.
- 155. Main engines.
- 156. Bilge pumping arrangements.
- 157. Fuel tanks.
- 158. Underwater fittings.
- 159. Galleys.
- 160. Refrigerating systems.
- 161. Bulkheads.
- 162. Hatches.

163. Doors, sills, side scuttles and escape hatches.
- 163A. Means of escape.
164. Bulwarks.
165. Ventilation for spaces.
- 165A. Ventilation and ventilation system in machinery space.
166. Stern bearings.
167. **[Testing]**Initial testing of watertight compartments.
168. **[Anchors and cables]**Towing and mooring arrangements.
169. Steering gear.
170. General electrical precautions.
- 170A. Air pressure systems.
- 170B. Cooling water system.
- 170C. Lubricating oil systems.
- 170D. Oil and gaseous fuel installations.
- 170E. Oil fuel and gas installations (cooking ranges and other heating appliances).
- 170F. Communication between navigation bridge and machinery control station.
- 170G. Spare gear.
- 170H. Main source of electrical power and lighting systems.
- 170I. Emergency source of electric power.
- 170J. Starting arrangements for emergency generating sets.
- 170K. Machinery and machinery control.
- 170L. Means of going astern.
- 170M. Steam pipe systems.

**CHAPTER III - PERIODIC SURVEYS: [BOATS]VESSELS OTHER THAN [SKI BOATS, SURF BOATS AND DINGHIES] VESSELS TO WHICH THE
MERCHANT SHIPPING (NATIONAL SMALL VESSEL SAFETY)
REGULATIONS APPLY**

- 171. Application of Chapter III.
- 172. General.
- [173. Boilers which permit of a full internal examination.**
- 174. Boilers which do not permit of a full internal examination.**
- 175. Steam pipes.**
- 176. Steam propulsion engines and auxiliaries.**
- 177. Main and auxiliary machinery of a boat not exceeding [80 feet]24 meters in length**
- 178. Main and auxiliary machinery of a boat exceeding [80 feet]24 meters in length.**
- 179. Air receivers.**
- 180. Electrical equipment.]**
- 181. Steel hulls - dry docking.
- 182. Wooden hulls - dry docking.
- [183. Reinforced plastic hulls - dry docking.]**
- 184. Propeller shafts.
- 185. Sea connections.
- 186. **[Rudders]Rudder and rudder stock.**
- 187. Anchors, cables and steering chains.
- [188. Steering gear and emergency arrangements.]**
- 189. Alterations to hull.

CHAPTER IV - SKI BOATS, SURF BOATS AND DINGHIES

190.-194

[Deleted by GN R1023/86]

CHAPTER V - ADDITIONAL SURVEYS, EQUIVALENTS AND EXEMPTIONS

- 195. Additional surveys.
- 196. Equivalents.
- 197. Exemption of **[boats]vessels** constructed before a certain date.
- 198. General exemption.

- Annex. 1: Construction of Passenger Ships: Plans and particulars.
[Annex. 2 : Calculation of maximum length of watertight compartments.
Annex. 3 : Stability in damaged condition.
Annex. 4: Construction of watertight bulkheads, etc.
Annex. 5 Automatic sprinkler, fire alarm and fire detection system.]
Annex. 6 Construction of **[boats]vessels**: Plans and particulars.
[Annex. 7 Construction of boats: Wood watertight bulkheads.
Annex. 8 Construction of boats: Hatches.
Annex. 9 Steering chains and anchor chains of boats.]”.

Amendment of Part III of the Regulations

153. Part III of the Regulations is hereby amended by the substitution for the heading of Part III of the Regulations of the following:

[PART III

[(Boats.)]Other Vessels

CHAPTER I-GENERAL”.

Repeal of regulation 145 of the Regulations

154. Regulation 145 of the Regulations is hereby repealed.

Amendment of regulation 146 of the Regulations

155. Regulation 146 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

- (a) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following subregulation

"146. Application of Part III

- (1) This **[part shall apply]**Part applies to [every boat]a vessel of 25 or more gross tons to which Part I and Part II do not apply."; and
- (b) by the addition after subregulation (1) of the following subregulation:

"(2) This Part does not apply to pleasure vessels of less than 100 gross tons as defined in the Merchant Shipping (National Small Vessel Safety) Regulations, 2007."

Insertion of regulation 146A of the Regulations

156. The following regulation is inserted in Part III, Chapter I of the Regulations after regulation 146:

"146A. Compliance with the Safety Convention

A vessel of over 500 gross tons, shall be constructed in compliance with the requirements of, Chapter II-1 of the Safety Convention as applicable and the applicable Codes."

Substitution of regulation 147 of the Regulations

157. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 147 of the Regulations:

"147. Structural strength

The structural strength of **[every boat]a vessel** shall be sufficient for the service for which the **[boat]vessel** is intended."

Amendment of Chapter II of Part III of the Regulations

158. Chapter II of Part III of the Regulations is hereby amended by the substitution for the heading of Chapter II of the following heading:

"CHAPTER II – CONSTRUCTION OF [BOATS]VESSELS, OTHER THAN [SKI AND SURF BOATS AND DINGHIES] VESSELS TO WHICH THE MERCHANT SHIPPING (NATIONAL SMALL VESSEL SAFETY) REGULATIONS APPLY, AND GENERAL SURVEY".

Substitution of regulation 148 of the Regulations

159. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 148 of the Regulations:

"148. Application of Chapter II

This Chapter applies to ~~[every boat]~~a vessel other than ~~[a ski or surf boat or dinghy]~~a vessel to which the Merchant Shipping (National Small Vessel Safety) Regulations, 2007 apply, and a "Chapter II ~~[boat]~~vessel" means a ~~[boat]~~vessel to which this Chapter applies."

Substitution of regulation 149 of the Regulations

160. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 149 of the Regulations:

"149. Submission and approval of plans

(1) Subject to the provisions of ~~[sub-regulation]~~subregulation (2), before the construction or modification of ~~[any]~~a Chapter II ~~[boat of 30 feet or over in length]~~vessel to which this Part applies is commenced[, or at an early

stage thereafter], the builder or owner thereof shall submit in duplicate to the proper officer the plans and particulars set forth in Annex 6 for approval by the **[Secretary]Authority**.

- (2) In the case of a Chapter II **[boat]vessel** which is a sister **[boat]vessel**, the builder or owner shall furnish to the proper officer particulars of the specification and plans previously approved by the **[Secretary]Authority**.
- (3) Any subsequent modifications or additions to the scantlings, arrangements or equipment shown on approved plans shall be submitted to the proper officer as prescribed in subregulation (1).
- (4) The **[Secretary]Authority** may, **[in his discretion,]** call for the submission of additional or more detailed plans or particulars, and may also waive the requirement that certain of these plans be submitted.
- [(5) In the case of a Chapter II boat of under 30 feet in length, the proper officer may request the builder or owner thereof to submit to him such plans and specifications as he may specify, and upon such request being made, the said builder or owner shall comply therewith.]"**

Amendment of regulation 150 of the Regulations

161. Regulation 150 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

- (a) by the substitution for the heading of regulation 150 of the following heading:

"150. Inspection and tests ~~[duping]~~during construction";

(b) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following subregulation:

"(1) During the construction of a Chapter II ~~[boat]~~vessel, inspections ~~[and tests]~~ shall be conducted by ~~[the]~~a surveyor."; and

(c) by the addition after subregulation (1) of the following subregulation:

"(2) Tests shall be conducted by the appropriate testing authority and witnessed by a surveyor."

Substitution of regulation 151 of the Regulations

162. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 151 of the Regulations:

"151. Survey of new construction

(1) ~~[The]~~A builder or owner of a Chapter II ~~[boat of 30 feet or over in length]~~vessel, shall notify the ~~[surveyor]~~Authority at least one week in advance of—

- (a) the commencement of framing;
- (b) the commencement of planking, plating or laminating;
- (c) the completion of the fitting of ~~[all]~~ underwater fittings, rudder, stern tube, shaft and propeller;
- (d) the launching; and
- (e) the dock and sea trials.

(2) ~~(a)~~ Dock and sea trials shall be carried out in the presence of ~~[the]~~a surveyor, at which times the pumping arrangement, steering gear and main and auxiliary machinery shall be tested to the satisfaction of the surveyor.

(b) Any such further tests shall be made as the surveyor considers necessary to **[satisfy himself]**the satisfaction of the surveyor that the **[boat]**vessel is safe and suitable for the purpose for which it is intended."

Insertion of regulations 151A and 151B of the Regulations

163. The following regulations are inserted in Part III, Chapter II of the Regulations after regulation 151:

"151A. General: Boilers, machinery, other pressure vessels, associated piping systems and fittings

In a vessel, machinery, a boiler or other pressure vessel shall be constructed in compliance with Chapter II-1 regulation 26 of the Safety Convention.

151B. Steam boilers and boiler feed systems

In a vessel, a steam boiler and boiler feed systems shall be constructed in compliance with Chapter II-1 regulation 32 of the Safety Convention."

Substitution of regulation 152 of the Regulations

164. Regulation 152 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

(a) by the substitution for the heading of regulation 152 of the following heading:

"152. Hydraulic testing of boilers[, etc.]";

(b) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following subregulation:

"(1) **[The]A** surveyor shall be satisfied by such examination and calculation as may be necessary that all pressure parts are capable of withstanding the working pressures to which **[they] the parts** may be subjected, and **[he]** shall ensure that all hydraulic testing is satisfactorily carried out.";

(c) by the substitution for subregulation (2) of the following subregulation:

"(2) **[Boilers]A boiler** shall be hydraulically tested **[in accordance with the following pressures:**

- (a) **For a new [boilers]boiler-**
 test pressure = $1\frac{1}{2} \times \text{W.P.} + [50 \text{ lb. per square inch}]22 \text{ kg. per square centimetre}$ for W.P.s in excess of $[100 \text{ lb. per square inch}]45 \text{ kg. per square centimetre}$ and = $2 \times \text{W.P.}$ for W.P.s of $[100 \text{ lb. per square inch}]45 \text{ kg. per square centimetre}$ and less.
- (b) for **[boilers]a boiler** which **[are]is** not new –
 test pressure = $1\frac{1}{2} \times \text{W.P.}]$ to the satisfaction of the Authority.";

(d) by the substitution for subregulation (3) of the following subregulation:

"(3) When **[the]a** survey of a new boiler is completed, it shall, in a position which will be clearly visible at all times, be stamped **[as follows:**

STAMP OF TESTING AUTHORITY

W.P
 Tested to**[lb.]kg.**
 W.P**[lb.]kg.**
 Date
Surveyor's initials**] by the**
appropriate testing authority.";

(e) by the substitution for subregulation (4) of the following subregulation:

"(4) Pressure parts, other than boilers, when new shall be hydraulically tested
[in accordance with the following pressures:

Boiler mountings.

Feed check valves 2½ x W.P.

Other mountings 2 x W.P.

Steam pipes 2 x W.P.

Feed pipes 2½ x W.P.

Feed heaters 2½ x W.P. (bodies, tubes or coils).

[Oil fuel pipes, heaters, coils or tubes: 400 lb. per square inch] An oil pipe, heater, coil or tube: 181 kg. per square centimetre or twice the maximum working pressure to which they are subjected, whichever is greater.

Evaporator bodies: Twice the maximum working pressure of the evaporator.

Evaporator coils or tubes: Twice the maximum working pressure to which they may be subjected.

Air receivers : As for boilers] to the satisfaction of the Authority."; and

(f) by the deletion of subregulation (5).

Amendment of regulation 153 of the Regulations

165. Regulation 153 of the Regulations is hereby amended by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following subregulation:

"(1) **[Every]Δ** boiler shall be provided with at least two safety valves."

Substitution of regulation 154 of the Regulations

166. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 154 of the Regulations:

"154. Feed pumps

(1) (a) [Every]A Chapter II **[boat]vessel** propelled by steam shall be provided with not less than two entirely separate power feed pumps.

(b) One of **[these]the** feed pumps referred to in paragraph (a) may be operated from the main engines, and the other shall be an independent power pump."

Amendment of regulation 155 of the Regulations

167. Regulation 155 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

(a) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following subregulation:

"(1) **(a)** The **[man]main** engine, shafting and propeller shall be of proved commercial marine design and quality and of a power suitable for the purpose for which the **[Chapter II boat]vessel** is designed.

(b) The main engine shall be installed to the satisfaction of **[the]a** surveyor.";

(b) by the substitution for subregulation (2) of the following subregulation:

"(2) In the case of a **[Chapter II boat]vessel** propelled by an engine depending on compressed air for starting, **[the]a** surveyor shall be satisfied by such examination and calculation as may be necessary that—

(a) air receivers and other pressure vessels are capable of withstanding the pressure assigned to them;

- (b) the capacity of such air receivers is sufficient to provide the main engine with 12 consecutive starts if it is a reversible engine or six consecutive starts if it is a non-reversible engine, without replenishing the air in the receivers[.,]; and
- (c) one air compressor, driven by a prime mover, which can be started without the use of compressed air is fitted: Provided that the Authority may, in its discretion, allow the use of a hand operated air compressor capable of charging one empty starting air receiver to normal working pressure within 30 minutes.;
- (c) by the insertion after subregulation (2) of the following subregulations:
- "(3) Where main engines depend upon an auxiliary petrol driven starting engine, the fuel tank for the latter shall be situated in a position outside the engine room which is approved by a surveyor.
- (4) Where main engines depend upon electrical starting arrangements, a charging unit, independent of the main engines, shall be provided except that in the case of a vessel with twin engines, each with a charging unit capable of charging both sets of starting batteries, this shall be accepted."
- (d) by the substitution for subregulation (5) of the following subregulation:
- "(5) Where main engines depend upon means other than those mentioned in [sub-regulations]subregulations (2), (3) and (4) for starting, [the]a surveyor shall be satisfied that such means are ample for all circumstances.";
- (e) by the deletion of subregulation (6);
- (f) by the substitution for subregulation (7) of the following subregulation:

“(7) (a) The main and auxiliary engines, other than steam engines, of a Chapter II **[boat]vessel** shall be fitted with suitable silencers to the satisfaction of the surveyor.

(b) The silencers and exhaust pipes shall be efficiently water-cooled, lagged or installed in such a manner that they will create no fire risk, and they shall be so arranged that there is no danger of water entering the engines or of exhaust fumes or water passing back into the **[boat]vessel**.”; and

(g) by the substitution for subregulation (8) of the following subregulation:

“(8) (a) Every possible precaution shall be taken to avoid fuel and lubricating oil running into the bilges.

(b) Metal or lead-lined trays with proper means of drainage shall be provided under fuel tanks and, where possible, under engines.”.

Amendment of regulation 156 of the Regulations

168. Regulation 156 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

(a) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following subregulation:

“(1) **Every]** Chapter II **[boat]vessel** shall be fitted with bilge pumps and piping in accordance with the following table:

(b) by the substitution for the table in subregulation (1) of the following table:

“[

Length of Boat in Feet.				
-------------------------	--	--	--	--

Boats Designed for Catching Pilchards, Maasbankers and Mackerel. (a)	Other Boats. (b)	Minimum Number of Pumps (c)	Minimum Capacity of Pumps in Gallons per Minute (d)	Minimum Internal Diameter of Bilge Main and Direct Bilge Piping (e)	Minimum Internal Diameter of Bilge Branch, Piping (f)
—	30 and under	1 power driven or hand operated	15	2"	1½"
30 and under	Over 30 to 65	2 (1 power driven + 1 power driven or hand operated)	30 total	2"	1½"
Over 30 to 65	Over 65 to 80	2 (1 power driven + 1 power driven or hand operated)	60 total	2"	2"
Over 65 to 80	Over 80 to 100	2 power driven (1 may be driven by main engine)	100 total	2"	2"
Over 80 to 100	Over 100 to 150	2 power driven (1 may be driven by main engine)	170 total	2½"	2"

Over 100	Over 150	2 power driven (1 may be driven by main engine)	220 total	3"	2½"
-----------------	-----------------	--	------------------	-----------	------------

J

<u>Length of Vessel in Meters.</u> (a)	<u>Minimum Number of Pumps</u> (b)	<u>Minimum Capacity of Pumps in Liters per Minute</u> (c)	<u>Minimum Internal Diameter of Bilge Main and Direct Bilge Piping</u> (d)	<u>Minimum Internal Diameter of Bilge Branch, Piping</u> (e)
<u>Over 9 to 19</u>	<u>2 (1 power driven + 1 power driven or hand operated)</u>	<u>113 total</u>	<u>5</u>	<u>4</u>
<u>Over 19 to 24</u>	<u>2 (1 power driven + 1 power driven or hand operated)</u>	<u>227 total</u>	<u>5</u>	<u>5</u>
<u>Over 24 to 30</u>	<u>2 power driven (1 may be driven by main engine)</u>	<u>378 total</u>	<u>5</u>	<u>5</u>
<u>Over 30 to 45</u>	<u>2 power driven (1 may be driven by main engine)</u>	<u>643 total</u>	<u>6</u>	<u>5</u>
<u>Over 45</u>	<u>2 power driven (1 may be</u>	<u>832 total</u>	<u>8</u>	<u>6</u>

	<u>driven by main engine)</u>			
--	-------------------------------	--	--	--

”;

(c) by the substitution for subregulation (4) of the following subregulation:

“(4) In a Chapter II [boat]vessel required to be provided with not less than two power driven pumps, no power pump provided shall have a capacity less than 25 per cent of the total capacity required, and at least one power driven pump independent of the main engines shall have a capacity of not less than 50 per cent of the total required.”;

(d) by the substitution for subregulation (5) of the following subregulation:

“(5) Subject to the provisions of [sub-regulation]subregulation (8), bilge suctions, piping and means for drainage shall be so arranged that any water which may enter a main compartment can be pumped out through at least one bilge suction situated in such compartment, and all compartments within each main division shall be so arranged to drain to that bilge suction, when the [boat]vessel is on an even keel and is either upright or has a list of not more than 5 degrees.”;

(e) by the substitution for subregulation (6) of the following subregulation:

“(6) (a) [Every]An independent power pump shall have a direct suction from the space in which it is situated, provided that not more than two direct suctions shall be required in any one space.

(b) [Every such]The suction referred to in paragraph (a) shall be of a diameter not less than that of the Chapter II [boat’s]vessel’s main bilge pipe.

(c) The direct suction in the [boat's]vessel's machinery space shall be so arranged that water may be pumped from each side of the space through direct suction to independent bilge pumps.”;

(f) by the substitution for subregulation (8) of the following subregulation:

“(8) In a Chapter II [boat]vessel exceeding [80 feet]24 meters in length, the following compartments, if not used for carrying water ballast, may be provided with bilge drainage arrangements as follows: forward of—

- (a) in the case of compartments situated in the collision bulkhead, with a manual pump[.];
- (b) in the case of compartments situated forward of the collision bulkhead on a [boat]vesse| which has a watertight bulkhead between the collision and machinery space bulkheads, with a manual pump or with a drain cock secured to the collision bulkhead operated from above the main deck;
- (c) in the case of watertight compartments which overhang the thrust shaft recess, with a manual pump or with a self-closing drain cock operated from the engine-room; and
- (d) in the case of compartments situated aft of the after peak bulkhead, with a manual pump or with a self-closing drain cock operated from the engine room or from above the main deck.”;

(g) the substitution for subregulation (9) of the following subregulation:

“(9) (a) Manual pumps provided in accordance with subregulation (8), shall have a capacity of at least [15 gallons]56 litres per minute and shall be fitted with suction piping having an internal diameter of not less than [2 inches. Such]5 centimetres.

(b) The manual pumps referred to in paragraph (a) shall be capable of being operated from a position above the bulkhead deck.”;

(h) by the substitution for subregulation (10) of the following subregulation:

"(10) Bilge suction and means for drainage on a Chapter II ~~[boat]~~vessel which is not divided into watertight compartments, shall be arranged in such a manner that any water which enters the ~~[boat]~~vessel is able to drain to at least one bilge suction.";

(i) by the substitution for subregulation (11) of the following subregulation:

"(11) Drain cocks provided in accordance with subregulation (8), shall have an internal diameter of not less than ~~[1½ inches]~~4 centimetres and shall be accessible at all times.";

(j) by the substitution for subregulation (16) of the following subregulation:

"(16) (a) Where holds are provided with cement filling, the cement level shall be to the top of the floors and a well or dill of not less than ~~[4 cubic feet]~~0.11 cubic meters capacity shall be situated at the after end of the hold.

(b) A suitable strainer shall be placed over the well and the bilge suction shall be fitted with a suitable strainer, the area of the openings in which shall be at least three times the cross-sectional area of the bilge suction pipe.";

(k) by the substitution for subregulation (18) of the following subregulation:

"(18) ~~[All]~~A bilge discharge ~~[pipes]~~pipe shall be fitted with valves or cocks attached to the hull in the manner prescribed in regulation 158 or by other equally efficient means approved by the ~~[Secretary]~~Authority after full particulars have been submitted to ~~[him]~~the Authority.";

(l) by the substitution for subregulation (19) of the following subregulation:

"(19) (a) Bilge piping shall be of seamless Schedule 40 steel pipe or other material considered by the surveyor to be suitable for the purpose, but short lengths of rubber or plastic hose, clearly visible at all times, may be fitted where deemed necessary by the surveyor to reduce the effects of vibration[; **any hose so**].

(b) Bilge piping shall be joined by either welding or flanges."

(m) by the substitution for subregulation (20) of the following subregulation:

"(20) (a) In a coal-fired Chapter II **[boat]vessel**, a length of flexible suction hose, with suitable screwed connection to the machinery space bilge line, shall be supplied, in order that the engine and boiler space bilges may be pumped in the event of the suction strainer becoming choked.

(b) The connection on the bilge line referred to in paragraph (a) shall be fitted with a jointed metal cap."; and

(n) by the substitution for subregulation (21) of the following subregulation:

"(21) **[Every]** Chapter II **[boat]vessel** in which the machinery space is not continuously manned and in which the bilges cannot be monitored from the conning position shall be fitted with a bilge high level alarm; any such alarm shall be audible and visible in the machinery space and at the conning position."

Amendment of regulation 157 of the Regulations

169. Regulation 157 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

- (a) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following subregulation:

"(1) In a Chapter II ~~[boat]~~vessel, a fuel tank **[which is separate from the hull]** shall **[comply with the following requirements:]**~~—~~;

- (b) by the substitution in subregulation (1) for paragraph (a) of the following paragraph:

"(a) **[it shall]** be constructed of steel or other material which, in the opinion of the surveyor, is suitable for the purpose~~[.]~~:"

- (c) by the deletion in subregulation (1) of paragraphs (b), (c), (d) and (e);

- (d) by the substitution in subregulation (1) for paragraph (g) of the following paragraph:

"(g) A fuel tank having—
(i) ~~___~~ a capacity of more than **[300 gallons]**~~1135~~ but not more than **[1,000 gallons]**~~3785~~, shall be fitted with a suitable door for purposes of cleaning~~[.For tanks having]; and~~
(ii) ~~___~~ a capacity of more than **[1,000 gallons]**~~3785~~, a manhole door shall be fitted.

- (e) by the deletion in subregulation (1) of paragraph (h);

- (f) by the substitution in subregulation (1) for paragraph (i) of the following paragraph:

"(i) (i) ~~___~~ **[All tanks]**~~A tank~~ shall on completion be tested by hydraulic pressure to a head not less than the maximum head to which the

tank can be subjected, or **[8 feet]2.4 meters** above the top of the tank, whichever is the greater.

(ii) [Such]The tests referred to in subparagraph (i) shall be witnessed by the surveyor, but, in the case of any tank having a capacity of not more than **[300 gallons]1135 litres**, the surveyor may, when it is not possible **[for him]** to witness the test, accept a written statement from the manufacturer certifying that the hydraulic pressure test described in this paragraph has been carried out and that no defects were revealed.”;

(g) by the substitution for subregulation (2) of the following subregulation:

“(2) Where the capacity of a fuel tank exceeds **[25 gallons]94 litres**, it shall be provided with the following:

(a) a filling pipe that—

- (i) is at least **[1½ inches]3.81 centimetres** in internal diameter;
- (ii) leads from the top of the tank to the weatherdeck, the connection through the deck being watertight;
- (iii) is fitted with a screwed brass plug or cap; and
- (iv) is made sufficiently flexible to absorb any vibration or sinkage of the tank; and

(b) a vent pipe of at least the same internal diameter as the filling pipe leading from the top of the tank to a safe height and location above the weatherdeck through a watertight deck connection and clear of all openings into the hull or deck-house**[. The] which shall comply with the following requirements:**

(i) the end of the vent pipe shall be covered with gauze and turned down through an angle of 180 degrees**[. Two];**

(ii) two or more vent pipes may be branched off from the pipe leading to the deck, provided the deck pipe is increased in

diameter to maintain the required cross-sectional area[. **The**];
and

(iii) the gauze shall be made of incorrodible material and shall be so fitted that it can readily be removed for cleaning or renewal.”;

(h) by the substitution for subregulation (3) of the following subregulation:

“(3) (a) (i) [Every]A fuel tank shall be provided with a suitable means for ascertaining the level of the fuel.

(ii) If sounding pipes are fitted, [they]the pipes shall be led to an accessible position above the bulkhead deck.

(iii) Where [this]the arrangement in subparagraph (ii) is not practicable, short sounding pipes may be fitted in the machinery spaces if they are led to readily accessible positions above the platforms and fitted with self-closing cocks or valves.

(iv) Striking plates shall be fitted under all sounding pipes.

(b) Glass or plastic tubing may be used as level gauges only under the following circumstances:

(i) on a tank of under [25 gallons]94 litres capacity containing fuel having a close test flash point of over [125° F.]51°C.; [and]

(ii) on a tank of [25 gallons]94 litres capacity or over, containing fuel having a close test flash point of over [125° F.]51°C. with gauges fitted with self-closing valves or cocks top and bottom;
and

(iii) if the tubing is suitably protected against impact.”;

(i) by the substitution for subregulation (5) of the following subregulation:

“(5) [All]An outlet [pipes]pipe from a fuel tank shall at such tank be fitted with cocks or valves which are readily accessible at all times and are capable of being operated from outside the compartment in which the tank is situated.”;

(j) by the substitution for subregulation (6) of the following subregulation:

"(6) **[Every]**~~A~~ fuel tank shall be fitted in a position remote from heated surfaces."; and

(k) by the deletion of subregulation (7).

Amendment of regulation 158 of the Regulations

170. Regulation 158 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

(a) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following subregulation:

"(1) Valves or cocks shall be fitted to all suction and discharge pipes which pass through the hull below the weatherdeck, provided that this paragraph shall not apply to

- (a) pump discharges of **[1½"]3.81 centimetres** internal diameter or less, which are situated above the load water line;
- (b) keel cooling systems; or
- (c) scuppers which pass from the weatherdeck to the Chapter II **[boat's]vessel's** side above the load water line. **[Valves]:** Provided valves or cocks shall be fitted as close to the hull as possible.";

(b) by the substitution for subregulation (2) of the following subregulation:

"(2) Suction and discharge valves and cocks on a steel Chapter II **[boat]vessel** shall be attached to the hull or to the plating of fabricated water boxes by-

- (a) bolts, with countersunk heads, tapped through the platings~~[,]~~; or

- (b) studs which are screwed into heavy steel pads welded or riveted to the plating, but not penetrating the plating, and such valves or cocks shall be fitted with spigots passing through the plating.
- (c) by the substitution for subregulation (3) of the following subregulation:
- “(3) Suction and discharge valves and cocks on a wooden Chapter II **[boat]vessel** shall be flanged and provided with spigots passing through the planking and secured by means of through bolts having an outer ring or flange between bolt heads and planking: Provided that the surveyor may allow any other efficient means of securing such fittings after consideration of full particulars submitted to **[him]such surveyor.**”;
- (d) by the substitution for subregulation (4) of the following subregulation:
- “(4) Suction and discharge valves and cocks of a Chapter II **[boat]vessel** of reinforced plastic construction, shall be attached to the hull by means approved by the surveyor after full particulars have been submitted to **[him]such surveyor.**”; and
- (e) by the substitution for subregulation (3) of the following subregulation:
- “(5) Blow-down valves or cocks on the Chapter II **[boat’s]vessel’s** side shall be fitted in an accessible position and shall be arranged in such a manner that it can be readily seen whether they are open or shut, the handles shall not be capable of being removed unless the valves or cocks are shut.”.

Amendment of regulation 159 of the Regulations

171. Regulation 159 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

(a) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following subregulation:

"(1) In a Chapter II ~~[boat]~~vessel, the heating and cooking arrangements may be by means of coal, oil or electricity~~[. Liquid] and liquid~~ petroleum gas may be permitted, but only under the following conditions~~[-]~~:

- (a) the installation shall be as approved by ~~[the]~~a surveyor;
- (b) ~~[no]the installation, or any part [of the installation]thereof shall not~~ be situated in ~~a machinery [spaces,]space~~;
- (c) the ~~liquid petroleum gas~~ cylinders, regulators and low pressure safety devices, shall be placed above deck in a suitable, well ventilated metal cabinet separated from living spaces ~~[end]and~~ other closed spaces by a gas tight partition and removed from sources of heat, electric cable, etc., and shall be effectively earthed;
- (d) the cylinders shall be secured in an upright position, and the operating equipment shall at all times be readily accessible;
- (e) approved safety devices shall be provided to protect the low pressure stages of the apparatus from high pressure, and any leak off from such a device shall be conducted to the open air remote from any source of heat;
- (f) the installation shall be provided with a stop valve immediately inside the compartment containing the cooking or heating appliances in addition to a valve of each appliance, provided that, if there is only one appliance connected by a short low pressure lead, it will be sufficient to have one valve only where the lead enters the compartment in which the appliance is situated;
- (g) (i) ~~the~~ low pressure leads shall be of seamless steel or copper and suitably protected from damage and the effects of vibration, expansion and contraction~~[-]~~;
- (ii) ~~[The]the~~ use of a short length of high pressure hose may be permitted on a low pressure lead, provided the arrangement is to the satisfaction of the surveyor;

- (h) all appliances shall be provided with equipment by means of which the gas supply is completely cut off when the flame, through whatever cause, is extinguished; and
- (i) the high, medium and low pressure leads shall be tested during the installation and at four yearly intervals thereafter, in the presence of the surveyor as follows[—]:
- (i) high and medium pressure leads to a pressure of **[425 lb./in.²]192 kg/cm²**;
 - (ii) low pressure leads to a pressure of **[5 lb. /in.²]2.2 kg/cm²**;
 - (iii) the pressures mentioned in **[sub-paragraphs]subparagraphs** (i) and (ii) shall be maintained for not less than 15 minutes, during which period no drop in pressure shall be recorded on an accurate manometer or pressure gauge; and
 - (iii) the flexible portions of copper leads shall be pressure tested and re-annealed.”;
- (b) by the substitution for subregulation (2) of the following subregulation:
- “(2) After installation is complete, the whole installation shall be tested for leaks by the use of soapy water or liquid detergent or by some other method approved by the **[Secretary]Authority**.”; and
- (c) by the substitution for subregulation (4) of the following subregulation:
- “(4) In **[every]a** wooden Chapter II **[boat,]vessel—**
- (a)** the galley stove shall be secured to a pad of concrete or other suitable material at least **[2 inches]5 centimetres** thick **[. Bulkheads]; and**
 - (b)** **bulkheads** in **the** way of the stove shall be lined with **[asbestos]fire-retardant material** covered with sheet steel, and the galley funnel shall be effectively insulated where it passes through the deck head.”.

Amendment of regulation 160 of the Regulations

172. Regulation 160 of the Regulations is hereby amended by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following subregulation:

"(1) Full particulars of refrigeration installations[~~(other)~~, ~~other~~ than domestic ~~[refrigerators)]refrigerators~~, shall be submitted to the ~~[Secretary]Authority~~ for approval."

Amendment of regulation 161 of the Regulations

173. Regulation 161 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

(a) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following subregulation:

"161. Bulkheads

(1) ~~(a)~~ ~~[Every]A~~ decked or partially decked Chapter II ~~[boat over 30 feet but not exceeding 80 feet in length,]~~vessel shall be fitted with not less than two suitably spaced watertight ~~[bulkhead]bulkheads~~.

~~(b)~~ The spacing of ~~[these]the~~ bulkheads referred to in paragraph (a) shall be subject, to approval by the ~~[surveyor]Authority~~, having regard to the type of construction of the ~~[boat]vessel~~ and to the duties for which it is intended.";

(b) by the substitution for subregulation (2) of the following subregulation:

"(2) ~~(a)~~ ~~[Every]A~~ Chapter II ~~[boat]vessel~~ exceeding ~~[80 feet] 24 meters~~ in length shall be fitted with not less than three suitably spaced watertight bulkheads extending from the keel or horn timber to the weatherdeck.

- (b) The forward bulkhead shall be located at a reasonable distance from the bow of the **[boat]vessel** subject to a minimum of one-twentieth of the length.
- (c) The positions of the bulkheads shall be in accordance with the plan; submitted and approved in terms of regulation 149.”;
- (c) by the substitution for subregulation (3) of the following subregulation:
- “(3) (a) **[Openings]**An opening in a watertight **[bulkheads]bulkhead** shall have a suitable watertight **[doors]door** or other means of closing which can at all times be readily and quickly applied.
- (b) **[Such]**The closing appliances referred to in paragraph (a) shall be of ample strength and shall be close-fitting to the satisfaction of the **[surveyor]Authority**.”;
- (d) by the substitution for subregulation (4) of the following subregulation:
- “(4) **[Wood,]**A wood, steel and reinforced plastic watertight **[bulkheads]bulkhead** shall be constructed and stiffened in accordance with plans approved by the **[Secretary. Wood watertight bulkheads may consist of either-]** Authority as referred to in regulation 149.”;
- (e) by the deletion in subregulation (4) of paragraphs (a), (b) and (c); and
- (f) by the deletion of subregulations (5) and (6).

Amendment of regulation 162 of the Regulations

174. Regulation 162 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

- (a) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following subregulation:

"162. Hatches

- (1) In a Chapter II **[boat]vessel**, scantlings of hatch coamings, beams and covers shall be **[not less than as set out in Annex 8.]constructed to the satisfaction of the Authority.**";

- (b) by the substitution for subregulation (2) of the following subregulation:

- "(2) Hatchways shall be provided with **[efficient]** means of **[battening down]closing constructed to the satisfaction of the Authority.**"; and

- (c) by the deletion of subregulation (3).

Amendment of regulation 163 of the Regulations

175. Regulation 163 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

- (a) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following subregulation:

- "(1) In **[every]a** Chapter II **[boat]vessel**, the sills of doors giving access to the main hull shall **[have a minimum height of 12 inches, but doors situated on top of any superstructure deck house, or raised forecastle, may have sills of not less than 6 inches in height]be in accordance with the requirements prescribed in Chapter II regulation 12 of the Loadline Convention.**";

- (b) by the substitution for subregulation (2) of the following subregulation:

- "(2) Side scuttles fitted below the weatherdeck or on the sides or ends of the engine casing or on the sides or ends of any first tier structure giving access to the main hull, shall be fitted with efficient deadlights in accordance with the requirements prescribed in Chapter II regulation 23 of the Loadline Convention.
- (c) by the substitution for subregulation (3) of the following subregulation:
- "(3) (a) Solid toughened glass of not less than [one-quarter of an inch]6.35 millimetres thick, shall be fitted to wheelhouse windows of up to [30 inches]76 centimetres square clear light size.
- (b) For window sizes greater than [30 inches]76 centimetres square, the minimum thickness of glass shall be [three-eighths of an inch]9.5 millimetres."
- (d) by the substitution for subregulation (4) of the following subregulation:
- "(4) When laminated toughened glass is fitted to wheelhouse windows, the thickness shall be increased by **[one-sixteenth inch]** over the thicknesses indicated in **[sub-regulation]subregulation (3).**";
- (e) by the substitution for subregulation (5) of the following subregulation:
- "(5) Where, in an existing Chapter II **[boat]vessel**, replacements to wheelhouse windows become necessary, the thicknesses of glass specified in **[sub-regulations]subregulations (3) and (4)** shall apply.";
- (f) by the substitution for subregulation (6) of the following subregulation:
- "(6) **[Doors]A door** giving access to the main hull shall be strongly constructed **[and hung on substantial hinges, and]with** locking arrangements **and**

shall be such that a door can be opened from either side to the satisfaction of the Authority.”;

(g) by the substitution for subregulation (8) of the following subregulation:

“(8) (a) Two engine room entrances, providing easy access and exit, **[each measuring]** at least **[22 inches square,]0.5m²** shall be provided in **[every]a** Chapter II **[boat]vessel** of 25 gross register tons or over. **[Every decked Chapter II boat of less than 25 gross register tons, shall have two entrances measuring 22 inches square or one entrance measuring not less than 36 inches by 24 inches].**”; and

(h) by the substitution for subregulation (9) of the following subregulation:

“(9) Where more than 10 **[men]persons** are berthed in a crew space, an entrance of ample size shall be fitted as near as practicable to the centre line. **A] and a** separate escape hatch shall also be provided.”.

Insertion of regulation 163A of the Regulations

176. The following regulation is inserted in Part III, Chapter II of the Regulations after regulation 163:

“163A. Means of escape

A Chapter II vessel shall be provided with such doorways, stairways, ladderways and other means of escape as will provide readily accessible means of escape for all persons in the ship over in accordance with Chapter II-2 regulation 13 of the Safety Convention.”.

Amendment of regulation 164 of the Regulations

177. Regulation 164 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

(a) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following subregulation:

"164. Bulwarks

(1) **[Subject to the provisions of sub-regulation (2) and (3), bulwarks,]Bulwarks** rails, chains, wire ropes, or any combination thereof, shall be fitted around the weather deck of **[every]a** Chapter II **[boat, at least 30 inches in height above that deck. If solid bulwarks are fitted, the maximum height shall be 39 inches] vessel, in accordance with Chapter II regulation 25 of the Loadline Convention.**";

(b) by the deletion of subregulations (2) and (3); and

(c) by the substitution for subregulation (4) of the following subregulation:

"(4) Freeing ports shall be sufficient for the purpose of efficient drainage of water on deck, and shall be **[suitably situated. The area of freeing ports shall be at least one square foot per 6 feet length of bulwarks which are 30 inches high for greater heights the area shall be increased in direct proportion]** as prescribed in Chapter II regulation 24 of the Loadline Convention."

Amendment of regulation 165 of the Regulations

178. Regulation 165 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

(a) by the substitution for the heading of regulation 165 for the following heading:

"165. Ventilation for spaces";

(b) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following subregulation:

"(1) In [every]a Chapter II [boat]vessel, ventilators shall be sufficient in number and size to provide adequate ventilation for all spaces which, in the opinion of the surveyor, require ventilation in accordance with Chapter II regulation 19 of the Loadline Convention."; and

(c) by the deletion of subregulations (1), (2), (3), (4), (5) and subregulation (6).

Insertion of regulation 165A of the Regulations

179. The following regulation is inserted in Part II, Chapter II of the Regulations after regulation 165:

"165A. Ventilation and ventilation system in machinery space

(1) In a vessel, a space in which an oil fuel tank or any part of an oil fuel installation is situated, shall be adequately ventilated in accordance with Chapter II-2 regulation 4 of the Safety Convention.

(2) Machinery spaces shall be adequately ventilated for the purpose of that machinery space to ensure that when machinery or boilers therein are operating at full power in all weather conditions including heavy weather, an adequate supply of air is maintained to the spaces for the safety and comfort of personnel and the operation of the machinery in accordance with Chapter II-1 regulation 35 of the Safety Convention.

(3) The ventilation of machinery spaces shall be sufficient under normal conditions to prevent accumulation of oil vapour."

Substitution of regulation 166 of the Regulations

180. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 166 of the Regulations:

"166. Stern bearings

[Stern]A stern bearing [assemblies]assembly in a Chapter II [boat]vessel shall consist of either-

- (a) (i) a stern bearing of not less than three and one half shaft diameters in length[.];
 - (ii) a gland situated inside the vessel; and
 - (iii) a watertight tube fitted between the bearing and the gland[.]; or
- (b) any other type approved by the [surveyor]Authority."

Amendment of regulation 167 of the Regulations

181. Regulation 167 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

- (a) by the substitution for the heading of regulation 167 of the following heading:

"167. [Testing]Initial testing of watertight compartments";

- (b) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following subregulation:

"(1) [The bulkheads of a wooden or reinforced plastic]Compartments in a Chapter II [boat]vessel shall before the [boat]vessel is launched, be tested to the satisfaction of [the]a surveyor, by hose pressure or other suitable means[: Provided that this requirement shall apply only to bulkheads which are intended to be watertight].";

- (c) by the substitution for subregulation (2) of the following subregulation:

“(2) Before a **[steel]** Chapter II **[boat]vessel** is launched, the compartments within the main hull shall, before any **[cementing]coating** is commenced, be subjected to hose or pressure tests as **[follows—]**in accordance with Chapter II-1 regulation 11 of the Safety Convention.”; and

- (d) by the deletion in subregulation (2) of the paragraphs (a), (b), (c), (d) and (e).

Amendment of regulation 168 of the Regulations

182. Regulation 168 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

- (a) by the substitution for the heading of regulation 168 of the following heading:

“168. [Anchors and cables]Towing and mooring arrangements”;

- (b) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following subregulation:

“(1) **[Every]A** Chapter II **[boat of under 25 gross register tons]vessel** shall **[carry an anchor weighing 15 lb. for every 10 feet or part of 10 feet of overall length. The anchor shall be attached to a chain cable or wire, manila or nylon rope of such a size as shall be to the satisfaction of the surveyor. The length of the cable, wire or rope shall not be less than three times the length of the boat]**be provided with arrangements, equipment and fittings of sufficient safe working load to enable the safe conduct of all towing and mooring operations associated with the normal operation of the vessel in accordance with Chapter II-1 regulation 3-8 of the Safety Convention.”; and

- (c) by the deletion for subregulations (2), (3), (4), (5), (6), (7), (8) and (9).

Amendment of regulation 169 of the Regulations

183. Regulation 169 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

- (a) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following:

"169. Steering gear

[(1) Particulars of steering arrangements, including rudder and stock, for every Chapter II boat other than a boat requiring hand tiller steering only or a boat which is under 3 feet in length, shall be submitted to the Secretary.]

A Chapter II vessel shall be provided with efficient main means of steering and alternative means of steering suitable to its size and the type of steering used in accordance with Chapter II-1 regulation 29 and 30 of the Safety Convention.;

and

- (b) by the deletion of subregulations (2) and (3).

Amendment of regulation 170 of the Regulations

184. Regulation 170 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

- (a) by the substitution in subregulation (1) for paragraph (a) of the following paragraph:

"170. General electrical precautions

- (1) (a) In ~~[every Chapter II boat, all]~~a Chapter II vessel, electrical equipment and installations, including any electrical means of propulsion, shall be ~~[so constructed and installed]~~such that ~~[there will be no danger of injury to any person handling it in a proper manner. Subject to the provisions of paragraph (b), where electrical equipment supplied as boat's equipment is to be operated at a voltage in excess of 55 volts, the exposed metal parts of such equipment which are not intended to have a voltage above that of earth, but which may have such a voltage under fault conditions, shall be earthed]~~the vessel and all persons on board are protected against electrical hazards in accordance with the requirements of Chapter II-1 regulation 40 of the Safety Convention.";
- (b) by the deletion in subregulation (1) of paragraph (b); and
- (c) by the deletion of subregulations (2), (3), (4), (5), (6), (7), (8), (9) and (10).

Insertion of regulations 170A to 170M of the Regulations

185. The following regulations are inserted in Part III, Chapter II of the Regulations after regulation 170:

"170A. Air pressure systems

- (1) Air pressure systems shall be constructed in accordance with Chapter II-1 regulation 34 of the Safety Convention.
- (2) A vessel in which machinery essential for the propulsion and safety of the ship or of persons on board is required to be started, operated or controlled solely by compressed shall be provided at least two air compressors each of which shall be of efficient design and of sufficient strength and capacity

for the service for which it is intended; Provided that in a ship of Class V or VI only one such compressor shall be required.

- (3) If an air pressure pipe may receive air from any source at a higher pressure than it can withstand with an adequate factor of safety, an efficient reducing valve, relief valve and pressure gauge shall be fitted to such pipe.
- (4) Air pressure systems shall be inspected and tested to the satisfaction of the Authority.
- (5) The Authority, in its discretion, may allow a deviation from the requirements of subregulation (2) and (3).

170B. Cooling water system

- (1) In a vessel, where machinery essential for the propulsion or safety of the ship or of persons on board is dependent for its operation on an efficient cooling water system, there shall be provided at least one circulating pump and, provision shall be made so that in the event of the failure of such pump, an alternative pump is available for the same duty.
- (2) The pump referred to in subregulation (1) shall be capable of supplying adequate cooling water to such machinery, oil coolers, fresh water coolers or condensers fitted thereto, as required by original equipment manufacturer specifications, as the case may be.
- (3) If direct sea water cooling is used for essential internal combustion machinery, the sea water suction shall be provided with strainers which can be cleaned without interruption of the supply of water.
- (4) Means shall be provided for ascertaining whether a cooling system is working properly and for preventing overpressure in any part thereof.

(5) An exhaust pipe or silencer of an internal combustion engine provided in a ship, shall be efficiently cooled or lagged.

170C. Lubricating oil systems

(1) In a vessel in which oil for lubrication, cooling or operation of the main propelling machinery and its ancillary services is circulated under pressure, at least two pumps shall be provided each of which shall be adequate for circulating such oil: Provided that in a ship of Class V or VI and in the case of any emergency generator in any ship, only one such pump shall be required.

(2) (a) In a vessel propelled by turbine machinery, or having turbo-electric propelling machinery, the lubricating oil arrangements shall be such that an emergency supply of oil is available sufficient to maintain after a power failure an adequate supply of lubricating oil for at least three minutes or for such time as may be required for unloaded turbo-electric propelling machinery to come to rest from the maximum running speed.

(b) The emergency supply referred to in paragraph (a) shall automatically come into use on failure of the pressure supply of lubricating oil from the pump or pumps.

(3) Strainers shall be provided for straining the lubricating oil, and, except in a Class V or VI ship, where lubricating oil shall be capable of being cleaned without interrupting the supply of such oil.

(4) Means shall be provided for ascertaining whether the lubricating system is working properly and for preventing overpressure in any part of the system and if the means of preventing overpressure is a relief valve, it shall be in close circuit.

170D. Oil and gaseous fuel installations

- (1) In a vessel, oil fuel provided for use in boilers or machinery, shall have a flash point of not less than 60^o C. (closed test): Provided that the Authority may, subject to such conditions as the Authority may impose-
- (a) permit any ship to use fuel having a flash point less than 60°C. in boilers or machinery in accordance with Chapter II-1 regulations 56 and 57 and Chapter II-2 regulation 4 of the Safety Convention; or
- (b) permit the use of gaseous fuel in a ship designed for the carriage of liquefied gas if such fuel results solely from evaporation of cargo carried in accordance with the IGC Code,
- Provided that nothing in this subregulation shall apply to fuel provided for machinery permitted by regulation 114 (3) (a).

(2) In a vessel being a vessel in which oil or gaseous fuel is used, the arrangements for the storage, distribution and utilisation of the fuel shall be such that, having regard to the hazards of fire and explosion which the use of such fuel may entail, the safety of the ship and of persons on board is preserved.

(3) In a vessel being a vessel in which oil or gaseous fuel is used in engines or boilers for the propulsion or safety of the ship, the arrangements for the storage, distribution and utilisation of the fuel, shall be such that the effective use of the engines can be maintained under all conditions likely to be met by the ship in service.

(4) In a vessel, an oil fuel installation which serves a boiler supplying steam for the propulsion of the ship, shall include not less than two oil fuel units.

170E. Oil fuel and gas installations (cooking ranges and other heating appliances)

In a vessel, if a cooking range or other heating appliance is supplied with oil fuel or gas, the installations shall be in accordance with Chapter II-2 regulation 4 of the Safety Convention.

170F. Communication between navigation bridge and machinery control station

A vessel to which this regulation applies, shall be provided with means of communicating orders from the navigating bridge to the machinery control station in accordance with Chapter II-1 regulation 37 of the Safety Convention: Provided the Authority may, subject to such conditions as the Authority may impose, permit deviation from compliance with this regulation.

170G. Spare gear

A vessel shall be provided with sufficient spare gear together with tools necessary for the fitting of the spare gear, having regard to the intended service of the ship.

170H. Main source of electrical power and lighting systems

- (1) The main source of electrical power and lighting systems in a vessel shall-
- (a) consist of at least two generating sets; and
 - (b) be in accordance with the requirements of, Chapter II-1 regulation 41 of the Safety Convention.

170I. Emergency source of electric power

- (1) In a vessel to which this regulation applies not having its main source of electric power situated above the uppermost continuous deck or raised quarter-deck and outside the machinery casings, there shall be provided in a position above the uppermost continuous deck or raised quarter deck and outside the machinery casings, a self-contained emergency source of electric power so arranged as to ensure its functioning in the event of fire or other casualty causing failure, of the main electrical installation.

(2) In the vessel referred to in subregulation (1), the emergency source of electric power required by that subregulation shall be capable of operating simultaneously for a period of at least 3 hours the following services—

(a) the emergency lighting -

(i) at every muster and embarkation station and over the sides;

(ii) in all service and accommodation alleyways, stairways and exists, personnel lift cars and personnel lift trunks;

(iii) in machinery spaces and main generating stations including their control positions;

(iv) in all control stations, machinery control rooms and at each main and emergency switchboard;

(v) at all stowage positions for firemen's outfits;

(vi) at the steering gear;

(vii) at the fire pump;

(viii) at the sprinkler pump, and at the emergency bilge pump, if any, and at the starting positions of their motors; and

(ix) in all cargo pump rooms of tankers constructed on or after 1 July 2002;

(b) the general alarm, if electrically operated;

(c) the ship's navigation lights, if solely electric;

(d) the ship's radio installations;

(e) the ship's internal communication equipment;

(f) fire detection and fire alarm systems;

(g) intermittent operation of the daylight signalling lamp, the ship's whistle, the manually operated call points and all internal signals that are required for an emergency,

Provided any of the items listed in paragraph (a) to (g) may be powered by its own emergency source of power.

(3) In the vessel referred to in subregulation (1)—

- (a) the emergency source of electric power shall be either accumulator or storage batteries capable of complying with the requirements of subregulation (2) without being recharged or suffering an excessive voltage drop, or a generator driven by internal combustion type machinery with an independent fuel supply and with efficient starting arrangement and the fuel provided for such machinery shall have a flash point of not less than 43° C.;
- (b) the emergency source of electric power shall be so arranged that it will operate efficiently when the ship is listed 22½ degrees and when the trim of the ship is 10 degrees from an even keel; and
- (c) provision shall be made for the periodical testing of the emergency source of electric power and its associated circuits.

170J. Starting arrangements for emergency generating sets

Emergency generating sets shall be in accordance with Chapter II-1 regulation 44 of the Safety Convention and be capable of being readily started in their cold condition at a temperature of 0°C: Provided if this is impracticable, or if lower temperatures are likely to be encountered, provision acceptable to the Authority shall be made for the maintenance of heating arrangements, to ensure ready starting of the generating sets.

170K. Machinery and machinery control

In a vessel, main and auxiliary machinery necessary for the propulsion and safety of the ship, shall be provided with effective means of control, in accordance with Chapter II-1 regulation 27 and 31 of the Safety Convention.

170L. Means of going astern

A vessel shall have means for going astern in accordance with Chapter II-1 regulation 28 of the Safety Convention.

170M. Steam pipe systems

In a vessel, every steam pipe system shall be so designed and constructed in accordance with Chapter II-I regulation 33 of the Safety Convention."

Amendment of Chapter III of Part III of the Regulations

186. Chapter III of Part III of the Regulations is hereby amended by the substitution for the heading of Chapter III of the following heading:

"CHAPTER III - PERIODIC SURVEYS: [BOATS]VESSELS OTHER THAN [SKI BOATS,SURF BOATS AND DINGHIES]VESSELS TO WHICH THE NATIONAL SMALL VESSEL SAFETY) REGULATIONS APPLY".

Substitution of regulation 171 of the Regulations

187. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 171 of the Regulations:

"171. Application of Chapter III

This Chapter applies to [every boat]a vessel in this Part, other than a [ski or surf boat or dinghy]vessel to which the Merchant Shipping (National Small Vessel Safety) Regulations, 2007 apply, and a "Chapter III [boat]vessel" means a [boat]vessel to which this Chapter applies."

Substitution of regulation 172 of the Regulations

188. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 172 of the Regulations:

"172. General

- (1) The hull, boilers, machinery and equipment of a Chapter III [boat]vessel shall be surveyed **[at intervals and in the manner set forth in regulations 173 to 188 inclusive]**in accordance with Chapter I regulation 6 and 10 of the Safety Convention.
- (2) Where a survey of a Chapter III [boat]vessel is required the owner shall **[address his request for inspection to the proper officer in order to give at least three working days' notice of the required service]**maintain the vessel in accordance with Chapter I regulation 11 of the Safety Convention.".

Repeal of regulations 173, 174, 175, 176, 177, 178,179 and 180 of the Regulations

189. Regulations 173, 174, 175, 176, 177, 178,179 and 180 of the Regulations are hereby repealed.

Amendment of regulation 181 of the Regulations

190. Regulation 181 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

- (a) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following subregulation:

"181. [Steel hulls: dry docking]Dry Docking

- (1) **[Every]A** steel Chapter III [boat]vessel shall every twelve months be placed in dry dock or on a slipway for inspection by **[the]a** surveyor in accordance with Chapter II-1 Regulation 10 and 11 of the Safety Convention.";
- (b) by the substitution for subregulation (2) of the following subregulation:

"(2) **[The hull of every steel Chapter III boat]A Chapter III vessel surveyed for a dry dock certificate shall be [inspected]surveyed as [follows:-]prescribed in subregulation (1), except that it shall be subject to an initial survey, and a renewal survey every two years.**";

(c) by the deletion in subregulation (2) of paragraphs (a), (b), (c) and (d); and

(d) by the addition after subregulation (2) of the following subregulation:

"(3) All repairs and renewals required by the surveyor shall be carried out to his satisfaction."

Amendment of regulation 182 of the Regulations

191. Regulation 182 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

(a) by the substitution for subregulation (1) of the following subregulation:

"182. Wooden hulls: dry docking

(1) **[Every]A wooden Chapter III [boat of 30 feet or over in length]vessel shall every twelve months be placed in dry dock or on a slip way, or suitably supported on blocks for examination by [the]a surveyor. [A boat of under 30 feet in length may be beached for examination at the discretion of the surveyor.]**;

(b) by the substitution for subregulation (2) of the following subregulation:

"(2) The hull of [every]a wooden Chapter III **[boat]vessel shall be [inspected]maintained as [follows:-]prescribed in Chapter II-1 regulation 11 of the Safety Convention.**"; and

(c) by the deletion in subregulation (2) of paragraphs (a), (b) and (c).

Repeal of regulation 183 of the Regulations

192. Regulation 183 of the Regulations is hereby repealed.

Substitution of regulation 184 of the Regulations

193. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 184 of the Regulations:

"184. Propeller shafts

(1) Propeller shafts of a Chapter III **[boat]vessel** shall be withdrawn and propellers removed once every two years for inspection by **[the]a** surveyor, except that shafts of the following types need be withdrawn only once every **[three years in the case of a single screw boat and once every] four years [in the case of a boat having two or more screws[:-];**

- (a) shafts fitted with continuous liners in way of the stern tubes and in way of the outside bearings if fitted;
- (b) shafts fitted with approved glands at the after end to permit of them being efficiently lubricated; and
- (c) shafts of **[bronze, monel metal or other approved]** non-corrosive material.

(2) The Authority may grant an extension to the period provided in subregulation (1) upon application prior to the surveyor attendance."

Substitution of regulation 185 of the Regulations

194. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 185 of the Regulations:

"185. Sea connections

- (1) ~~[All sea]~~Sea suction and discharge valves and cocks in a Chapter III ~~[boat]~~vessel shall every two years be opened up for inspection by ~~[the]~~a surveyor while the hull is being surveyed externally.
- (2) Every twelve months, during an external hull survey, ~~[the]~~a surveyor shall examine ~~[all]~~ sea connection fastenings and, if considered necessary, ~~[he]~~the surveyor may require any valve or cock to be opened up for inspection or testing."

Substitution of regulation 186 of the Regulations

195. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 186 of the Regulations:

"186. ~~[Rudders]~~Rudder and Rudder Stock

- (1) The rudder and rudder stock of [every]a Chapter III [boat]vessel shall be [lifted]removed at the time of [the annual survey of the hull externally] propeller shaft withdrawal, if [the]a surveyor considers it necessary, [and any repairs or renewals which he]except that a surveyor can have the rudder or rudder stock removed at any time the surveyor considers necessary[shall be effected].
- (2) Any repairs or renewals which the surveyor in subregulation (1) considers necessary shall be effected."

Substitution of regulation 187 of the Regulations

196. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 187 of the Regulations:

"187. Anchors, cables and steering chains

- (1) Every twelve months, the anchors and cables, windlass and steering chains ~~[(if any)]~~if any, of a Chapter III ~~[boat]~~vessel, shall be given a general examination by ~~[the]~~a surveyor, who may request any opening up which ~~[he]~~the surveyor deems necessary.
- (2) Anchor cables shall be ranged for inspection by ~~[the]~~a surveyor eight years after construction of ~~[the]~~a Chapter III ~~[boat]~~vessel and thereafter at intervals of four years.
- (3) Where anchor ~~[cables or steering]~~ chains are worn ~~[to such an extent that the mean diameter of any part is reduced to the minimum size shown in Annex 9 as requiring renewal]~~to the maximum permissible diminution of 12%, such part shall be renewed."

Repeal of regulation 188 of the Regulations

197. Regulation 188 of the Regulations is hereby repealed.

Substitution of regulation 189 of the Regulations

198. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 189 of the Regulations:

"189. Alterations to hull

Any alterations affecting the seaworthiness or tonnage of a Chapter III **[boat]vessel**, shall have the prior approval of the **[surveyor]Authority**, and shall be carried out to **[his]the satisfaction of the Authority**.”.

Substitution of regulation 195 of the Regulations

199. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 195 of the Regulations:

“CHAPTER V-ADDITIONAL SURVEYS, EQUIVALENTS AND EXEMPTIONS

195. Additional surveys

(1) Notwithstanding the requirements of the preceding Chapters of this Part, **[any boat]a vessel** may be called upon at any time by the **[Secretary]Authority**, proper officer or surveyor to undergo such additional surveys as are deemed necessary for any reason.

(2) **[Further, at]At** the time of an annual survey, or at the time of any additional surveys required by this regulation, **[the]a** surveyor may require any part to be opened up at **[his]the surveyor’s** discretion, and may require any renewals of parts or fittings, or the fitting of any additional part or parts considered necessary for the safety and seaworthiness of the **[boat]vessel**.

(3) **[The]A** surveyor may board any **[boat]vessel** at any time, and shall be allowed by the owner or master to carry out any examination **[he]the surveyor** considers necessary.”.

Substitution of regulation 196 of the Regulations

200. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 196 of the Regulations:

"196. Equivalentents

Where this Part requires that the hull or machinery of a **[boat]vessel** shall be constructed in a particular manner, or that particular equipment shall be provided or that particular provision shall be made, the **[Secretary]Authority** may allow the hull or machinery of the **[boat]vessel** to be constructed in any other manner, or any other equipment to be provided or other provision made, if **[he]the Authority** is satisfied that such other construction, equipment or provision is at least as effective as that required by this Part."

Substitution of regulation 197 of the Regulations

201. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 197 of the Regulations:

"197. Exemption of [boats]vessels constructed before a certain date

The **[Secretary]Authority** may on such conditions as **[he]the Authority** thinks fit, exempt any **[boat]vessel** which was constructed before the date of coming into force of this **[part]Part**, not being a ship converted on or after that date as a **[boat]vessel**, from any of the requirements of this Part, if **[he]the Authority** is satisfied that compliance therewith is unreasonable or impracticable in the circumstances."

Substitution of regulation 198 of the Regulations

202. The following regulation is hereby substituted for regulation 198 of the Regulations:

"198. General exemption

The **[Secretary]** the Authority may on such conditions as **[he]**the Authority thinks fit, exempt any **[boat]**vessel from **[an]**any of the requirements of this Part, if **[he]**the Authority considers such requirements to be unreasonable or impracticable in the circumstances."

Repeal of Annex 2, Annex 3, Annex 4, Annex 5, Annex 7, Annex 8 and Annex 9 to the Regulations

203. Annex 2, Annex 3, Annex 4, Annex 5, Annex 7, Annex 8 and Annex 9 to the Regulations are hereby repealed.

Amendment of Annex 1 of the Regulations

204. Annex 1 of the Regulations is hereby amended—

(a) by the substitution for paragraph *Plans* (14) of the following paragraph:

"(14) Any other plans required by the **[Secretary]**Authority."

(b) by the substitution for paragraph *Particulars* (1) of the following paragraph:

"(1) Subdivision co-efficients and particulars to enable calculations of permeability **[to be made in terms of Annex 2]**."

(c) by the substitution for paragraph *Particulars* (2) of the following paragraph:

"(2) Calculations of the stability and angle of heel in the damaged condition **[for compliance with Annex 3]**;" and

(d) by the substitution for paragraph *Particulars* (7) of the following paragraph:

“(7) Any other particulars required by the **[Secretary]Authority**.”.

Amendment of Annex 6 of the Regulations

205. Annex 6 of the Regulations is hereby amended by the substitution for the heading of Annex 6 of the following heading:

“(Regulation 149)

ANNEX 6

CONSTRUCTION OF [BOATS]VESSELS: PLANS AND PARTICULARS”.

Short title and commencement

206. These regulations are called The Construction Amendment Regulations, 2023 and are hereby published for comments.

BOARD NOTICES • RAADSKENNISGEWINGS

BOARD NOTICE 451 OF 2023**REVISIONS TO THE IRBA CODE OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT FOR REGISTERED AUDITORS (REVISED APRIL 2023) RELATED TO THE FINAL PRONOUNCEMENT: DEFINITION OF ENGAGEMENT TEAM AND GROUP AUDITS**

In accordance with the provisions of Section 10(1)(a) of the Auditing Profession Act, 2005 (Act No. 26 of 2005) (the Act), the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors (IRBA) publishes revisions to the IRBA Code of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (Revised April 2023):

FINAL PRONOUNCEMENT: DEFINITION OF ENGAGEMENT TEAM AND GROUP AUDITS

The final pronouncement is available on the IRBA Website <https://www.irba.co.za/guidance-for-ras/ethics:-the-rules-and-the-code/the-irba-code-revised-april-2023> and is effective for audits and reviews of financial statements and audits of group financial statements for periods beginning on or after 15 December 2023, with early adoption permitted.

Should you require assistance, queries may be directed to Mr I Vanker, IRBA Director: Standards. Alternatively, please send an e-mail to standards@irba.co.za.

Imre Nagy

Chief Executive Officer

Closing times for **ORDINARY WEEKLY** **GOVERNMENT GAZETTE** **2023**

The closing time is 15:00 sharp on the following days:

- **08 December**, Thursday for the issue of Thursday **15 December 2022**
- **15 December**, Thursday for the issue of Friday **23 December 2022**
- **22 December**, Thursday for the issue of Friday **30 December 2022**
- **29 December**, Thursday for the issue of Friday **06 January 2023**
- **06 January**, Friday for the issue of Friday **13 January 2023**
- **13 January**, Friday for the issue of Friday **20 January 2023**
- **20 January**, Friday for the issue of Friday **27 January 2023**
- **27 January**, Friday for the issue of Friday **03 February 2023**
- **03 February**, Friday for the issue of Friday **10 February 2023**
- **10 February**, Friday for the issue of Friday **17 February 2023**
- **17 February**, Friday for the issue of Friday **24 February 2023**
- **24 February**, Friday for the issue of Friday **03 March 2023**
- **03 March**, Friday for the issue of Friday **10 March 2023**
- **10 March**, Friday for the issue of Friday **17 March 2023**
- **16 March**, Thursday for the issue of Friday **24 March 2023**
- **24 March**, Friday for the issue of Friday **31 March 2023**
- **30 March**, Thursday for the issue of Thursday **06 April 2023**
- **05 April**, Wednesday for the issue of Friday **14 April 2023**
- **14 April**, Friday for the issue of Friday **21 April 2023**
- **20 April**, Thursday for the issue of Friday **28 April 2023**
- **26 April**, Wednesday for the issue of Friday **05 May 2023**
- **05 May**, Friday for the issue of Friday **12 May 2023**
- **12 May**, Friday for the issue of Friday **19 May 2023**
- **19 May**, Friday for the issue of Friday **26 May 2023**
- **26 May**, Friday for the issue of Friday **02 June 2023**
- **02 June**, Friday for the issue of Friday **09 June 2023**
- **08 June**, Thursday for the issue of Thursday **15 June 2023**
- **15 June**, Thursday for the issue of Friday **23 June 2023**
- **23 June**, Friday for the issue of Friday **30 June 2023**
- **30 June**, Friday for the issue of Friday **07 July 2023**
- **07 July**, Friday for the issue of Friday **14 July 2023**
- **14 July**, Friday for the issue of Friday **21 July 2023**
- **21 July**, Friday for the issue of Friday **28 July 2023**
- **28 July**, Friday for the issue of Friday **04 August 2023**
- **03 August**, Thursday for the issue of Friday **11 August 2023**
- **11 August**, Friday for the issue of Friday **18 August 2023**
- **18 August**, Friday for the issue of Friday **25 August 2023**
- **25 August**, Friday for the issue of Friday **01 September 2023**
- **01 September**, Friday for the issue of Friday **08 September 2023**
- **08 September**, Friday for the issue of Friday **15 September 2023**
- **15 September**, Friday for the issue of Friday **22 September 2023**
- **21 September**, Thursday for the issue of Friday **29 September 2023**
- **29 September**, Friday for the issue of Friday **06 October 2023**
- **06 October**, Friday for the issue of Friday **13 October 2023**
- **13 October**, Friday for the issue of Friday **20 October 2023**
- **20 October**, Friday for the issue of Friday **27 October 2023**
- **27 October**, Friday for the issue of Friday **03 November 2023**
- **03 November**, Friday for the issue of Friday **10 November 2023**
- **10 November**, Friday for the issue of Friday **17 November 2023**
- **17 November**, Friday for the issue of Friday **24 November 2023**
- **24 November**, Friday for the issue of Friday **01 December 2023**
- **01 December**, Friday for the issue of Friday **08 December 2023**
- **08 December**, Friday for the issue of Friday **15 December 2023**
- **15 December**, Friday for the issue of Friday **22 December 2023**
- **20 December**, Wednesday for the issue of Friday **29 December 2023**

Printed by and obtainable from the Government Printer, Bosman Street, Private Bag X85, Pretoria, 0001
Contact Centre Tel: 012-748 6200. eMail: info.egazette@gpw.gov.za
Publications: Tel: (012) 748 6053, 748 6061, 748 6065